34-1469491

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-4 REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

OHIO
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

6712 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) 307 N. Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 (419) 446-2501

(Address, including Zip Code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Lars B. Eller President and Chief Executive Officer Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. 307 N. Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 (419) 446-2501

(Name, address, including Zip Code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

	With co	pies to:	
Thomas C. Blank, Esq. Martin D. Werner, Esq. Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP 1000 Jackson Street Kimberly J. Schaefer, E Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pe 301 East Fourth Stree		Kimberly J. Schaefer, Esq. Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP 301 East Fourth Street Suite 3500 Great American Tower Cincinnati, OH 45202 (513) 723-4068	
Registration Statement and u If the securities being	pon the effective time of the merger described in th registered on this Form are being offered in connect	ities to the public: As soon as practicable after the effective date of this e accompanying proxy statement and prospectus. ion with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with	
		at to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list to	the
If this Form is a post-e		nder the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act	
3	See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "acce	in accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or a lerated filer", "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company	
Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer Emerging growth company	☐ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company	Smaller reporting company	X
2 22	company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of t	as elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any he Exchange Act. $\ \Box$	new
Indicate by check mark	k whether the registrant is a shell company (as defir	ed in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). \square	
If applicable, place an	X in the box to designate the appropriate rule provi	sion relied upon in conducting this transaction:	
Exchange Act Rule 13	e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issuer Tender Offer) \square		
Exchange Act Rule 14	d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third Party Tender Offer) □		

The registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETE AND MAY BE CHANGED. A REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THESE SECURITIES HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. WE MAY NOT ISSUE THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROXY STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL THESE SECURITIES AND IT IS NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TO BUY THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE WHERE THE OFFER OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.

PRELIMINARY PROXY STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS DATED | | | | 0 |, 2022 SUBJECT TO COMPLETION

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT

PROSPECTUS OF FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC. FOR UP TO 769,886 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AND PROXY STATEMENT OF PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

The Board of Directors of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. ("F&M") and the Board of Directors of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("PPSF") have approved an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which PPSF will merge with and into F&M (the "Merger"). This proposed strategic business combination will further expand F&M's operations in the State of Ohio. Following the Merger, the combined company will operate 21 offices, a drive-up facility and an LPO in Ohio, 12 offices and an LPO in Indiana, and an LPO in Michigan with approximately \$2.8 billion in total assets, \$2.1 billion in total loans, total \$2.4 billion in total deposits, and \$302 million in total shareholder equity.

If the Merger Agreement is approved by a majority of the outstanding common shares of PPSF and the Merger is subsequently completed, each share of PPSF common stock (the "PPSF common stock" or "PPSF Shares") owned by a PPSF shareholder (other than a dissenting share) will be converted into the right to receive at the election of each PPSF shareholder: (i) 0.6597 shares (the "Exchange Ratio") of F&M common stock (the "F&M common stock" or "F&M Shares"), subject to the requirement that at least 758,566 PPSF Shares will be exchanged at the Exchange Ratio for F&M Shares in the Merger; or (ii) \$24.00 in cash. F&M will pay cash for any fractional shares resulting from application of the Exchange Ratio. In the event PPSF shareholders elect to exchange fewer than, 758,566 PPSF Shares for F&M Shares in the Merger, shareholder elections will be automatically adjusted as provided in the Merger Agreement. The Exchange Ratio is subject to adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalization, or similar transactions.

We cannot complete the Merger unless a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock of PPSF vote to approve the Merger Agreement. PPSF will hold a special meeting of its shareholders to vote on this merger proposal. Your vote is very important. Whether or not you plan to attend the shareholder meeting, please take the time to vote by completing the enclosed proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed envelope. If you sign, date and mail your proxy card without indicating how you want to vote, your proxy will be counted as a vote in favor of the Merger Agreement. Not returning your card will have the same effect as a vote against the Merger Agreement.

The date, time and place of the meeting are as follows:

 $[\bullet]$, 2022, $[\bullet]$: $[\bullet]$ $[\bullet]$.m., local time

[•]

[•]

[•]

This proxy statement and prospectus provides you with detailed information about the special meeting and the proposed Merger. It also contains or references information about PPSF and F&M. You can also get information about F&M from publicly available documents that have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. F&M common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO."

We strongly support the Merger of our companies. The Board of Directors of PPSF recommends that you vote in favor of the Merger Agreement.

/s/ Lars B. Eller President and Chief Executive Officer FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC. /s/ Debra A. Geuy
President and Chief Executive Officer
PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

For a discussion of certain risk factors which you should consider in evaluating the Merger, see "Risk Factors" beginning on page 21. We encourage you to read this entire document carefully.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the securities to be issued pursuant to this proxy statement and prospectus or determined if this proxy statement and prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

These securities are not savings or deposit accounts or other obligation of any bank or non-bank subsidiary of either of our companies, and they are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Deposit Insurance Fund or any other federal or state governmental agency.

This proxy statement and prospectus is dated $[\bullet]$, 2022, and it is being first mailed to PPSF shareholders on or about $[\bullet]$, 2022.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This document incorporates important business and financial information about F&M from other documents filed by F&M with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") that are not delivered with or included in this document. This information (including the documents incorporated herein by reference) is available to you without charge upon your written or oral request. You may request these documents in writing or by telephone at the following address and telephone number:

Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. 307 N. Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 Attention: Lydia Huber, Corporate Secretary Telephone: (419) 446-2501

To ensure timely delivery, shareholders must request the documents containing the information described above no later than five business days prior to the date of the special meeting of the PPSF shareholders. Accordingly, if you would like to make such a request, please do so by $[\bullet]$, 2022, in order to receive the requested information before the meeting.

You can also obtain copies of the documents incorporated by reference in this document through the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. See "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59.

PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 45365

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON [●], 2022

To Our Shareholders:

We will hold a special meeting of the shareholders of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("PPSF") on $[\bullet]$, 2022, at $[\bullet]$: $[\bullet]$. m. local time, at $[\bullet]$.

The purposes of the special meeting are the following:

- 1. *Merger Proposal.* To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 14, 2022 (the "Merger Agreement"), between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. ("F&M"), and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("PPSF"), and to approve the transactions contemplated thereby (the "Merger Proposal"). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, PPSF will merge with and into F&M (the "Merger").
- 2. *Adjournment Proposal.* To approve one or more adjournments of the PPSF special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the Merger Proposal (the "Adjournment Proposal").
- 3. *Other Matters*. To vote upon such other matters which may properly be presented at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. PPSF's Board of Directors is not aware of any such other matters.

The accompanying proxy statement and prospectus describes the Merger Agreement and the proposed Merger in detail and includes, as Annex A, the complete text of the Merger Agreement. We urge you to read these materials for a description of the Merger Agreement and the proposed Merger. In particular, you should carefully read the section captioned "Risk Factors" beginning on page 12 of the accompanying proxy statement and prospectus for a discussion of certain risk factors relating to the Merger.

The Board of Directors of PPSF has fixed the close of business on [●], 2022, as the record date for determining those shareholders who are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting and any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. Approval of the Merger Proposal requires the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock. Approval of the Adjournment Proposal only requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it.

PPSF is notifying all of its shareholders entitled to vote on the Merger Proposal that you are entitled to assert dissenters' rights pursuant to and upon compliance with the provisions of Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"). A copy of Section 262 of the DGCL is attached as Annex B to the accompanying proxy statement and prospectus. See also "THE MERGER—Rights of Dissenting Shareholders" beginning on page 35 in the accompanying proxy statement and prospectus.

The PPSF board of directors recommends that you vote "FOR" (1) approval of the Merger Proposal; and (2) approval of the Adjournment Proposal.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, please submit your proxy by completing, signing, and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it as soon as possible using the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. If you attend the special meeting, you may vote in person if you wish,

even if you have previously submitted your proxy. Not submitting your proxy will have the same effect as a vote against the Merger Proposal.

By Order of the Board of Directors

[●], 2022 Sidney, Ohio

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document, and the information included or incorporated by reference into it, contain forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe-harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements can often, but not always, be identified by the use of words like "believe," "continue," "pattern," "estimate," "project," "intend," "anticipate," "expect" and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as "will," "would," "should," "could," "might," "can," "may," or similar expressions. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements relating to the benefits of the proposed Merger between F&M and PPSF, including future financial and operating results, cost savings, enhanced revenues, and accretion/dilution to reported earnings that may be realized from the Merger, as well as other statements of expectations regarding the Merger, and other statements of F&M's goals, intentions and expectations; statements regarding F&M's business plan and growth strategies; statements regarding the asset quality of F&M's loan and investment portfolios; and estimates of F&M's risks and future costs and benefits, whether with respect to the Merger or otherwise.

These forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks, assumptions and uncertainties that may cause results to differ materially from those set forth in forward-looking statements, including, among other things: the risk that the businesses of the F&M and PPSF will not be integrated successfully or such integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected; expected revenue synergies and cost savings from the Merger may not be fully realized or realized within the expected time frame; revenues following the Merger may be lower than expected; customer and employee relationships and business operations may be disrupted by the Merger; the ability to obtain required regulatory and shareholder approvals, and the ability to complete the Merger on the expected time frame; possible changes in economic and business conditions; the existence or exacerbation of general geopolitical instability and uncertainty; the ability of F&M to attract new customers; possible changes in monetary and fiscal policies, and laws and regulations; the effects of easing restrictions on participants in the financial services industry; the cost and other effects of legal and administrative cases; possible changes in the credit worthiness of customers and the possible impairment of collectability of loans; fluctuations in market rates of interest; competitive factors in the banking industry; changes in the banking legislation or regulatory requirements of federal and state agencies applicable to banks and bank holding companies; continued availability of earnings and excess capital sufficient for the lawful and prudent declaration of dividends; changes in market, economic, operational, liquidity, credit and interest rate risks associated with the F&M's and PPSF's business; and other risks and factors identified in F&M's filings with the SEC.

Neither F&M nor PPSF undertakes any obligation to update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, relating to the matters discussed herein unless required to under the federal securities laws. In addition, F&M's and PPSF's past results of operations do not necessarily indicate either of their anticipated future results, whether the Merger is effectuated or not.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING	7
SUMMARY	12
RISK FACTORS	21
THE PPSF SPECIAL MEETING	27
General Information	27
Matters To Be Considered	27
Record Date, Voting Rights, Quorum and Vote Required	27
Voting Agreement	27
<u>Voting</u>	28
<u>Proxies</u>	28
Solicitation of Proxies	28
Recommendation of the PPSF board of directors	29
Other Matters	29
Beneficial Ownership of PPSF Common Stock by Certain Shareholders	29
MERGER PROPOSAL	30
ADJOURNMENT PROPOSAL	31
THE MERGER	32
<u>Description of the Merger</u>	32
Merger Consideration	32
Merger Consideration Elections and Allocations	33
Conversion of Shares; Exchange of Certificates; Election Procedures	34
Effect of the Merger on F&M Shareholders	34
Background of the Merger	34
F&M's Reasons for the Merger	37
PPSF's Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation	38
Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor	40
Rights of Dissenting Shareholders	49
Registration of F&M Common Stock	53
Regulatory Approvals	53
Effective Time of the Merger	53
Accounting Treatment of the Merger	53
The NASDAQ Capital Market Listing	53
Registration Statement	54
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger	54
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	55
Description of the Merger	55
Representations and Warranties	55
Conditions to Completion of the Merger	56
Termination; Waiver; Amendment	58
Restrictions Affecting the Parties Prior to Completion of the Merger	59
Agreement Not to Solicit Other Offers	60
Fees and Expenses	61
Management After the Merger	61
Indemnification and Insurance of PPSF Directors and Officers	61
Employee Benefit Plans	61
Voting Agreement	62
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	63
Tax Consequences of the Merger	63
Reorganization Treatment Cash in Lieu of Fractional Shares	64 66
Cash in Lieu of Fractional Snares	66

Possible Dividend Treatment	66
Backup Withholding and Reporting Requirements	66
DESCRIPTION OF F&M	67
<u>Business</u>	67
Incorporation of Certain Information Regarding F&M by Reference	67
DESCRIPTION OF PPSF	68
<u>Business</u>	68
Market for Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters	68
COMPARISON OF COMMON STOCK	70
<u>LEGAL MATTERS</u>	79
<u>EXPERTS</u>	79
SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT YEAR	79
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	79
ANNEX A: AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION AND MERGER	A-1
ANNEX B: DELAWARE APPRAISAL STATUTE (DISSENTERS' RIGHTS)	B-1
ANNEX C: OPINION OF BOENNING AND SCATTERGOOD	C-1

OUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING

The following questions and answers are intended to briefly address some commonly asked questions regarding the Merger, the Merger Agreement, and the shareholder meeting. We urge you to read carefully the remainder of this proxy statement and prospectus because the information in this section may not provide all the information that might be important to you in determining how to vote. Additional important information is also contained in the annexes to, and the documents incorporated by reference in, this proxy statement and prospectus.

Q: Why am I receiving this document?

A: PPSF has agreed to be acquired by F&M under the terms of the Merger Agreement. In order for us to complete the Merger, we need, among other things, PPSF shareholders to approve the Merger Agreement. This document is being delivered to you because it is serving as both a proxy statement of PPSF and a prospectus of F&M. In order to approve the Merger Agreement, PPSF has called a special shareholder meeting of its shareholders. This document serves as a proxy statement for such special meeting and describes the proposals to be voted on at the special meeting and is being used by the PPSF board of directors to solicit votes from the PPSF shareholders in connection with such proposals. This document is also a prospectus of F&M because F&M is offering shares of its common stock, as well as cash, in exchange for shares of PPSF in the Merger.

This proxy statement and prospectus contains important information regarding the Merger, as well as information about F&M and PPSF. It also contains important information about what the PPSF board of directors considered when evaluating the Merger. We urge you to read this proxy statement and prospectus carefully, including the Merger Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement and prospectus as Annex A and is incorporated herein by reference, and the other annexes.

Q: When and where will the PPSF special meeting be held?

A: The PPSF special meeting will be held at $[\bullet]$, on $[\bullet]$, at $[\bullet]$ (local time).

Q: What am I voting on?

A: You are being asked to vote to approve the Merger and the transactions contemplated thereby, pursuant to which PPSF will merge with and into F&M. F&M will be the surviving entity in the Merger, and PPSF would no longer be a separate company. PPSF's wholly-owned banking subsidiary Peoples Federal Savings and Loan Association ("Peoples Bank") will, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, be merged with and into F&M's wholly-owned banking subsidiary The Farmers & Merchants State Bank ("F&M Bank").

You are also being asked to vote on two additional proposals (completion of the Merger is not conditioned upon approval of any of these additional proposals):

- a proposal to adjourn the PPSF special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the Merger Proposal (which we refer to as the "Adjournment Proposal"); and
- to vote on such other matters that may be properly presented at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. PPSF's Board is not aware of any such other matters.

Q: How does the PPSF board recommend that I vote with respect to each proposal?

A: The PPSF board of directors recommends that PPSF shareholders vote "**FOR**" approval of the Merger Proposal; and "**FOR**" approval of the Adjournment Proposal.

Q: Why are F&M and PPSF proposing to merge?

A: We believe the Merger is in the best interests of both companies and our respective shareholders. PPSF and F&M believe that the Merger will bring together two complementary financial institutions to create a strong company that is positioned for further growth. The Merger will give the combined company greater scale and geographic diversity, allowing F&M to further expand its existing operations in the State of Ohio. We believe the Merger will enhance our capabilities to provide banking and financial services to our customers and strengthen the competitive position of the combined organization.

You should review the background of and reasons for the Merger described in greater detail beginning on page 22.

O: What will PPSF shareholders receive in the Merger?

A: If the Merger Agreement is approved by the shareholders of PPSF and the Merger is subsequently completed, each share of PPSF common stock (other than dissenting shares) will be converted, at your election, but subject to adjustment as provided in the Merger Agreement and described in this proxy statement, into the right to receive (i) 0.6597 shares (the "Exchange Ratio") of F&M common stock, or (ii) \$24.00 in cash (the "Stock Consideration," the "Cash Consideration" respectively, and collectively the "Merger Consideration"). Each PPSF shareholder that would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional share of F&M common stock will receive cash in lieu of such fractional share. The Exchange Ratio is subject to adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalization, or similar transactions. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, a minimum of 758,566 PPSF Shares must be exchanged for F&M Shares at the Exchange Ratio (the "Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election"). Therefore the amount of Stock Consideration, Cash Consideration or a combination thereof that a shareholder will receive in exchange for their shares of PPSF common stock will be determined in accordance with the provisions of the Merger Agreement as described further in this proxy statement and prospectus.

The PPSF per share value of the Cash Consideration is \$24.00. Because the Exchange Ratio is fixed (except for customary anti-dilution adjustments), the value of the Stock Consideration will fluctuate based upon the market price of F&M common stock. The implied PPSF per share value of the Stock Consideration based upon F&M's closing stock price on [●], 2022, the most recent practicable trading day before this proxy statement and prospectus was finalized, was \$[●] per share. No assurance can be given that the current market price of F&M common stock will be equivalent to the market price of F&M common stock on the date that shares of F&M common stock are received by a PPSF shareholder or at any other time. You should obtain current market prices for shares of F&M common stock which is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO."

Q: How can I elect stock, cash or both?

A: You may indicate a preference to receive F&M common stock, cash or a combination of both in the Merger by completing the stock/cash election form and letter and transmittal ("Election Form") that you will receive under separate cover. You should carefully review the instructions that will be included with the Election Form.

Q: How does the Merger Consideration proration work?

A: As of the date of this proxy statement there are 1,167,025 PPSF Shares outstanding. Under the Merger Agreement, the minimum number of PPSF Shares to be converted into the Stock Consideration will equal 758,566 PPSF Shares. There is no upper limit on the number of PPSF Shares that can be exchanged for F&M Shares. In the event the shareholder elections to receive F&M Shares is not equal to or greater than the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, PPSF Shares not electing to receive F&M Shares will be prorated according to the process set forth in the Merger Agreement in order to achieve the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election. See "The Merger Agreement—Proration Procedures" for further explanation.

Q: What happens if I do not make an election?

A: If you do not submit a properly completed and signed Election Form by the election deadline, and the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election is not met, you will be deemed, on a prorata basis to have made an election to receive the Stock Consideration until the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election and thereafter will be allocated the Cash Consideration.

Q: What risks should I consider before I vote on the Merger Proposal?

A: You should carefully review the section captioned "RISK FACTORS" beginning on page 12.

Q: Will F&M shareholders receive any shares or cash as a result of the Merger?

A: No. After the Merger, F&M shareholders will continue to own the same number of F&M shares they owned before the Merger.

Q: When is the Merger expected to be completed?

A: We are working to complete the Merger as quickly as possible. We must first obtain the necessary regulatory approvals and the approval of PPSF shareholders at the special meeting. We currently expect to complete the Merger during the fourth quarter of 2022.

Q: What happens if the Merger is not completed?

A: If the Merger is not completed, PPSF shareholders will not receive any consideration for their shares of PPSF common stock in connection with the Merger. Instead, PPSF will remain an independent company. In addition, if the Merger Agreement is terminated in certain circumstances, a termination fee may be required to be paid by PPSF to F&M.

Q: What are the tax consequences of the Merger to me?

A: The Merger is intended to qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal Revenue Code"). U.S. holders (as defined in the section captioned "MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES" beginning on page 45) who exchange all of their shares of PPSF common stock for the Stock Consideration generally will not recognize taxable gain or loss. U.S. holders who exchange all of their shares of PPSF common stock for the Cash Consideration generally will recognize taxable gain or loss on the difference between the cash they receive in the Merger and their adjusted tax basis in their PPSF common stock. U.S. holders who receive a combination of the Stock Consideration and the Cash Consideration generally will recognize gain (but not loss) in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the amount of gain realized (i.e., the excess, if any, of the sum of the amount of cash (other than cash received in lieu of a fractional share) and the fair market value, as of the effective time of the Merger, of the F&M common stock received in the Merger over that shareholder's adjusted tax basis in its PPSF common stock) and (2) the amount of cash received in the Merger. See "MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES" beginning on page 45. Your individual tax consequences will depend on your personal situation. You should consult your tax advisor for a full understanding of the tax consequences of the Merger to you.

Q: Will I have dissenters' rights?

A: Under Section 262 of the DGCL holders of shares of PPSF Shares who do not vote in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement and who otherwise follow the procedures set forth in Section 262 of the DGCL (which we refer to as "Section 262") will be entitled to have their shares appraised by the Delaware Court of

Chancery and to receive payment in cash for the "fair value" of the shares, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the Merger, together with interest. The procedure for dissenting is explained more fully under "THE MERGER – Rights of Dissenting Shareholders" beginning on page 35 and in Annex B to this proxy statement and prospectus.

Q: Who can vote at the special meeting?

A: All holders of record of PPSF common stock as of the close of business on [●], 2022, the record date for the special meeting (the "record date"), are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting, or any postponement or adjournment of the special meeting scheduled in accordance with Delaware law. As of the record date, there were 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting.

Q: What constitutes a quorum?

A: The presence, in person or by proxy, of shareholders holding at least one-third of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock as of the record date will constitute a quorum for the special meeting. In determining whether a quorum is present, shareholders who abstain, cast broker non-votes, or are otherwise present at the special meeting will be deemed present at the special meeting. Once a share is represented for any purpose at the special meeting, it will be deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting.

Q: What are the vote requirements to approve the matters that will be considered at the special meeting?

A: At the special meeting, the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock is required to approve the Merger Proposal. Approval of the Adjournment Proposal requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it.

Each of the directors of PPSF has entered into a voting agreement with F&M pursuant to which each of them has agreed, subject to their fiduciary duties to entertain a superior third-party acquisition proposal under the Merger Agreement, to vote, or cause to be voted, all of their shares of PPSF common stock owned by each of them of record or beneficially, including shares owned by certain other persons over which they have voting control, in favor of the Merger Proposal. Collectively, as of the record date, PPSF directors had the power to vote, or cause to be voted, 93,851 shares, or approximately 8.04% of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock.

Q: How many votes do I have?

A: PPSF shareholders are entitled to one vote on each proposal to be considered at the special meeting for each share of PPSF common stock owned as of the record date.

Q: How do I vote?

A: You may have your shares of PPSF common stock voted on the matters to be presented at the special meeting in the following ways: (i) by completing, signing, dating, and returning the enclosed proxy card in the accompanying prepaid reply envelope; or (ii) by attending the special meeting and casting your vote in person. Please note that if you are a beneficial owner and wish to vote in person at the special meeting, you must obtain a legal proxy from your bank, broker, or other nominee.

Q: If my shares are held in "street name," will my bank, broker, or other nominee vote my shares for me?

A: Your bank, broker, or other nominee will vote any shares you hold in "street name" only if you provide instructions to them on how to vote your shares. You should follow the directions provided by your bank,

broker, or other nominee to vote your shares. If you do not provide your bank, broker, or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares held in "street name," they will not be permitted to vote your shares, which will have the effect of a vote "AGAINST" the Merger.

Similarly, your bank, broker, or other nominee will vote your shares on the Adjournment Proposal, if necessary, but only if you provide instructions on how to vote. If you do not submit voting instructions to your bank, broker, or other nominee on how to vote your shares held in "street name," your shares will not be counted in determining the outcome of this proposal.

O: What do I need to do now?

A: You should carefully read and consider the information contained in this proxy statement and prospectus and any information incorporated herein by reference. Then, please submit your proxy by completing, signing, and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it as soon as possible using the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope so that your shares can be voted at the special meeting. If a returned proxy card is signed, but does not specify how you wish to vote your shares, your proxy will be voted "FOR" the: (1) approval of the Merger Proposal; and (2) approval of the Adjournment Proposal.

Q: What if I don't vote or I abstain from voting?

A: If you do not vote or you abstain from voting, your abstention will be equivalent to a vote "AGAINST" the Merger Proposal, but such abstention will have no impact on the Adjournment Proposal. If you return a properly signed proxy card but do not indicate how you want to vote, your proxy will be voted "FOR" approval of the Merger Proposal; and "FOR" approval of the Adjournment Proposal.

Q. May I change my vote after I have submitted my proxy?

A: Yes. You can change your vote at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting. You can do this in one of three ways. First, you can send a written notice stating that you revoke your proxy. Second, you can complete and submit a new proxy, dated at a date later than your most recent proxy. Please submit your notice of revocation and/or new proxy card to Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio 45365, Attention: Debra A. Geuy, President & CEO. Third, you may attend the special meeting and vote in person. Simply attending the special meeting, however, will not revoke your proxy. You must request a ballot and vote the ballot at the meeting.

Q: Should I send in my stock certificate(s) now?

A: No. PPSF shareholders will receive written instructions from F&M for exchanging their stock certificates for shares of F&M common stock for the Merger Consideration, and cash for fractional shares to be received by them in the Merger. Any shares of PPSF common stock held in bookentry form will be automatically exchanged for shares of F&M common stock. If you are a current F&M shareholder, you should retain your certificates representing F&M common shares, as you will continue to hold the F&M shares you currently own.

Q: Whom should I contact if I have other questions about the Merger Agreement or the Merger?

A: You may contact:

Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation 101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 43078 Attention: Debra A. Geuy, President and CEO

Attention. Debra A. Getty, President and CEC

Telephone: (937) 492-6129

SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement and prospectus. Because this is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that is important to you. You should carefully read this entire document, including the documents incorporated herein by reference, and the other documents to which we have referred you before you decide how to vote. See "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59 for a description of documents that we incorporate by reference into this document. Where appropriate, items in this summary include a page reference that directs you to a more complete description in this document of the topic discussed.

Description of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. (page 48)

Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.

307 N. Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 (419) 446-2501

F&M is a financial holding company headquartered in Archbold, Ohio that was organized in 1985. F&M common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO." F&M is the parent holding company of F&M Bank, an Ohio chartered commercial bank which opened for business in Archbold, Ohio, in 1897, and F&M Risk Management, Inc., a captive insurance company founded in December 2014. F&M Bank has a total of 30 banking locations with 18 in Northwest Ohio and 12 in Northeast Indiana. F&M Bank's business activities are currently limited to one significant business segment, which is community banking. F&M Bank also operates FM Investment Services as a division of its operations. FM Investment Services offers non-deposit investment and insurance products.

As of March 31, 2022, F&M had approximately consolidated assets of \$2.686 billion, deposits of \$2.254 million and shareholders' equity of \$286.5 million. As of March 31, 2022, F&M and its subsidiaries had 382full-time equivalent employees.

Description of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation (page 49)

Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation

101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 45365 (937) 492-6129

PPSF is a savings and loan holding company headquartered in Sidney, Ohio. PPSF is quoted on the OTC Pink®Open Market. PPSF is the parent holding company of Peoples Bank, a federally chartered savings and loan association. Peoples Bank opened for business in Sidney, Ohio, in 1886. Peoples Bank operates its main office at 101 E. Court Street in Sidney, Ohio and has two branches, one in Anna, Ohio and one in Jackson Center, Ohio.

At March 31, 2022, PPSF reported \$132.7 million in total assets, \$99.9 million in loans, \$114.8 million in deposits and \$15.4 million in tangible common equity and had 28 full-time equivalent employees.

The Merger (page 20)

We have attached a copy of the Merger Agreement to this document as Annex A. Please read the Merger Agreement in its entirety. It is the legal document that governs the Merger.

The Merger Agreement provides that, if all of the conditions are satisfied or waived, PPSF will be merged with and into F&M and PPSF will cease to exist. We expect to complete the Merger during the fourth quarter of 2022.

Reasons for the Merger (page 24 and 25)

F&M. F&M's Board of Directors considered a number of financial and nonfinancial factors in making its decision to merge with PPSF, including PPSF's Board of Directors, management and staff. The Board believes that expanding F&M's operations into the market areas where PPSF operates provides financial and strategic benefits to F&M and PPSF as a combined company.

PPSF. In considering the Merger with F&M, PPSF's Board of Directors collected and evaluated a variety of financial and economic information regarding F&M and F&M Bank, and their reputation and future prospects. In the opinion of PPSF's Board of Directors, favorable factors included F&M's strong earnings and stock performance, its management, the compatibility of its markets to those of PPSF, the likelihood of regulatory approvals of the Merger, and the attractiveness of F&M's offer from a financial perspective.

Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor (page 27)

In connection with the Merger, PPSF's financial advisor, Boenning & Scattergood ("Boenning") delivered a written opinion, dated June 14, 2022, to the PPSF board of directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, to the holders of PPSF common stock of the Merger Consideration in the Merger. The full text of the opinion, which describes the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by Boenning in preparing the opinion, is attached as Annex C to this document. The opinion was for the information of, and was directed to, the PPSF board of directors (in its capacity as such) in connection with its consideration of the financial terms of the Merger. The opinion did not address the underlying business decision of PPSF to engage in the Merger or enter into the Merger Agreement or constitute a recommendation to the PPSF board of directors in connection with the Merger, and it does not constitute a recommendation to any holder of PPSF common stock or any shareholder of any other entity as to how to vote or act in connection with the Merger or any other matter (including, with respect to holders of PPSF common stock, what election any such shareholder should make with respect to the cash election consideration or the stock election consideration).

What PPSF Shareholders Will Receive (page 20)

If the Merger Agreement is approved and the Merger is subsequently completed, each outstanding share of PPSF common stock (other than dissenting shares) will, at the election of the shareholder but subject to proration, be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration of: (i) 0.6597 shares of F&M common stock; or (ii) \$24.00 in cash. The Exchange Ratio is subject to adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalization or similar transactions. Each PPSF shareholder that would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional share of F&M common stock will receive cash in lieu of such fractional share.

Because the Exchange Ratio is fixed (except for customary anti-dilution adjustments), the value of the Stock Consideration that you will receive will depend on the market price of F&M common stock when you receive your shares of F&M common stock. The implied per share value of the Stock Consideration, based upon F&M's closing stock price on [•], 2022, the most recent practicable trading day before this proxy statement and prospectus was finalized, was \$[•] per share. No assurance can be given that the current market price of F&M common stock will be equivalent to the market price of F&M common stock on the date that shares of F&M common stock are received by an PPSF shareholder or at any other time.

PPSF shareholders will be provided an Election Form, and will be provided a period of time (the "**Election Period**") during which they may validly elect the form of Merger Consideration that they desire. As of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus there are 1,167,025 PPSF Shares outstanding. Under the Merger Agreement PPSF shareholders will receive, at their election, for each PPSF Share held as of the Effective Time, either (i) 0.6597 F&M Share or (ii) \$24.00 in cash, provided that at least 758,566 PPSF Shares, the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, will be exchanged at the Exchange Ratio for F&M Shares in the Merger. Shareholder elections will be prorated according to the process set forth in the Merger Agreement in order to achieve the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election. See "The Merger Agreement — Proration Procedures" for further explanation.

A letter of transmittal accompany the Election Form and will contain instructions for use in effecting the surrender of PPSF stock certificates (or shares held in book-entry form) in exchange for the consideration to which such person may be entitled pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

What F&M Shareholders Will Receive (page 21)

F&M shareholders will not receive any consideration in the Merger. After the Merger, F&M shareholders will continue to own the same number of F&M shares owned before the Merger.

The PPSF Special Shareholders Meeting (page 17)

The special meeting of PPSF shareholders will be held on [●], 2022, at [●]:[●] [●].m. local time, at [●].

At the special meeting, PPSF shareholders will be asked:

- 1. *Merger Proposal*. To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Merger Agreement and to approve the transactions contemplated thereby. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, PPSF will merge with and into F&M.
- 2. *Adjournment Proposal*. To approve one or more adjournments of the PPSF special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the Merger Proposal.
- 3. *Other Matters*. To vote upon such other matters which may properly be presented at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. PPSF's Board of Directors is not aware of any such other matters.

PPSF Recommendation to Shareholders (page 18)

PPSF's Board of Directors approved and adopted the Merger Agreement and approved and authorized the proposed Merger. PPSF's Board of Directors concluded that entering into the Merger Agreement and completing the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are in the best interest of PPSF and the PPSF shareholders. PPSF's Board of Directors recommends that PPSF shareholders vote "FOR" (1) approval of the Merger Proposal, and (2) approval of the Adjournment Proposal. In reaching its determination, PPSF's Board of Directors considered a number of factors, some of which are described in the section captioned "THE MERGER—PPSF's Reasons for the Merger" beginning on page 25. Because of the wide variety of factors considered, PPSF's Board of Directors did not believe it practicable, nor did it attempt, to quantify or otherwise assign relative weight to the specific factors it considered in reaching its decision.

PPSF Special Meeting Record Date; Vote Required (page 17)

Only PPSF shareholders of record as of the close of business on [•], 2022, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the PPSF special meeting and any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. As of the

record date, there were 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding held by 106 shareholders of record. This number does not reflect the number of persons or entities who may hold their stock in "street name" through a bank, broker, or nominee. Approval of the Merger Proposal requires the affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock entitled to vote. The approval of the Adjournment Proposal requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it. You can vote your shares by attending the PPSF special meeting and voting in person or you can vote by proxy by marking the enclosed proxy card with your vote, signing it and mailing it in the enclosed return envelope. You can revoke your proxy at any time before the special meeting by sending a written notice of revocation, submitting a new proxy or by attending the special meeting and voting in person.

No approval by F&M shareholders is required to complete the Merger.

Voting Agreement (page 45)

Each member of the Board of Directors of PPSF, as of June 14, 2022, the date the Merger Agreement was executed, entered into a voting agreement with F&M to cause all PPSF common stock owned by each of them of record or beneficially to be voted in favor of the Merger Proposal. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Voting Agreement" on page 45. As of the record date, the members of PPSF's Board of Directors and their affiliates had power to vote, or caused to be voted, an aggregate of 93,851 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding, representing approximately 8.04% of the outstanding shares on that date.

F&M ownership of PPSF Shares

F&M does not currently own any shares of PPSF.

What We Need to Do to Complete the Merger (page 40)

Completion of the Merger depends on a number of conditions being met or waived. In addition to our compliance with the Merger Agreement, these conditions include, among others:

- the approval of the Merger Agreement at the special meeting by a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock;
- the approval of the Merger by certain regulatory agencies and the expiration of any regulatory waiting periods;
- the representations and warranties made by the parties in the Merger Agreement must be true, accurate and correct in all material respects on and as of the effective date of the Merger, except that representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or a Material Adverse Effect (as defined below in "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Conditions to Completion of the Merger") must be true and correct in all respects, and provided that for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of an earlier date, then they shall be tested as of such earlier date;
- the covenants made by the parties must have been complied with in all material respects from the date of the Merger Agreement through and as of the effective date of the Merger;
- F&M must have received an opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger will be treated as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- PPSF must have received an opinion from Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger will be treated as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;

- the Registration Statement on Form S-4, of which this proxy statement and prospectus is a part, relating to the F&M shares to be issued pursuant to the Merger Agreement, must have become effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued or threatened by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC");
- the shares of F&M common stock to be issued in the Merger shall have been listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (subject to official notice of issuance);
- there must be no order, decree or injunction of a court or agency of competent jurisdiction which enjoins or prohibits the
 consummation of the Merger; and
- other customary conditions and obligations of the parties as set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Regulatory Approvals (page 38)

The Merger cannot be completed until F&M receives necessary regulatory approvals, which include the approval of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve (the "FRB"), the Ohio Division of Financial Institutions (the "ODFI") and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC"). F&M and F&M Bank have filed applications with the FRB, ODFI and the FDIC, but cannot be certain when or if such waiver and approvals will be obtained. In addition, notice of the proposed transaction has been filed with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"). The OCC, as the primary federal regulator of Peoples Bank is entitled to notice of the Merger, but is not required to approve the transaction.

Conduct of Business Pending Merger (page 43)

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, PPSF and F&M must carry on their business in the ordinary course and, subject to certain limited exceptions, may not take certain extraordinary actions without first obtaining the other party's consent.

F&M has agreed that PPSF will continue to pay quarterly dividend distributions at no more than the current rate of PPSF's regular, quarterly cash dividend in an amount not greater than \$0.08 per common share.

F&M and PPSF will each cooperate to insure that PPSF shareholders will receive only one quarterly dividend for the quarter in which the Merger closes, and not a separate dividend from both F&M and PPSF.

Agreements of F&M (pages 38 and 44)

In the Merger Agreement, F&M has agreed, among other matters, to:

- Proceed and use its reasonable and diligent efforts to obtain any consents and approvals for the Merger. See "THE MERGER—Regulatory Approvals" on page 38.
- Take action as may be necessary to allow PPSF employees, as soon as reasonably practicable following the effective date of the Merger, to participate in benefit plans F&M maintains for its employees. Until such time as participation is implemented, F&M will assume and maintain the employee plans and benefit arrangements of PPSF as in effect on the effective date of the Merger. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Employee Benefit Plans" on page 44.
- Pay a severance payment to PPSF employees who are not retained and who sign a release agreement. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Employee Benefit Plans" on page 44.
- Provide, or allow for, director and officer liability insurance and indemnification. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT— Indemnification and Insurance of PPSF Directors and Officers" on page 44.

Agreement Not to Solicit Other Offers (page 43)

PPSF has agreed that it will not solicit, encourage, or facilitate any inquiries or proposals regarding other acquisition proposals by third parties. PPSF may respond to an unsolicited proposal if the PPSF board of directors determines in good faith, and after consultation with legal counsel, that such action is necessary in order to act in a manner consistent with the directors' fiduciary duties. Also, prior to obtaining shareholder approval, PPSF may, under certain specified circumstances, withdraw, modify, or change in a manner adverse to F&M, its recommendation to its shareholders with respect to the Merger Proposal and/or terminate the Merger Agreement if the PPSF board of directors determines in good faith, and after consultation with legal counsel, that a third party proposal is more favorable to PPSF shareholders than the Merger and that it is necessary in order to act in a manner consistent with the directors' fiduciary duties. PPSF must provide certain notices to and engage in negotiations with F&M in connection with third party proposals.

Dissenters' Rights (page 35)

Dissenters' rights are available to PPSF's shareholders under Delaware law, but you will only be able to dissent from the Merger by complying with the provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL. If you wish to assert dissenters' rights, you must deliver to PPSF written notice of your intent to assert such rights before the vote is taken at the special meeting. In addition, you must not vote in favor of the Merger Proposal either in person or by proxy. If the Merger Proposal is approved and the Merger is completed, and you have dissented and followed the required procedures, then you will not receive any shares of common stock of F&M or cash as the Merger Consideration. Instead, you will be entitled to receive the fair value of your PPSF common stock in cash as determined through the dissenters' rights procedures. The procedure for dissenting is explained more fully under "THE MERGER – Rights of Dissenting Shareholders" beginning on page 35 and in Annex B to this proxy statement and prospectus.

Management and Operations After the Merger (page 44)

PPSF's corporate existence will cease after the Merger. Upon completion of the Merger, the current officers and directors of F&M and F&M Bank will continue to serve in such capacities.

Interests of Directors and Officers in the Merger That Are Different From Your Interests (page 38)

You should be aware that some of directors and executive officers of PPSF may have interests in the Merger that are different from, or in addition to, their interests as shareholders. Both PPSF's Board of Directors and F&M's Board of Directors were aware of these interests and took them into consideration in approving the Merger Agreement and the Merger. These interests are as follows:

• Debra A. Geuy, the President and CEO, Donna M. Williams, the Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer and Steven R. Goins, Vice President of Information Technology and Human Resources, each have employment agreements with PPSF that provide for a cash payment and insurance continuation if their employment is terminated following a change in control. These benefits under the employment agreements are cutback to the extent necessary to avoid adverse tax consequences under Internal Revenue Code Section 280G. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, PPSF will enter into agreements with these PPSF officers to terminate these agreements in exchange for cash payments, payable immediately prior to the Effective Time, equal to the aggregate value of the amounts that would have been payable under the employment agreements if their employment had been terminated and an undertaking to provide for the continuation of insurance coverage if their employment is terminated after the Merger. The cash payments the executive officers are entitled to receive in a lump sum upon consummation of the Merger are as follows: Ms. Geuy a payment of \$493,695, Ms. Williams a payment of \$150,466 and Mr. Goins a payment of \$101,299.

See "THE MERGER—Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger: Agreements with PPSF" on page 38.

• F&M has agreed that for a period of six years after the effective time of the Merger, it will maintain directors' and officers' liability insurance in force covering directors and officers of PPSF, subject to certain conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Termination of the Merger (page 42)

Both F&M and PPSF can mutually agree to terminate the Merger Agreement before we complete the Merger. In addition, either PPSF or F&M acting alone can terminate the Merger Agreement under the circumstances described on page 42.

PPSF has agreed to pay F&M a termination fee of \$1,000,000 if:

- PPSF's Board of Directors terminates the Merger Agreement in the exercise of its fiduciary duties after receipt of an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal from a third party;
- F&M terminates the Merger Agreement because PPSF's Board of Directors fails to make, withdraws or modifies its recommendation to PPSF's shareholders to vote for the Merger following receipt of a written proposal for an acquisition from a third party; or
- F&M terminates the Merger Agreement because PPSF fails to materially comply with the notice requirements related to providing notice to F&M of any inquiries regarding an acquisition proposal from a third party or PPSF fails terminate all discussion with such third party after providing such notice.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences (page 45)

It is a condition to the closing of the Merger that Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP deliver an opinion, effective as of the date of the Merger, to F&M, and that Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP deliver an opinion, effective as of the date of the Merger, to PPSF, addressed to PPSF's shareholders, to the effect that the Merger will be treated as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Neither the Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP opinion nor the Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP opinion will bind the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") which could take a different view. If the Merger is treated as a reorganization, for U.S. federal income tax purposes (i) no gain or loss will be recognized by F&M or PPSF as a result of the Merger, (ii) PPSF shareholders who receive solely the Stock Consideration in the Merger will not recognize taxable gain or loss upon the exchange of their PPSF Shares, (iii) PPSF shareholders who receive solely the Cash Consideration in the Merger will recognize gain or loss in amount equal to the difference between their adjusted tax basis in their PPSF Shares and the amount of the Cash Consideration received; (iv) Shareholders of PPSF who receive a combination of the Stock Consideration and the Cash Consideration generally will recognize gain (but not loss) in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the amount of gain realized (i.e., the excess, if any, of the sum of the amount of cash (other than cash received in lieu of a fractional share) and the fair market value, as of the effective time of the Merger, of the F&M common stock received in the Merger over that shareholder's adjusted tax basis in its PPSF common stock) and (2) the amount of cash received in the Merger, and (v) PPSF shareholders who exercise dissenters' rights and receive solely cash in exchange for PPSF common stock in the Merger generally will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and their tax basis in their shares.

Determining the actual tax consequences of the Merger to you can be complicated. We suggest you consult with your own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of the Merger to you.

For a more detailed description of the material federal income tax consequences of the Merger to F&M and PPSF shareholders, see "MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES" on page 45.

Comparative Rights of F&M and PPSF Shareholders (page 50)

The rights of shareholders of F&M and PPSF differ in some respects. The rights of holders of F&M common stock are governed by the laws of the State of Ohio, including the Title 17—Ohio General Corporation Law, and F&M's Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations. The rights of holders of PPSF common stock are governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, including the Title 8 Chapter 1 – General Corporation Law, PPSF's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Upon completion of the Merger, PPSF shareholders who receive F&M common stock will take such stock subject to F&M's Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations and the Ohio General Corporation Law.

Completion of the Merger (page 38)

The Merger will become effective upon the filing of a certificate of merger with the Ohio Secretary of State, or at such later date and time as may be set forth in the certificate of merger. We expect the Merger to become effective in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Comparative Market Price Information

Shares of F&M common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO." PPSF common stock is traded on the OTC Pink®Open Market. As of the record date, PPSF had 106 shareholders of record. This number does not reflect the number of persons or entities who may hold their stock in "street name" through a bank, broker, or nominee. The following table presents quotation information for F&M common stock and PPSF common stock on June 14, 2022, the last full trading day before the Merger was publicly announced, and [•], 2022, the last practicable day for which information was available prior to the date of this proxy statement and prospectus.

		F&M			PPSF	
		Common St	ock	Co	mmon Sto	ck
		(Dollars Per Share)				
	High_	Low	Close	High	Low	Close
June 14, 2022	\$35.70	\$34.27	\$34.28	10.42	10.42	10.42
[e] 2022						

The market value of the aggregate consideration that PPSF shareholders will receive in the Merger is approximately \$27 million (or \$23.10 per share of PPSF common stock) based on 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding, F&M's closing stock price of \$34.28 on June 14, 2022, the full trading day before the Merger was publicly announced, and the cash portion of the Merger Consideration of \$24.00 per share.

Also set forth below for the closing price of F&M common stock on June 14, 2022, and [●], 2022, is the equivalent pro forma price of PPSF common stock, which we determined by multiplying the applicable price of F&M common stock by the number of shares of F&M common stock F&M is issuing for each share of PPSF common stock in the Merger, which is the Exchange Ratio of 0.6597. The equivalent pro forma price of PPSF common stock shows the implied value to be received in the Merger by PPSF shareholders who receive F&M common stock in exchange for a share of PPSF common stock on these dates.

			PPSF
	F&M	PPSF	Equivalent
	Common Stock	Common Stock	Pro Forma
June 14, 2022	\$ 34.28	0.6597	\$ 22.61
[•], 2022	\$ [•]	_	\$ [●]

We suggest you obtain a current market quotation for F&M common stock. We expect that the market price of F&M common stock will fluctuate between the date of this document and the date on which the Merger is completed and thereafter. Because the Exchange Ratio is fixed (except for customary anti-dilution adjustments) and the market price of F&M common stock is subject to fluctuation, the value of the shares of F&M common stock that PPSF shareholders will receive in the Merger may increase or decrease prior to and after the Merger. The cash portion of the Merger Consideration of \$24.00 per share will not vary, but will remain constant until paid in connection with the consummation of the Merger.

RISK FACTORS

In addition to general investment risks and the other information contained in or incorporated by reference into this proxy statement and prospectus, including the matters addressed under the section "FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS," you should carefully consider the following risk factors in deciding how to vote for the Merger Proposal presented in this proxy statement and prospectus. You should also consider the other information in this proxy statement and prospectus and the other documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement and prospectus. See "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59.

Risk Factors Relating to the Merged Company and Its Industry

Combining the two companies may be more difficult, costly or time consuming than expected and the anticipated benefits and cost savings of the Merger may not be realized.

The success of the Merger will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the merged company's ability to:

- integrate PPSF's operations with the operations of F&M;
- maintain existing relationships with F&M's depositors and PPSF's depositors to minimize withdrawals of deposits subsequent to the acquisition;
- maintain and enhance existing relationships with borrowers of F&M and PPSF;
- · achieve projected net income and expected cost savings and revenue enhancements from the merged company;
- control the incremental non-interest expense to maintain overall operating efficiencies;
- retain and attract key and qualified management, lending and other banking personnel; and
- compete effectively in the communities served by F&M and PPSF, and in nearby communities.

F&M's failure to successfully integrate PPSF into its business may adversely affect F&M's financial condition and results of operations.

The value of the stock consideration to be received by PPSF shareholders in the Merger will fluctuate.

If the Merger is completed, PPSF shareholders (other than dissenting shareholders) will receive a number of shares of F&M common stock based on a fixed Exchange Ratio of 0.6597 shares of F&M common stock for each share of PPSF common stock, or \$24.00 in cash. Because the market value of F&M common stock will fluctuate, the value of the Stock Consideration you receive for your shares will also fluctuate. The market value of F&M common stock could fluctuate for any number of reasons, including those specific to F&M and those that influence trading prices of equity securities generally. As a result, you will not know the exact value of the shares of F&M common stock you may receive at the time you must vote your PPSF shares. The value of F&M common stock on the closing date of the Merger may be greater or less than the market price of F&M common stock on the record date, on the date of this proxy statement and prospectus or on the date of the special meeting. The cash portion of the Merger Consideration, \$24.00 per share, will remain constant.

We encourage you to obtain a current market quotation for F&M common stock because the value of any F&M shares you receive may be more or less than the value of such shares as of the date of this document.

The merged company's allowance for loan losses may not be adequate to cover actual loan losses.

The merged company's loan customers may not repay their loans according to their terms, and the customers' collateral securing the payment of their loans may be insufficient to assure repayment. As of

March 31, 2022, approximately 75% of F&M's loans and 33% of PPSF's loans are comprised of commercial real estate, commercial lines of credit, term and development loans, and agricultural loans, which can result in higher loan loss experience than residential loans in economic downturns. The underwriting, review and monitoring that will be performed by the merged company's officers and directors cannot eliminate all of the risks related to these loans.

Each of F&M and PPSF make various assumptions and judgments about the collectability of their respective loan portfolios and provide an allowance for loan losses based on a number of factors. If the assumptions are wrong or the facts and circumstances subsequently and materially change, the allowance for loan losses and Merger-related credit marks may not be sufficient to cover the merged company's loan losses. The merged company may have to increase its allowance for loan losses in the future, which could decrease its net income.

Deterioration in loan quality will adversely affect the merged company's results of operations and financial condition.

Each of F&M and PPSF seek to mitigate the risks inherent in their respective loan portfolios by adhering to sound underwriting practices. Their lending strategies also include emphasizing diversification on a geographic, industry and customer level, regular credit quality reviews and management reviews of large credit exposures and loans experiencing deterioration of credit quality. There is continuous review of their respective loan portfolios, including internally administered loan "watch" lists and independent loan reviews. These evaluations take into consideration identified credit problems, as well as the possibility of losses inherent in the loan portfolio that are not specifically identified. Although F&M and PPSF believe their underwriting and loan review procedures are appropriate for the various kinds of loans they make, the merged company's results of operation and financial condition will be adversely affected in the event the quality of their respective loan portfolios deteriorates. As of March 31, 2022, F&M had approximately \$8.6 million and PPSF had approximately \$296.8 thousand (comprised of classified, non-accrual, and impaired loans) in non-performing loans.

Changes in interest rates may reduce the merged company's net interest income.

Like other financial institutions, the merged company's net interest income is its primary revenue source. Net interest income is the difference between interest earned on loans and investments and interest expense incurred on deposits and other borrowings. The merged company's net interest income will be affected by changes in market rates of interest, the interest rate sensitivity of its assets and liabilities, prepayments on its loans and investments and limits on increases in the rates of interest charged on certain of its loans.

The merged company will not be able to predict or control changes in market rates of interest. Market rates of interest are affected by international, regional and local economic conditions, as well as monetary policies of the Federal Reserve. The following factors also may affect market interest rates:

- inflation;
- slow or stagnant economic growth or recession;
- unemployment;
- money supply;
- international disorders;
- instability in domestic and foreign financial markets; and
- other factors beyond the merged company's control.

Each of F&M and PPSF has policies and procedures designed to manage the risks from changes in market interest rates; however, despite risk management, changes in interest rates could adversely affect the merged company's results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in economic conditions and the geographic concentration of the merged company's markets could adversely affect the merged company's financial condition.

The merged company's success will depend to a great extent upon the general economic conditions of the Northwest and Central Ohio and Northcentral and Northeast Indiana market areas. Unlike larger banks that are more geographically diversified, the merged company will provide banking and financial services to customers primarily located in these areas. Favorable economic conditions may not exist in the merged company's markets.

An economic slowdown could have the following consequences:

- · loan delinquencies may increase;
- problem assets and foreclosures may increase;
- liquidity, earnings and capital could decrease;
- demand for the products and services of PPSF and F&M may decline; and
- collateral for loans made by PPSF and F&M may decline in value, in turn reducing customers' borrowing power, and reducing the value of
 assets and collateral associated with existing loans.

Anti-takeover defenses may delay or prevent future mergers.

Provisions contained in F&M's Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations and certain provisions of Ohio law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire F&M, even if doing so might be beneficial to F&M shareholders. See "COMPARISON OF COMMON STOCK-Anti-Takeover Provisions" on page 56. These provisions could limit the price that some investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of F&M common stock and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control.

If the Merger is not completed, the parties will have incurred substantial expenses without realizing the expected benefits.

F&M and PPSF have incurred and will continue to incur substantial expenses in connection with the transactions described in this proxy statement and prospectus, including legal, accounting and financial advisory expenses, among others. Although some of these expenses will not be incurred if the Merger is not completed, others will and such expenses could have an adverse impact on the financial condition of F&M and PPSF because they would not have realized the expected benefits of the Merger. The completion of the Merger depends on the satisfaction of several conditions. We cannot guarantee that these conditions will be met or that the Merger will be completed.

The Merger Agreement may be terminated in accordance with its terms and the Merger may not be completed, which could have a negative impact on PPSF.

The Merger Agreement with F&M is subject to a number of conditions which must be fulfilled in order to close. Those conditions include: PPSF shareholder approval, regulatory approvals, the continued accuracy of certain representations and warranties by both parties and the performance by both parties of certain covenants and agreements. There can be no assurance that the regulatory approvals and other conditions to consummation of the transaction will be obtained and that the Merger will be completed.

In addition, certain circumstances exist where either F&M or PPSF, individually, or F&M and PPSF, mutually, may choose to terminate the Merger Agreement, including the acceptance of a superior acquisition proposal by PPSF and if greater than 10% of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock exercise their dissenters' rights in accordance with DGCL Section 262. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Termination; Waiver; Amendment" for a more complete discussion of the circumstances under which the Merger Agreement could be terminated. There can be no assurance that the conditions to closing the Merger will be fulfilled or that the Merger will be completed.

If the Merger Agreement is terminated, there may be various consequences to PPSF, including:

- PPSF's business may have been adversely impacted by the failure to pursue other beneficial opportunities due to the focus of management on the Merger, without realizing any of the anticipated benefits of completing the Merger;
- PPSF may experience negative reactions from its customers, vendors, and/or employees; and
- PPSF will have incurred substantial expenses in connection with the Merger, without realizing any of the anticipated benefits of completing the Merger.

If the Merger Agreement is terminated by PPSF due to its acceptance of a superior acquisition proposal or by F&M due to the failure of PPSF's Board of Directors to recommend approval of the Merger Agreement to its shareholders by reason of a superior acquisition proposal or for certain related reasons, then PPSF has agreed to pay F&M a \$1,000,000 termination fee. The payment of the termination fee could have a material adverse effect on PPSF's financial condition, and there can be no assurance that PPSF would be able to complete a transaction with a party willing to pay an equivalent or more attractive price than the price F&M has agreed to pay in the Merger.

The termination fee and the restrictions on solicitation contained in the Merger Agreement may discourage other companies from trying to acquire PPSF.

Until the completion of the Merger, with some exceptions, PPSF is prohibited from soliciting, initiating, encouraging or participating in any discussion of, providing information with respect to, or otherwise considering any inquiries or proposals that may lead to an acquisition proposal, such as a merger or other business combination transaction, with any person other than F&M. In addition, PPSF has agreed to pay a termination fee of \$1,000,000 to F&M if the PPSF board of directors withdraws or modifies its recommendation to its shareholders with respect to the Merger Proposal by reason of a superior acquisition proposal. These provisions likely will discourage other companies from trying to acquire PPSF even though such other companies might be willing to offer greater value to PPSF's shareholders than F&M has offered in the Merger Agreement. The payment of the termination fee also could have a material adverse effect on PPSF's financial condition.

The market price of F&M common stock after the Merger may be affected by factors different from those affecting the shares of PPSF or F&M currently.

Upon completion of the Merger, holders of PPSF common stock who receive the Stock Consideration will become holders of F&M common stock. F&M's business differs in important respects from that of PPSF, and, accordingly, the results of operations of the combined company and the market price of F&M common stock after the completion of the Merger may be affected by factors different from those currently affecting the independent results of operations of each of F&M and PPSF. F&M is, and will continue to be, subject to the risks described in F&M's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, as updated by subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, all of which are filed with the SEC and incorporated by reference into this proxy statement and prospectus. See the documents incorporated by reference in this proxy statement and prospectus and referred to under "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59.

PPSF shareholders who receive the Stock Consideration will have a reduced ownership and voting interest after the Merger and will exercise less influence over management.

PPSF's shareholders currently have the right to vote in the election of the PPSF Board of Directors and on certain other matters affecting PPSF. When the Merger occurs, each PPSF shareholder who receives the Stock Consideration will become a shareholder of F&M with a percentage ownership of the combined organization that is smaller than the shareholder's percentage ownership of PPSF. Because of this, PPSF's shareholders who receive the Stock Consideration will have less influence over the management and policies of F&M than they now have over the management and policies of PPSF.

Risk Factors Relating to the Merger

Regulatory approvals may not be received, may take longer than expected or may impose conditions that are not presently anticipated or that could have an adverse effect on the combined company following the Merger.

The transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement cannot be completed until F&M receives necessary regulatory approvals, which include the approval of the FRB, FDIC and the ODFI. In determining whether to grant these approvals, the regulators consider a variety of factors, including the regulatory standing of each party and the factors described under "THE MERGER—Regulatory Approvals." An adverse development in either party's regulatory standing or these factors could result in an inability to obtain approval or delay its receipt. These regulators may impose conditions on the completion of the Merger or require changes to the terms of the Merger. Such conditions or changes could have the effect of delaying or preventing completion of the Merger or imposing additional costs on or limiting the revenues of the combined company following the Merger, any of which might have an adverse effect on the combined company following the Merger.

Certain of PPSF's directors and executive officers have interests in the Merger that may differ from the interests of PPSF's shareholders.

PPSF shareholders should be aware that some of PPSF's executive officers and directors have interests in the Merger and have arrangements that are different from, or in addition to, those of PPSF shareholders generally. PPSF's Board of Directors was aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, when making its decision to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, and in recommending that PPSF shareholders vote in favor of approving the Merger Agreement.

For a description of these interests, see "THE MERGER—Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger" on page 38.

PPSF and F&M will be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while the Merger is pending.

Uncertainty about the effect of the Merger on employees and customers may have an adverse effect on PPSF or F&M. These uncertainties may impair PPSF's or F&M's ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel until the Merger is completed, and could cause customers and others that deal with PPSF or F&M to seek to change existing business relationships with PPSF or F&M. Retention of certain employees by PPSF or F&M may be challenging while the Merger is pending, as certain employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with PPSF or F&M. If key employees depart because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain with PPSF or F&M, PPSF's and/or F&M's business could be harmed. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, each of PPSF and F&M has agreed to operate its business in the ordinary course prior to closing. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Restrictions Affecting the Parties Prior to Completion of the Merger" on page 43 for a description of the restrictive covenants applicable to PPSF and F&M while the Merger is pending.

The opinion of PPSF's financial advisor delivered to PPSF's Board of Directors before the execution of the Merger Agreement does not reflect any changes in circumstances subsequent to the date of the opinion.

The opinion of Boenning regarding the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration in the Merger was delivered to PPSF's Board of Directors on, and was dated, June 14, 2022. Changes in the operations and prospects of F&M and PPSF, general market and economic conditions and other factors which are both within and outside of the control of F&M and PPSF may alter the relative value of the companies. Boenning's opinion does not speak as of the time the Merger will be completed or as of any date other than the date of such opinion.

The shares of F&M common stock to be received by PPSF shareholders who receive the Stock Consideration as a result of the Merger will have different rights from the shares of PPSF common stock.

Upon completion of the Merger, PPSF shareholders who receive the Stock Consideration will become F&M shareholders and their rights as shareholders will be governed by the F&M Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations and Ohio law. The rights associated with PPSF common stock may be different from the rights associated with F&M common stock. Please see "COMPARISON OF COMMON STOCK" beginning on page 50 for a discussion of the different rights associated with F&M common stock.

F&M and PPSF may waive one or more of the conditions to the Merger and, except in certain instances, amend the Merger Agreement without re-soliciting PPSF shareholder approval for the Merger.

Each of the conditions to the obligations of F&M and PPSF to complete the Merger may, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be waived in writing by agreement by F&M and PPSF, if the condition is a condition to both parties' obligation to complete the Merger, or by the party for which such condition is a condition of its obligation to complete the Merger. Further, except in certain instances and to the extent permitted by applicable law, F&M and PPSF may amend, modify, or supplement the Merger Agreement. The boards of directors of F&M and PPSF may evaluate the materiality of any such waiver, amendment, modification, or supplement to determine whether amendment of this proxy statement and prospectus and re-solicitation of proxies is necessary. F&M and PPSF, however, generally do not expect any such waiver, amendment, modification, or supplement to be significant enough to require re-solicitation of PPSF's shareholders. In the event that any such waiver, amendment, modification, or supplement is not determined to be significant enough to require re-solicitation of PPSF's shareholders, except as otherwise provided in the Merger Agreement, the companies will have the discretion to complete the Merger without seeking further shareholder approval.

PPSF shareholders will have dissenters' rights in the Merger.

Dissenters' rights are statutory rights that, if applicable under law, enable shareholders to dissent from an extraordinary transaction, such as a merger, and to demand that the corporation pay the fair value for their shares as determined by a court in a judicial proceeding instead of receiving the consideration offered to shareholders in connection with the extraordinary transaction. The shareholders of PPSF will have the rights accorded to dissenting shareholders under the Section 262 of the DGCL. The fair value determined through a judicial proceeding may be more or less than the consideration offered under the Merger Agreement. As a result, F&M bears the risk that payments owed to dissenting shareholders may exceed the consideration outlined in this proxy statement and prospectus.

THE PPSF SPECIAL MEETING Special Meeting of Shareholders of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation

General Information

We are furnishing this document to the shareholders of PPSF in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of PPSF of proxies for use at the PPSF special meeting of shareholders to be held on $[\bullet]$, 2022, at $[\bullet]: [\bullet]: [\bullet]$. This document is first being mailed to PPSF shareholders on $[\bullet]$, 2022, and includes the notice of PPSF special meeting, and is accompanied by a form of proxy.

Matters To Be Considered

The purposes of the special meeting are as follows:

- 1. *Merger Proposal*. To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, pursuant to which PPSF will merge with and into F&M.
- 2. *Adjournment Proposal.* To approve one or more adjournments of the PPSF special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the Merger Proposal.
- 3. *Other Matters*. To vote upon such other matters which may properly be presented at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. PPSF's Board of Directors is not aware of any such other matters.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, PPSF will merge into F&M. The Merger Agreement is attached to this document as Annex A and is incorporated in this document by reference. For a description of the Merger Agreement, see "THE MERGER AGREEMENT," beginning on page 20.

Record Date, Voting Rights, Quorum, and Vote Required

PPSF has fixed [●], 2022, as the record date for determining those PPSF shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. Accordingly, if you were an PPSF shareholder of record at the close of business on [●], 2022, you will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting. Each share of PPSF common stock you own on the record date entitles you to one vote on each matter presented at the special meeting. At the close of business on the record date there were 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding held by approximately 106 shareholders of record. This number does not reflect the number of persons or entities who may hold their stock in "street name" through a bank, broker, or nominee.

The presence, in person or by proxy, of shareholders holding at least one-third of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock as of the record date will constitute a quorum for the special meeting. In determining whether a quorum is present, shareholders who abstain, cast broker non-votes, or are otherwise present at the special meeting will be deemed present at the special meeting. Once a share is represented for any purpose at the special meeting, it will be deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting. Approval of the Merger Proposal requires the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock. Approval of the Adjournment Proposal only requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it.

Voting Agreement

Each of the directors of PPSF has entered into a voting agreement with F&M pursuant to which each of them has agreed, subject to their fiduciary duties to entertain a superior third-party acquisition proposal under the Merger Agreement, to vote, or cause to be voted, all of their shares of PPSF common stock owned by each of them of record or beneficially, including shares owned by certain other persons over which they have voting

control, in favor of the Merger Proposal. Collectively, as of the record date, our directors had the power to vote, or cause to be voted, 93,851 shares, or approximately 8.04% of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Voting Agreement" on page 45.

Voting

You may vote your shares in person by attending the special meeting, or by mailing us your completed proxy if you are unable or do not wish to attend. We encourage you to vote by mailing the proxy card even if you plan to attend the meeting. If your shares are held in "street name" by a bank, broker, or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name." As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your bank, broker, or other nominee on how to vote your shares of PPSF common stock. To vote your shares in person at the special meeting, you must obtain a signed proxy from your bank, broker, or other nominee giving you the right to vote your shares. To obtain such a proxy, you should follow the instructions provided by your bank, broker, or other nominee.

Proxies

If you are a PPSF shareholder, you should have received a proxy card for use at the PPSF special meeting with this proxy statement and prospectus. The accompanying proxy card is for your use in voting at the special meeting if you are unable or do not wish to attend the special meeting in person. The shares represented by proxies properly signed and returned will be voted at the special meeting as instructed by the PPSF shareholder giving the proxies. Proxy cards that are properly signed and returned but do not have voting instructions will be voted "FOR" approval of the Merger Proposal and "FOR" approval of the Adjournment Proposal.

If you deliver a properly signed proxy card, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is exercised by:

- delivering to PPSF at or prior to the special meeting a written notice of revocation addressed to PPSF, 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio 45365, Attention: Debra A. Geuy, President and CEO;
- delivering to PPSF at or prior to the special meeting a properly completed proxy card having a later date; or
- voting in person by ballot at the special shareholders meeting.

Because approval of the Merger Proposal requires the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as voting "AGAINST" approval of the Merger Proposal. Accordingly, your Board of Directors urges all PPSF shareholders to vote by proxy by completing, dating and signing the accompanying proxy and returning it promptly in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the Adjournment Proposal since it only requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it at the meeting. You should <u>not</u> send stock certificates with your proxy card.

Solicitation of Proxies

PPSF will bear the entire cost of soliciting proxies from and mailing proxies to its shareholders in connection with the PPSF special meeting. In addition to solicitation of proxies by mail, proxies may be solicited personally or by telephone by directors, officers and certain employees of PPSF, who will not be specially compensated for such soliciting.

In soliciting proxies, no one has any authority to make any representations and warranties about the Merger or the Merger Proposal in addition to or contrary to the provisions stated in this document. No statement regarding the Merger, the Merger Agreement or the Merger Proposal should be relied upon except as expressly stated in this document.

Recommendation of the PPSF board of directors

PPSF's Board of Directors has approved the Merger Agreement. PPSF's Board of Directors believes that the Merger is fair to and in the best interests of PPSF and its shareholders. The Board recommends that the PPSF shareholders vote "FOR" approval of the Merger Proposal and "FOR" approval of the Adjournment Proposal. See "THE MERGER— PPSF's Reasons for the Merger" on page 25.

Other Matters

The special meeting of PPSF shareholders has been called for the purposes set forth in the Notice to PPSF shareholders included in this document. Your Board of Directors is unaware of any matter for action by shareholders at the special meeting other than as stated in the Notice or in this proxy statement and prospectus. However, the enclosed proxy will give discretionary authority to the persons named in the proxy with respect to matters which are not known to your Board of Directors as of the date hereof and which may properly come before the special meeting. It is the intention of the persons named in the proxy to vote with respect to such matters in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors of PPSF or, if no recommendations are given, in their best judgment. The approval of the transaction of any other business that may properly come before the special meeting generally requires more votes to be cast in favor of the proposal than are cast against it.

Beneficial Ownership of PPSF Common Stock by Certain Shareholders

The following table shows, as of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus, the beneficial ownership of PPSF common stock of each person who beneficially owns more than five percent of PPSF's outstanding common stock, each PPSF director, each of the executive officers of PPSF and all of the directors and executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares set forth in the following table. This table should be read with the understanding that more than one person may be the beneficial owner or possess certain attributes of beneficial ownership with respect to the same PPSF common stock. The address for the directors and executive officers is c/o Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio 45365.

	Amount and Nature of Beneficial	Percent of
Name of Beneficial Owner	Ownership	Class(1)
Directors		
Devon A. Beer	5,000	*
Debra A. Geuy	40,780	3.50%
James W. Kerber	37,470	3.21%
Michael W. Lochard	4,378	*
Jeffery S. Sargeant	6,223	*
Non-Director Executive Officers		
Donna M. Williams	1,900	*
Steven R. Goins	22,871	1.96%
Directors and Non-Director Executive Officers as a Group (7 persons)	118,622	10.59%

Less than 1% of the total outstanding.

⁽¹⁾ Based upon 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding as of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus.

MERGER PROPOSAL

PPSF is asking its shareholders to approve the Merger Proposal. Holders of PPSF common stock should read this proxy statement and prospectus carefully and in its entirety, including the annexes, for more detailed information concerning the Merger Agreement and the Merger. A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached to this proxy statement and prospectus as Annex A.

After careful consideration, the Board of Directors of PPSF unanimously approved and adopted the Merger Agreement and determined it to be advisable and in the best interest of PPSF and its shareholders. See "THE MERGER—PPSF's Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of PPSF's Board of Directors" included elsewhere in this proxy statement and prospectus for a more detailed discussion of the PPSF board of directors' recommendation.

For the reasons discussed in this proxy statement and prospectus, the Board of Directors of PPSF determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of PPSF and its shareholders, and adopted and approved the Merger Agreement. The Board of Directors of PPSF recommends that PPSF shareholders vote "FOR" approval of the Merger Proposal.

ADJOURNMENT PROPOSAL

The PPSF special meeting may be adjourned to another time or place, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the PPSF special meeting to approve the Merger Proposal.

If, at the PPSF special meeting, the number of shares of PPSF common stock present or represented and voting in favor of the Merger Proposal is insufficient to approve the Merger Proposal, PPSF intends to move to adjourn the PPSF special meeting in order to enable the Board of Directors of PPSF to solicit additional proxies for approval of the Merger Proposal. In that event, PPSF will ask its shareholders to vote upon the Adjournment Proposal, but not the Merger Proposal.

In this Adjournment Proposal, PPSF is asking its shareholders to authorize the holder of any proxy solicited by the Board of Directors of PPSF, on a discretionary basis, to vote in favor of adjourning the PPSF special meeting to another time and place for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies, including the solicitation of proxies from PPSF shareholders who have previously voted.

The Board of Directors of PPSF recommends a vote "FOR" the Adjournment Proposal.

THE MERGER

At the special meeting, the shareholders of PPSF will consider and vote upon approval of the Merger Agreement. The following summary highlights certain information about the Merger. To understand the Merger, you should read carefully this entire proxy statement and prospectus, including the Merger Agreement, which is attached to this document as Annex A.

Description of the Merger

Under the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement approved by each of PPSF's and F&M's Boards of Directors, PPSF will merge with and into F&M and the separate corporate existence of PPSF will cease. The Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations of F&M, as in effect prior to the Merger, will be the Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations of F&M after the Merger.

Merger Consideration

The Merger Agreement provides that PPSF shareholders (other than dissenting shareholders) will have the right, with respect to each of their shares of PPSF common stock, to receive at their election, but subject to proration, without interest, (i) 0.6597 shares (the "Exchange Ratio") of F&M common stock, or \$24.00 in cash (the "Stock Consideration," "Cash Consideration," and collectively the "Merger Consideration"), subject to the payment of cash instead of fractional shares. As of the date of this proxy statement there are 1,167,025 PPSF Shares outstanding. Under the Merger Agreement, at least 758,566 PPSF Shares, the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, will be exchanged at the Exchange Ratio for F&M Shares in the Merger.

If F&M changes the number of outstanding shares of F&M common stock before the Merger through any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar transaction, then the Exchange Ratio will be proportionately adjusted so that PPSF shareholders will receive such number of shares of F&M common stock as represents the same percentage of outstanding shares of F&M common stock at the effective date of the Merger as would have been represented by the number of shares of F&M common stock such shareholder would have received if the recapitalization had not occurred.

No certificate or scrip representing a fractional F&M Share shall be issued in the Merger. Each holder of PPSF Shares who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional F&M Share shall be paid in cash (without interest), an amount rounded to the nearest whole cent, determined by multiplying the F&M Average Price (as defined below) by the fractional share of F&M Share to which such holder of PPSF Common Stock would otherwise be entitled. No such holder of a fractional F&M Share shall be entitled to dividends, voting rights, or any other rights in respect of any fractional share. The term "F&M Average Price" shall mean the average closing price of a share of F&M Common Stock as reported by Nasdaq for the ten (10) days that F&M Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market preceding the tenth (10th) calendar day prior to the Effective Time.

If you receive the Stock Consideration as a portion of the Merger Consideration for your shares of PPSF common stock the value of the Stock Consideration will depend on the market price of F&M common stock when you receive your shares of F&M common stock. The implied per share value of the stock consideration, based upon F&M's closing stock price on [•], 2022, the most recent practicable trading day before this proxy statement and prospectus was finalized, was \$[•] per share. No assurance can be given (and it is not likely) that the current market price of F&M common stock will be equivalent to the market price of F&M common stock on the date that shares of F&M common stock are received by an PPSF shareholder or at any other time.

On or prior to the effective date of the Merger, F&M will deposit with Computershare Trust Company, or another exchange agent selected by F&M, as exchange agent (the "Exchange Agent"), shares in book entry form

of F&M common stock, each to be given to the holders of PPSF common stock in exchange for old certificates (or shares in book entry form) representing shares of PPSF common stock. The Exchange Agent will mail a letter of transmittal to each person who was, immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, a holder of record of PPSF common stock. The letter of transmittal will contain instructions for use in effecting the surrender of PPSF stock certificates (or shares in book entry form) in exchange for the Merger Consideration to which such person is entitled pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Within five business days following the later of the effective date of the Merger or the surrender to the Exchange Agent of the old certificate(s) (or shares in book entry form) representing shares of PPSF common stock for cancellation, together with such letter of transmittal duly executed and completed, the holder of such old certificate(s) (or shares in book entry form) will be provided evidence of shares in book entry form representing shares of F&M common stock if any, received in the Merger, and/or a check for the cash portion of the Merger Consideration (\$24.00 per share) if any, received in the Merger, together with any cash to be paid in lieu of fractional shares, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, and the old certificate (or shares in book entry form) will be canceled.

Until you surrender your PPSF stock certificates (or shares in book entry form) for exchange, you will accrue, but will not be paid, any dividends or other distributions declared after the effective time of the Merger with respect to F&M common stock into which any of your shares may have been converted. In addition, until you surrender your PPSF stock certificates (or shares in book entry form) for exchange, you will not be paid the cash portion of the Merger Consideration (\$24.00 per share) that may be payable to you and any cash to be paid in lieu of fractional shares. When you surrender your PPSF stock certificates (or shares in book entry form), F&M will pay any unpaid dividends or other distributions, without interest. After the completion of the Merger, there will be no transfers on the stock transfer books of PPSF of any shares of PPSF common stock.

If a certificate for PPSF common stock has been lost, stolen or destroyed, F&M will issue the consideration properly payable under the Merger Agreement to the registered owner of such certificate upon receipt of an affidavit of lost stock certificate, in form and substance satisfactory to F&M, and upon compliance by the PPSF shareholder with all procedures historically required by PPSF in connection with lost, stolen or destroyed certificates.

Merger Consideration Elections and Allocations

Because the Merger Agreement requires that at least 758,566 PPSF Shares, the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, must be exchanged at the Exchange Ratio for F&M Shares in the Merger, the Merger Agreement provides for allocation of the F&M Shares to be issued based upon each PPSF shareholder's election and certain proration procedures in the event the Aggregate Minimum Total Stock Election is not satisfied in the election process. Once the Election Period concludes, the Merger Consideration to be received by each PPSF shareholder will be determined in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement.

If the aggregate number of PPSF Shares for which stock elections are received equals or exceeds the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, then all elections made by a PPSF shareholder to receive Stock Consideration will receive the Stock Consideration and all elections made to receive the Cash Consideration and all PPSF Shares for which no election was submitted (the "Non-Election Shares"), will be converted into the right to receive the Cash Consideration.

If the aggregate number of PPSF Shares for which stock elections is less than the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election (referred to herein as the "Shortfall Number"), then all elections made to receive the Stock Consideration will be converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration. If the Shortfall Number is equal to or less than the Non-Election Shares then all shares which elected to receive the Cash Consideration will receive the cash Consideration and the Non-Election Shares will be converted, prorata, into the Stock Consideration up to the Shortfall Number and the balance of the Non-Election Shares will receive the Cash Consideration. If the Shortfall Number exceeds the number of Non-Election Shares, then all Non-Election Shares shall be converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration and all elections to receive the Cash

Consideration will be converted into the right to receive Stock Consideration, prorata, up to the that number that when added together PPSF Shares being converted into the Stock Consideration equals the Aggregate Minimum Aggregate Stock Election.

Conversion of Shares; Exchange of Certificates; Election Procedures

Prior to the Election Period, the Exchange Agent will mail to each holder of record of PPSF Shares an Election Form and a letter of transmittal and instructions for use in surrendering for exchange their certificates for PPSF Shares, together with an election form. Holders of uncertificated PPSF Shares shall be mailed an Election Form. The letter of transmittal will specify that the risk of loss and title to the certificates for PPSF Shares will pass only upon delivery of such certificates for PPSF Shares as specified in the letter of transmittal. Each Election Form will permit the holder (or in the case of nominee record holders, the beneficial owner through proper instructions and documentation) to (i) elect to receive the Stock Consideration with respect to any number of such holder's PPSF Shares specified in the Election Form, (ii) elect to receive the Cash Consideration with respect to any number of such holder's PPSF Shares specified in the Election Form, or (iii) indicate that such holder makes no election as to such holder's PPSF Shares. The Election Period is the period that F&M and PPSF will establish, occurring between the date of mailing of these proxy materials and the tenth business day immediately preceding the Effective Time, during which holders of PPSF Shares may validly elect the form of Merger Consideration to be received for PPSF Shares. Any election will have been properly made only if the Exchange Agent has actually received a properly completed Election Form accompanied by one or more certificates for PPSF Shares, if such PPSF Shares are certificated, by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the Election Period (the "Election Deadline"). A submitted Election Form may be revoked or changed by written notice to the Exchange Agent only if such revocation or change is actually received by the Exchange Agent by the Election Deadline. PPSF Shares as to which a holder does not submit a properly completed Election Form accompanied by, if applicable, certificates for PPSF Shares by the Election Deadline will be Non-Election Shares. The Exchange Agent will make all determinations as to when any election, modification or revocation has been received and whether any such election, modification or revocation has been properly made.

Effect of the Merger on F&M Shareholders

The approval of the F&M shareholders of the Merger Agreement is not required in order to complete the Merger. F&M shareholders will also not be entitled to exchange their shares of F&M common stock for any consideration as a result of the Merger. After the Merger, F&M shareholders will continue to own the same number of F&M shares they owned before the Merger.

Background of the Merger

From time to time over the past several years, PPSF's board of directors has periodically discussed and reviewed PPSF's business, performance and prospects and has considered various strategic alternatives for the Company. In the context of such reviews, the strategic alternatives considered by PPSF's board of directors have included continuing its on-going operations as an independent institution, acquiring other depository institutions, branch offices and entering into a strategic merger with a similarly sized or larger institution. The PPSF board of directors also reviewed, with input from an investment banking firm, the competitive environment in PPSF's market area and merger and acquisition activity in the financial services industry in general and in the Ohio market area in particular.

In addition, Debra A. Geuy, President and Chief Executive Officer of PPSF, has for the past several years periodically met informally with members of senior management, generally the chief executive officer, of other financial institutions to discuss the state of the industry and related matters as well as the strategic direction of PPSF, including the possible interest in discussing a business combination. Ms. Geuy met informally with Lars B. Eller, President and Chief Executive Officer of F&M, on various occasions beginning in September 2021. No specifics regarding any potential transaction were discussed at those informal meetings.

On August 20, 2021, the PPSF board of directors held a retreat at an offsite location for a strategic planning meeting for the purpose of preparing a three-year strategic plan. The meeting was facilitated by a consultant with a broad range of experience specializing in financial institutions. Among other things, the financial consultant discussed with the PPSF board of directors the current and competitive environment in which PPSF operates, increased regulatory burdens, the uncertain operating climate going forward and PPSF's operating model and future prospects for growth as an independent company, including an alternative for growth through merger.

On October 10, 2021, representatives of Boenning made a presentation at an offsite location to assist the board of directors in analyzing the various potential strategic alternatives available to PPSF. Boenning provided the board with an overview of the financial industry in PPSF's market area, its assessment of merger and acquisition activity in the region and on a nationwide basis, and its assessment of potential business combination transactions that might be available to PPSF.

At a regularly scheduled board meeting on December 16, 2021, the PPSF board of directors discussed Peoples Bank's ability to grow commercial loans, strategic alternatives, succession, staffing, core processing and other issues related to the bank's future. The board determined it was appropriate to continue to explore potential merger partners while also evaluating Peoples Bank's other strategic options.

In January, 2022, PPSF retained Boenning as its exclusive financial advisor in connection with any business combination transaction that PPSF might determine to pursue. On January 14, 2022, PPSF's Board engaged Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP ("Vorys") to serve as its legal counsel in any potential business combination.

During February 2022 and early March 2022, Boenning worked with senior management of PPSF to prepare confidential marketing materials and to establish an electronic data room that could be accessed by interested parties who executed non-disclosure agreements ("NDAs"). During discussions with PPSF's board of directors, Boenning identified a possible universe of financial institutions that could be potential candidates for a strategic transaction with PPSF. The PPSF board instructed Boenning to reach out to these potential partners.

On March 14, 2022, Boenning contacted 30 potential business combination partners in order to assess their level of interest in discussing a possible transaction with PPSF. As a result of Boenning's inquiries, 25 of the institutions contacted, including F&M, executed a NDA and received access to the data room containing information relating to PPSF's operations and financial performance.

Following a review of the materials provided, 10 of the 25 institutions that executed a NDA submitted non-binding indications of interest on April 7, 2022, including F&M.

The PPSF board of directors met on April 12, 2022 to consider the ten non-binding indications of interest that had been received. Representatives of Boenning and Vorys participated in the board meeting. The board of directors believed that the indications of interest submitted by four of the potential candidates presented the best alternatives for PPSF and its shareholders. As a result, the board instructed Boenning to invite those four potential candidates, of which F&M was one, to perform a more detailed and comprehensive due diligence process on PPSF.

From April 19, 2022, to May 9, 2022, F&M and the other three candidates conducted comprehensive due diligence reviews of PPSF and met with members of PPSF's board and senior management team. F&M conducted its on-site due diligence on April 19 and 20, 2022 and met with some of PPSF's board and senior management team during this time.

Following an extensive due diligence process, on May 12, 2022, the four candidates submitted revised indications of interest to PPSF. A special meeting of the board of directors of PPSF was held on May 17, 2022, with representatives of Boenning and Vorys present in person and telephonically. During the meeting, Boenning

reviewed with the board the four proposals, including the proposal from F&M. F&M's indication of interest proposed a transaction with an implied purchase price of \$20.49 per share to be paid 40% in cash and 60% in stock, with a fixed exchange ratio for F&M's stock of 0.3223 and cash consideration of \$8.19 per each PPSF common share. The other three indications of interest each proposed an all cash deal, two of which were at \$23.00 per PPSF common share (referred to as "Company B" and "Company C") and the other for \$20.50 per share (referred to as "Company D"). Boenning provided a detailed analysis of each of the bidders on a stand-alone as well as a pro-forma basis when combined with PPSF and reviewed the bidding process that had been conducted. Given that F&M's proposal included a stock component, Boenning also discussed with the board the relative valuation, liquidity, dividend policy and earnings per share of F&M's stock compared to both PPSF and F&M's peers, as well as the varying tax consequences between stock and cash consideration. Vorys advised the board as to its fiduciary duties and responsibilities in considering a merger under Delaware law. Members of the PPSF board of directors asked various questions of Boenning and Vorys. Following the discussion, the board instructed Boenning to approach each of the bidders and confirm that the bids received represented each bidder's best and final offer, or whether any of them would be willing to improve its bid with respect to price or other structural elements. In addition, the board specifically instructed Boenning to ask Company B whether it would remove a clause in its bid letter that would require PPSF to have a specified minimum equity level at closing, and ask F&M whether it would allow PPSF shareholders to elect whether to receive cash or stock consideration instead of a fixed combination of cash and stock for each share. Boenning contacted all four parties and their representatives during the meeting. Companies B and C both indicated that they would not be in a position to increase the financial terms of their bids, and Company B declined to waive its minimum equity requirement. Company D indicated a willingness to increase the aggregate value of its bid by up to \$300,000, or approximately \$0.26 per PPSF common share.

F&M submitted a revised proposal with three distinct combinations of cash and stock, each at a different price, and indicated that the PPSF board could select any of the three options. F&M also agreed to include an election feature whereby PPSF shareholders could individually elect to receive consideration in cash or stock, subject to proration to achieve the desired aggregate consideration mix. Of the three options presented by F&M, the highest bid was \$24.00 per PPSF with at least 65% paid in F&M stock and up to 35% in cash. The stock portion would be based on a fixed exchange ratio of 0.6291 F&M shares for each PPSF share. As the other two options presented by F&M were at lower prices with slightly greater amounts of cash consideration, the board determined that the \$24.00 option was the most appealing of the three. The board then considered the selected option from F&M against the \$23.00 per share bids from Companies B and C, and contemplated the possibility that the fixed exchange ratio in F&M's proposal could result in a blended per share price of less than \$23.00 should F&M's stock price decline meaningfully before a transaction would be announced. The board instructed Boenning to propose to F&M a collar structure that would increase the stock exchange ratio if the implied blended consideration should fall below \$23.10 per share at the time of announcement. The board also instructed Boenning to notify Company D that it had not been chosen. The board meeting was adjourned to allow time for Boenning to engage in further discussions with F&M and its representatives.

On May 18, 2022, Boenning received confirmation from F&M that it would accept the proposed collar structure, subject to reciprocal protection that would decrease the stock exchange ratio if the implied blended consideration should rise above \$24.90 per share at announcement. Boenning also received confirmation from Company B that it had agreed to remove the minimum equity requirement from its bid. The board reconvened telephonically to discuss the responses that Boenning had received. Representatives of Boenning and Vorys also participated by telephone. Based on its review of the three remaining indications of interest, including F&M's increased proposal, the results of the process conducted by Boenning on PPSF's behalf, and the potential benefits and risks of a merger of PPSF with and into F&M, the PPSF board of directors determined to continue its discussions solely with F&M. The other institutions were advised that PPSF was not interested in continuing discussions of a business combination with them.

On May 19, 2022, PPSF entered into an exclusivity agreement with F&M to allow time for F&M to conduct additional due diligence and begin negotiating a definitive merger agreement. The exclusivity agreement also

provided a collar structure for the time period between the execution of the exclusivity agreement and the signing of the definitive Merger Agreement. The collar provided that the exchange ratio would be fixed at 0.6291 if the F&M stock price was between \$35.95 and \$40.35 per share as of the last trading session prior to signing the definitive Merger Agreement. However, the exchange ratio would float if the F&M stock price was less than \$35.95 per share to maintain a blended implied purchase price per share of \$23.10, and to the extent F&M's stock price exceeded \$40.35 per share, the exchange ratio would float to maintain a blended implied purchase price per share of \$24.90.

On May 24, 2022, F&M's legal counsel, Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP, provided Vorys an initial draft of the Merger Agreement. From receipt of the initial draft through June 14, 2022, F&M and PPSF, with the assistance of their respective legal counsels and financial advisors, continued to negotiate the terms of the definitive Merger Agreement and related documents. In addition, F&M and PPSF, with the assistance of their respective legal counsel and financial advisors, continued to discuss various matters related to the proposed combination of F&M and PPSF, including the proposed fixed exchange ratio. On June 6, 2022, certain members of PPSF management and Boenning participated in an on-site reverse due diligence review of F&M.

F&M's board of directors met on June 14, 2022, to review the draft Merger Agreement. Members of Boenning and Vorys were present in person. During the meeting, the representative of Vorys reviewed with the board of directors the terms of the Merger Agreement and the various related agreements contemplated by the Merger Agreement. She also reminded the board of its fiduciary duties under Delaware law. Members of PPSF's senior management briefed the board on the results of the due diligence review conducted on F&M. Representatives of Boenning and Vorys responded to questions from, and participated in discussions with, the directors. The PPSF board discussed the drop in F&M's market price from \$38.15 on May 11, 2022 (the price used to calculate the preliminary exchange ratio) to \$34.97 on June 13, 2022. The board recognized that, in accordance with the exclusivity agreement, the exchange ratio would likely be adjusted prior to signing the Merger Agreement based upon F&M's closing stock price on June 14, 2022, but that the blended implied purchase price per share would be no less than \$23.10. At the meeting, Boenning presented its opinion that the Merger Consideration to be received by shareholders of PPSF was fair from a financial point of view. After careful and deliberate consideration of the presentations by Boenning and Vorys as well as the interests of PPSF's shareholders, the board of directors of PPSF unanimously approved the Merger Agreement and the related documents. The board of directors of PPSF Bank also unanimously approved the bank merger agreement and related documents.

After the market closed on June 14, 2022, the parties agreed that the Exchange Ratio would be established at 0.6597 F&M shares for each share of PPSF based on F&M's closing price of \$34.28 per share, the Merger Agreement and related documents were executed, and the parties issued a joint press release announcing the Merger.

F&M's Reasons for the Merger

In reaching its decision to adopt and approve the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the F&M Board of Directors consulted with F&M management and considered a number of factors, including the following material factors:

- each of F&M's and PPSF's business, operations, financial condition, asset quality, earnings and prospects. In reviewing these factors, the F&M Board of Directors considered that the Merger (1) will expand F&M's business within the attractive market of Sidney, Ohio and surrounding markets in Shelby County; (2) will increase total loans, the key revenue source for F&M; (3) will provide F&M with the opportunity to sell F&M's broad array of products to PPSF's client base;
- its understanding of the current and prospective environment in which F&M and PPSF operate, including national and local economic conditions, the competitive environment for financial institutions generally, and the likely effect of these factors on F&M both with and without the proposed transaction;

- its review and discussions with F&M's management concerning the due diligence examination of PPSF;
- the complementary nature of the cultures of the two companies, which management believes should facilitate integration and implementation of the transaction;
- the financial and other terms of the Merger Agreement, including the fixed Exchange Ratio for the Stock Consideration, tax treatment and deal protection and termination fee provisions, which it reviewed with its outside financial and legal advisors;
- the potential risk of diverting management attention and resources from the operation of F&M's business towards the completion of the Merger; and
- the regulatory and other approvals required in connection with the Merger and the expectation that such regulatory approvals will be
 received in a timely manner and without the imposition of unacceptable conditions.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by the F&M Board of Directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but includes the material factors considered by the F&M Board of Directors. In reaching its decision to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the F&M Board of Directors did not quantify or assign any relative weights to the factors considered, and individual directors may have given different weights to different factors. The F&M Board of Directors considered all these factors as a whole, including discussions with, and questioning of, F&M's management and F&M's financial and legal advisors, and overall considered the factors to be favorable to, and to support, its determination.

For the reasons set forth above, the F&M Board of Directors determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of F&M and its shareholders, and approved and adopted the Merger Agreement.

PPSF's Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation

After careful consideration, PPSF's Board of Directors, at a meeting held on June 14, 2022, determined that the Merger Agreement is advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of PPSF and its shareholders. Accordingly, PPSF's Board of Directors adopted and approved the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and recommends that PPSF shareholders vote "FOR" the approval of the Merger Proposal. In reaching its decision to adopt and approve the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and to recommend that its shareholders approve the Merger Proposal, the PPSF board of directors evaluated the Merger and the Merger Agreement in consultation with PPSF's management, as well as PPSF's financial and legal advisors, and considered a number of factors, including the following material factors:

- The review undertaken by the PPSF board of directors, with the assistance of PPSF's financial and legal advisors, with respect to the strategic alternatives available to PPSF;
- The challenges facing PPSF as an independent institution and the PPSF board of directors' belief that combining with a larger financial institution will benefit PPSF's shareholders and the customers and communities served by Peoples Bank;
- The consideration being offered to PPSF's shareholders in relation to the market price, tangible book value per share and earnings per share of PPSF;
- The fact that the implied value of the Merger Consideration offered by F&M as of June 14, 2022 (the closing price on the day of the PPSF board of directors meeting) of \$23.10 for each share of PPSF common stock represented a premium of 122% over the closing price of PPSF common stock on June 14, 2022 and the uncertainty whether or when the PPSF common stock would trade at a level

equal to the implied value of the Merger Consideration. The PPSF board of directors understood that this multiple is favorable relative to multiples received in recent transactions involving comparable financial institutions;

- The results that could be expected to be obtained by PPSF if it continued to operate independently and the potential future trading value of PPSF common stock compared to the value of the Merger Consideration offered by F&M and the potential future trading value of the F&M common shares;
- The fact that a minimum of 65% of PPSF common shares would be exchanged for F&M stock, which would allow PPSF shareholders who receive F&M common shares in the Merger to participate in the future performance of the combined company;
- The cash/stock election provisions in the Merger Agreement providing PPSF shareholders with an ability to choose the form of consideration that they wish to receive, subject to a minimum of 65% of PPSF common shares being exchanged for F&M common shares;
- The limited prospects for PPSF to grow its franchise through additional acquisitions given the relatively limited number of acquisition prospects available to PPSF as well as the relative inability of PPSF to use its poorly-valued stock as currency in any acquisition of another depository institution;
- The results of discussions with potential merger partners contacted by Boenning, PPSF's financial advisor;
- The current and prospective environment in which PPSF operates, including national, regional and local economic conditions, the competitive environment for financial institutions, the increased regulatory burdens on financial institutions, and the uncertainties in the regulatory climate going forward;
- The scale, scope, strength and diversity of operations, product lines and delivery systems that could be achieved by combining PPSF with F&M:
- The complementary geographic locations of the PPSF and F&M branch networks;
- F&M' asset size and capital position, which would give the resulting institution over \$2.8 billion in assets;
- The earnings prospects of the combined companies and the accretion to PPSF's earnings per share and dividend on an exchange ratio adjusted basis;
- The additional products offered by F&M to its customers and the ability of the resulting institution to provide comprehensive financial services to its customers;
- PPSF's and F&M's shared community banking philosophies; and
- Boenning's opinion dated June 14, 2022, that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration was fair to PPSF's shareholders from a financial point of view. The opinion is attached as Annex C to this document. For a summary of the presentation of Boenning, see "Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor" below.

The PPSF board of directors also considered a number of potential risks and uncertainties associated with the Merger, including, without limitation, the following:

- The risk that the Merger may not be consummated or that the closing may be unduly delayed, including as a result of factors outside either F&M's or PPSF's control.
- The fact that completion of the Merger requires the regulatory approval and approval of PPSF's shareholders.
- The fact that certain PPSF directors and executive officers have financial interests in the Merger in addition to their interests as PPSF shareholders and the manner in which such interests would be affected by the Merger.

- The potential risk of diverting management attention and resources from the operation of PPSF's business towards the completion of the Merger.
- The restrictions on the conduct of PPSF's business prior to the completion of the Merger, which are customary for merger agreements
 involving financial institutions, but which, subject to specific exceptions, could delay or prevent PPSF from undertaking business
 opportunities that may arise or any other action it would otherwise take with respect to the operations of PPSF absent the pending
 completion of the Merger.
- Certain provisions of the Merger Agreement prohibit PPSF from soliciting, and limit its ability to respond to, acquisition proposals from third parties.
- The possibility that PPSF will have to pay a \$1,000,000 termination fee to F&M if the Merger Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances.
- The potential risks associated with achieving anticipated cost synergies and savings and successfully integrating PPSF's business, operations, and workforce with those of F&M and F&M Bank.
- The fact that the exchange ratio is fixed so that if the market price of F&M common stock is lower at the time of the closing of the Merger, the economic value of the Merger Consideration to be received by PPSF shareholders in exchange for their shares of common stock will also be lower.
- The other risks described under the heading "Risk Factors," beginning on page 12.

In considering the recommendation of the PPSF board of directors, you should be aware that certain directors and officers of PPSF may have interests in the Merger that are different from, or in addition to, interests of PPSF shareholders generally and may create potential conflicts of interest. The PPSF board of directors was aware of these interests and considered them when evaluating and negotiating the Merger Agreement, the Merger, and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and in recommending to PPSF's shareholders that they vote in favor of the Merger Proposal. See "THE MERGER — Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger," beginning on page 38.

The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by the PPSF board of directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but, rather, includes the material factors considered by the PPSF board of directors. In reaching its decision to adopt and approve the Merger Agreement and the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the PPSF board of directors did not quantify or assign any relative weights to the factors considered, and individual directors may have given different weights to different factors. The PPSF board of directors considered all these factors as a whole, including through its discussions with, and questioning of, PPSF's management and PPSF's financial and legal advisors, and overall considered the factors to be favorable to, and to support, its determination.

For the reasons set forth above, the PPSF board of directors has adopted and approved the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the transactions contemplated thereby, and recommends that you vote "FOR" the Merger Proposal and "FOR" the Adjournment Proposal.

Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor

PPSF engaged Boenning to render financial advisory and investment banking services to the PPSF board, including delivery of an opinion to the PPSF board as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of PPSF common stock of the merger consideration. PPSF selected Boenning because Boenning is a nationally recognized investment banking firm with substantial experience in transactions similar to the Merger. As part of its investment banking business, Boenning is regularly engaged in the valuation of financial services businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions and other corporate transactions.

As part of its engagement, representatives of Boenning attended the meeting of the PPSF board held on June 14, 2022 at which the PPSF board evaluated the Merger. At this meeting, Boenning reviewed the financial aspects of

the Merger and rendered an oral opinion, which was subsequently confirmed in writing, to the effect that, as of such date and subject to the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by Boenning as set forth in such opinion, the merger consideration to be received in the Merger by the holders of PPSF common stock was fair, from a financial point of view, to such shareholders. The PPSF board unanimously adopted the merger agreement at this meeting.

The following description of the Boenning fairness opinion is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion, which is attached as Annex C to this proxy statement/prospectus and is incorporated herein by reference, and describes the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by Boenning in preparing the opinion.

Boenning's opinion speaks only as of the date of the opinion. The opinion was for the information of, and was directed to, the PPSF board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its consideration of the financial terms of the Merger. The opinion addressed only the fairness to the holders of PPSF common stock, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration to be received in the Merger by such shareholders. It did not address the underlying business decision of PPSF to engage in the Merger or enter into the merger agreement or constitute a recommendation to the PPSF board in connection with the Merger, and it does not constitute a recommendation to any holder of PPSF common stock as to how to vote in connection with the Merger or any other matter. Boenning did not express any opinion as to the fairness of the amount or nature of the consideration to be received in the Merger by any of the officers, directors, or employees of any party to the merger agreement, or any class of such persons, relative to the merger consideration to be received by the holders of PPSF common stock in the Merger.

Boenning's opinion was reviewed and approved by Boenning's Fairness Opinion Committee in conformity with its policies and procedures established under the requirements of Rule 5150 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.

In connection with rendering the opinion described above, Boenning reviewed, analyzed and relied upon material bearing upon the financial and operating condition of PPSF and FMAO and bearing upon the Merger, including, among other things:

- the historical financial performances, current financial positions and general prospects of PPSF and FMAO and certain internal financial analyses and forecasts prepared by the management of PPSF and FMAO;
- a draft of the merger agreement;
- the stock market performance and trading history of PPSF and FMAO;
- the consolidated financial and operating data of PPSF and FMAO;
- the pro forma financial impact of the Merger on FMAO, based on assumptions relating to transaction expenses, purchase accounting
 adjustments, cost savings and other synergies determined and provided by senior management of PPSF and FMAO, and relied upon by
 Boenning at the direction of such management and with the consent of PPSF;
- the nature and financial terms of the Merger as compared with the nature and financial terms of certain other merger and business combinations in the banking industry; and
- discussions with members of PPSF's and FMAO's senior management with respect to their respective operations, historical financial statements and future prospects;

Boenning also performed such other financial analyses, studies and investigations as it considered appropriate and took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions and its experience in other transactions, as well as its experience in securities valuation and knowledge of the banking industry generally.

In conducting its review and arriving at its opinion, Boenning relied upon and assumed the accuracy and completeness of all of the financial and other information and representations made or given by PPSF and FMAO, and their respective officers, directors, auditors, counsel and other agents, and on publicly available filings, releases and other information issued by PPSF and FMAO, including financial statements, financial projections and stock price data, as well as certain information from recognized independent sources and did not independently verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information or assume any responsibility or liability for such verification, accuracy or completeness. Boenning relied upon the pro forma financial impact of the Merger on FMAO, based on assumptions relating to transaction expenses, purchase accounting adjustments, cost savings and other synergies determined and provided by senior management of PPSF and FMAO. Boenning assumed that all forecasts and projections provided to Boenning were reasonably prepared and reflected the best currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the management of PPSF and FMAO as to their most likely future financial performance. Boenning further relied on the assurances of the respective management teams of PPSF and FMAO that they were not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make any of such information inaccurate or misleading. Boenning relied on all such information without independent verification or analysis and did not in any respect assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

Boenning is not an expert in the independent verification of the adequacy of allowances for loan and lease losses and Boenning assumed, without independent verification, that the allowances for loan losses indicated on the balance sheets of PPSF and FMAO are adequate to cover such losses. In rendering its opinion, Boenning did not review any individual loans or credit files.

Boenning assumed, in all respects material to its analyses:

- that all of the representations and warranties of all parties contained in the merger agreement and all related agreements and documents were true and correct, that each party under the agreements and documents would perform all of the covenants required to be performed by such party under the agreements and documents, and that the conditions precedent in the agreements and documents would not be waived;
- that the merger agreement (the final terms of which Boenning assumed would not differ in any respect material to Boenning's analyses from the draft version reviewed by Boenning and referred to in the opinion) represented the entire agreement between the parties, that the merger agreement would not be modified or amended, and that its terms would not be superseded or supplemented by other agreements or documents, with no adjustments to the merger consideration and with no other consideration or payments in respect of PPSF common stock.
- that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals for the consummation of the Merger, no conditions would be imposed that would materially affect PPSF, FMAO, the combined entity or the contemplated benefits of the Merger, including the cost savings and related expenses expected to result from the Merger; and
- that the Merger would be treated as a tax-free reorganization for federal income tax purposes.

Boenning assumed that the Merger would be consummated in a manner that complied with the applicable provisions of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and all other applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations. Boenning was further advised by representatives of PPSF that PPSF relied upon advice from its advisors (other than Boenning) or other appropriate sources as to all legal, tax, regulatory and accounting matters. Boenning did not provide advice with respect to any such matters.

Boenning's opinion addressed only the fairness to the holders of PPSF common stock, from a financial point of view, as of the date of the opinion, of the merger consideration to be received in the Merger by such shareholders. Boenning's opinion was necessarily based upon conditions as they existed and could be evaluated on the date of such opinion and the information made available to Boenning through such date and, accordingly,

it speaks to no other period. Boenning did not and does not have an obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Boenning's opinion did not address, and Boenning expressed no view or opinion with respect to:

- the relative merits of the Merger and the other business strategies that the PPSF board considered or may have considered;
- the underlying business decision of the PPSF board to proceed with the Merger;
- the prices at which PPSF's securities or FMAO's securities may trade at any time; or
- any advice or recommendation provided by any other advisor to PPSF.

Additionally, Boenning assumed that the Merger is, in all respects, lawful under applicable law. Further, Boenning's analyses and opinion, and the financial projections on which they were based, did not reflect changes in the operations and projections of PPSF and FMAO subsequent to the date of Boenning's opinion, including changes that have resulted or may result from the social, political and economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In performing its analyses, Boenning made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, which are beyond the control of Boenning, PPSF and FMAO. Any estimates contained in the analyses performed by Boenning are not necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by these analyses. Additionally, estimates of the value of businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which such businesses or securities might actually be sold. Accordingly, these analyses and estimates are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty. In addition, the Boenning opinion was among several factors taken into consideration by the PPSF board in making its determination to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. Consequently, the analyses described below should not be viewed as determinative of the decision of the PPSF board with respect to the fairness of the merger consideration. The type and amount of consideration payable in the Merger were determined through negotiation between PPSF and FMAO, and the decision for PPSF to enter into the merger agreement was solely that of the PPSF board.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses presented by Boenning to the PPSF board in connection with its opinion. The summary is not a complete description of the financial analyses underlying the opinion or the presentation made by Boenning to the PPSF board, but summarizes the material analyses performed and presented in connection with such opinion. The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex analytical process involving various determinations as to appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances. Therefore, a fairness opinion is not readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In arriving at its opinion, Boenning did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor that it considered, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, Boenning believes that its analyses and the summary of its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and factors or focusing on the information presented below in tabular format, without considering all analyses and factors or the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the process underlying its analyses and opinion.

For purposes of the financial analyses described below, Boenning utilized an implied blended per share transaction value for the Merger of \$23.10 per outstanding share of PPSF common stock, based on the consideration of \$24.00 in cash or a fixed exchange ratio of 0.6467 shares of FMAO common stock, with up to 35% of PPSF shares being exchanged for cash and at least 65% of PPSF shares being exchanged for FMAO stock, as well as FMAO's closing price of \$34.97 on June 13, 2022. Boenning also utilized an aggregate transaction value for the Merger of \$27.0 million based on (i) the implied per share transaction value of \$23.10

per share of PPSF common stock, (ii) 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock outstanding, and (iii) no PPSF stock options outstanding.

The amount and exchange ratio of the merger consideration to be paid in the Merger was determined by PPSF and FMAO based on arm's-length negotiations without any recommendation from Boenning. PPSF imposed no limitations on Boenning's analyses or upon the scope of its due diligence in performing its analyses.

In addition to the financial analyses described below, Boenning reviewed with the PPSF board for informational purposes, among other things, the following implied transaction multiples based on the transaction value for the Merger of \$27.0 million:

- 174.8% of PPSF's March 31, 2022 tangible book value
- 28.6x PPSF's LTM March 31, 2022 net income
- 10.6% core deposit premium defined as the premium paid to tangible book value divided by PPSF's core deposits

PPSF Selected Companies Analysis. Using publicly available information, Boenning compared the financial performance, financial condition and market performance of PPSF to eight exchange-traded banks and bank holding companies headquartered in the Midwest with total assets less than \$300 million, tangible common equity / tangible assets 8% – 16% and LTM Core return on average tangible common equity less than 12%, excluding mutuals and merger targets (which we refer to as the "PPSF selected companies").

The PPSF selected companies were as follows:

Mid-Southern Bancorp, Inc. Logansport Financial Corp. Empire Bancshares, Inc. Eagle Financial Bancorp, Inc. Town Center Bank Diamond Bancshares, Inc. First Niles Financial, Inc. Sugar Creek Financial Corp.

To perform this analysis, Boenning used profitability data and other financial information as of, or for the most recent available completed fiscal quarter (which we refer to as "MRQ"), or latest 12 months (which we refer to as "LTM"), and market price information as of June 13, 2022. Certain financial data prepared by Boenning, as referenced in the tables presented below, may not correspond to the data presented in PPSF's historical financial statements as a result of the different periods, assumptions and methods used by Boenning to compute the financial data so presented.

Boenning's analysis showed the following concerning the financial condition and performance of PPSF and the PPSF selected companies for the LTM:

	PPSF Selected Companies				
(in %)	PPSF	Low	Average	Median	High
TCE / Tangible Assets	11.62	8.74	11.41	10.27	15.66
LTM Core ROAA ⁽¹⁾	0.73	0.40	0.70	0.65	1.21
LTM Core ROATCE ⁽¹⁾	6.02	3.64	6.02	5.92	10.87
LTM Efficiency Ratio	78.0	63.5	87.8	79.2	156.4
Loans / Deposits	87.0	56.0	71.3	71.4	88.9
NPAs / Assets	0.22	0.17	0.60	0.51	1.40

⁽¹⁾ Core income excludes extraordinary items, nonrecurring revenues/expenses, gain/loss on sale of securities and amortization of intangibles.

In addition, Boenning's analysis showed the following concerning the market performance of PPSF and the PPSF selected companies:

		PPSF Selected Companies			
(in % unless otherwise noted)	PPSF	Low	Average	Median	High
Dividend Yield	3.07	0.00	1.56	1.60	3.48
Price / Tangible Book Value	78.8	56.4	94.3	97.4	114.0
Price / LTM EPS (x)	12.9	6.5	16.9	13.9	34.3

None of the PPSF selected companies used as a comparison in the above analyses is identical to PPSF. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

In addition, Boenning's analysis compared pricing multiples for the Merger to the implied merger pricing multiples of the PPSF selected companies. To account for an equity control premium, Boenning applied a 27.0% premium to the PPSF selected companies based on the median one-day stock price premium for all bank and thrift merger transactions announced over the last 10 years, based on data from S&P Capital IQ Pro.

		PPSF Selected Companies			
		10th		90th	
(in % unless otherwise noted)	PPSF	Percentile	Median	Percentile	
Price / Tangible Book Value	174.8	97.0	123.7	142.5	
Price / LTM EPS (x)	28.6	10.4	17.7	35.5	
Core Deposit Premium	10.6	-1.2	1.8	8.3	

Selected Transactions Analysis

Boenning reviewed publicly available information related to three sets of selected U.S. bank transactions:

- 1. 19 selected Ohio bank and thrift transactions announced since January 1, 2017, with target assets less than \$1 billion (which we refer to as the "Ohio Group");
- 2. 18 selected Midwest bank and thrift transactions announced since January 1, 2019, with target assets \$100 million \$400 million, tangible common equity / tangible assets 10% 16%, LTM ROAE 2% 10% and NPAs / Assets less than 1.00% (which we refer to as the "Midwest Group"); and
- 3. 10 selected nationwide bank and thrift transactions announced since January 1, 2021, with target assets \$100 million \$400 million and tangible common equity / tangible assets 10%—16% (which we refer to as the "Nationwide Group").

All three sets of transactions exclude investor recapitalization transactions, transactions without disclosed deal values and mergers of equals.

Ohio Group

Buyer Name	Target Name	Announcement Date
Middlefield Banc Corp.	Liberty Bancshares, Inc.	5/26/2022
Civista Bancshares, Inc.	Comunibanc Corp.	1/10/2022
Farmers National Banc Corp.	Cortland Bancorp	6/23/2021
Savings Bancorp, Inc.	SSNB Inc	6/15/2021
Double Bottomline Corp.	Community Savings Bancorp, Inc.	6/9/2021
Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.	Perpetual Federal Savings Bank	5/4/2021
SB Financial Group, Inc.	Edon Bancorp, Inc.	2/7/2020
Farmers National Banc Corp.	Maple Leaf Financial, Inc.	8/30/2019
Consumers Bancorp, Inc.	Peoples Bancorp of Mt. Pleasant, Inc.	6/14/2019
Merchants Bancorp, Incorporated	Citizens Independent Bancorp, Inc.	12/20/2018

Buyer Name	Target Name	Announcement Date
Richwood Bancshares, Inc.	Home City Financial Corporation	7/25/2018
Forcht Bancorp, Inc.	MW Bancorp, Inc.	6/26/2018
United Bancorp, Inc.	Powhatan Point Community Bancshares, Inc.	6/14/2018
First Commonwealth Financial Corp	Garfield Acquisition Corp	1/10/2018
LCNB Corp.	Columbus First Bancorp, Inc.	12/21/2017
Peoples Bancorp Inc.	ASB Financial Corp.	10/24/2017
United Bancshares, Inc.	Benchmark Bancorp, Inc.	3/22/2017
Farmers National Banc Corp.	Monitor Bancorp, Inc.	3/13/2017
First Merchants Corporation	Arlington Bank	1/25/2017

Midwest Group

Buyer Name	Target Name	Announcement Date
Undisclosed Buyer	Washington Business Bank	5/12/2022
Dupaco Community Credit Union	Home Savings Bank	9/30/2021
HBT Financial, Inc.	NXT Bancorporation, Inc.	6/7/2021
Fidelity D & D Bancorp, Inc.	Landmark Bancorp, Inc.	2/26/2021
CBB Bancorp, Inc.	Ohana Pacific Bank	1/28/2021
Pinnacle Bankshares Corporation	Virginia Bank Bankshares, Incorporated	1/21/2020
Cambridge Financial Group, Inc.	Melrose Bancorp, Inc.	12/18/2019
Cendera Bancorp, Inc.	Cendera Financial Holdings, Inc.	11/15/2019
FB Financial Corporation	FNB Financial Corp.	9/17/2019
Summit Financial Group, Inc.	Cornerstone Financial Services, Inc.	9/17/2019
Community First Bancshares, Inc.	ABB Financial Group, Inc.	8/20/2019
Indiana Members Credit Union	Commerce Bank	8/13/2019
Eagle Bancorp Montana, Inc.	Western Holding Company of Wolf Point	8/9/2019
Three Rivers Federal Credit Union	West End Bank, S.B.	8/1/2019
BayCom Corp	TIG Bancorp	7/1/2019
Dickinson Financial Corporation II	KCB Bank	5/31/2019
Allegheny Bancshares, Inc.	Mount Hope Bankshares, Inc.	5/9/2019
Citizens Community Bancorp, Inc.	F. & M. Bancorp of Tomah, Inc.	1/22/2019

Nationwide Group

Buyer Name	Target Name	Announcement Date
Undisclosed Buyer	Washington Business Bank	5/12/2022
Friendship Bancshares, Inc.	Bank of Saint Elizabeth	10/27/2021
Eagle Bancorp Montana, Inc.	First Community Bancorp, Inc.	10/1/2021
Dupaco Community Credit Union	Home Savings Bank	9/30/2021
Seacoast Banking Corporation of FL	Business Bank of Florida, Corp.	8/23/2021
HBT Financial, Inc.	NXT Bancorporation, Inc.	6/7/2021
Fidelity D & D Bancorp, Inc.	Landmark Bancorp, Inc.	2/26/2021
First National Corporation	Bank of Fincastle	2/18/2021
CBB Bancorp, Inc.	Ohana Pacific Bank	1/28/2021
Investar Holding Corporation	Cheaha Financial Group, Inc.	1/25/2021

For each selected transaction, Boenning derived the following implied transaction statistics, in each case based on the transaction consideration value paid for the acquired company and using financial data based on the

acquired company's then latest publicly available financial statements prior to the announcement of the respective transaction:

- Price per share of common stock to tangible book value per share of common stock of the acquired company;
- Price per share of common stock to LTM core earnings per share (excludes extraordinary items, nonrecurring revenues/expenses, gain/loss on sale of securities and amortization of intangibles); and
- Core deposit premium.

The above transaction statistics for the selected transactions were compared with the corresponding transaction statistics for the Merger based on the aggregate transaction value for the Merger of \$27.0 million and using historical financial information for PPSF as of or for the 12 months ended March 31, 2022.

The results of the analysis are set forth in the following tables:

Ohio Group

	PPSF Selected Comparable Transactions	10th		90th
(in % unless otherwise noted)	PPSF	Percentile	Median	Percentile
Deal Value / Tangible Book Value	174.8	121.7	152.9	193.7
Deal Value / LTM EPS (x)	28.6	14.4	21.8	33.3
Core Deposit Premium	10.6	3.6	8.1	20.0

Midwest Group

	PPSF Selected Comparable Transactions		10th		90th
(in % unless otherwise noted)		PPSF	Percentile	Median	Percentile
Deal Value / Tangible Book Value		174.8	111.8	140.7	177.6
Deal Value / LTM EPS (x)		28.6	14.6	19.0	36.0
Core Deposit Premium		10.6	2.2	7.7	13.2

Nationwide Group

	PPSF Selected Comparable Transactions				
	•		10th		90th
(in % unless otherwise noted)		PPSF	Percentile	Median	Percentile
Deal Value / Tangible Book Value		174.8	114.0	137.9	171.9
Deal Value / LTM EPS (x)		28.6	9.2	18.5	33.9
Core Deposit Premium		10.6	2.6	5 9	12.1

No company or transaction used as a comparison in the above selected transactions analysis is identical to PPSF, FMAO or the Merger. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involves complex considerations and judgment concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

Pro Forma Results and Capital Ratios

Boenning performed a pro forma financial impact analysis that combined projected income statement and balance sheet information of PPSF and FMAO. Using closing balance sheet estimates as of March 31, 2022 for PPSF and FMAO provided by PPSF and FMAO management, FMAO analyst earnings estimates for 2022—2023, assumed long-term earnings growth rates provided by PPSF management, and pro forma assumptions

(including, without limitation, the cost savings and related expenses expected to result from the Merger) provided by FMAO management, Boenning analyzed the estimated financial impact of the Merger on certain projected financial and operating results. This analysis indicated that the Merger could be (i) accretive to FMAO's 2023 and 2024 estimated EPS, and (ii) dilutive to FMAO's estimated tangible book value per share at closing. Furthermore, the analysis indicated that, pro forma for the Merger, FMAO's tangible common equity to tangible assets ratio, leverage ratio, common equity Tier 1 ratio, Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio, and Total risk-based capital ratio at closing would be above those required to be deemed "well capitalized" under regulatory guidelines. For all of the above analyses, the actual results achieved by FMAO following the Merger may vary from the projected results, and the variations may be material.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

Boenning performed a discounted cash flow analysis to estimate a range for the implied equity value of PPSF. In this analysis, the future cash flows are derived from PPSF's financial budget and management estimates and discounted back. Cash flows include projected cash dividends as well as an assumed value of one share at the end of year five using both earnings and tangible book value multiples. The range of discount rates for PPSF was determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model, which takes into account certain factors such as the current risk-free rate, the beta of PPSF stock compared to the broader market, the Duff & Phelps risk premiums for micro-cap stocks and for commercial bank stocks and the 10-year Treasury Rate. The discount rate resulting from this method was approximately 15.0%.

The ranges of values were derived by adding (i) the present value of the estimated earnings and cash dividends that PPSF could generate over the five-year period from 2023 to 2027 and (ii) the present value of PPSF's implied terminal value at the end of such period. In calculating the net present value of PPSF using the earnings multiple, the range of price to earnings ratios used to determine possible future stock prices was 13.0x to 17.0x LTM earnings, with a midpoint of 15.0x. The mid-point multiple approximates median multiples in the peer group analysis. This discounted cash flow analysis resulted in a range of implied values per share of PPSF common stock of \$11.52 per share to \$16.61 per share with a midpoint of \$13.87 per share. In calculating the net present value of PPSF using the tangible book value multiple, the range of price to tangible book value ratios used to determine possible future stock prices was 80% to 120% of tangible book value, with a midpoint of 100%. The mid-point multiple approximates median multiples in the peer group analysis. This discounted cash flow analysis resulted in a range of implied values per share of PPSF common stock of \$8.41 per share to \$13.03 per share with a midpoint of \$10.54 per share.

The discounted cash flow analysis is a widely used valuation methodology, but the results of such methodology are highly dependent on the assumptions that must be made, including asset and earnings growth rates, terminal values, dividend payout rates and discount rates. The analysis did not purport to be indicative of the actual values or expected values of PPSF or the pro forma combined company.

Miscellaneous

Boenning acted as financial advisor to PPSF in connection with the Merger and did not act as an advisor to or agent of any other person. As part of its investment banking business, Boenning is regularly engaged in the valuation of bank and bank holding company securities in connection with acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for various other purposes. As specialists in the securities of banking companies, Boenning has experience in, and knowledge of, the valuation of banking enterprises. In the ordinary course of its broker-dealer businesses, and further to certain existing sales and trading relationships between each of PPSF and FMAO and Boenning, Boenning and its affiliates may from time to time purchase securities from, and sell securities to, PPSF and FMAO, and as a market maker in securities, Boenning and its affiliates may from time to time have a long or short position in, and buy or sell, debt or equity securities of PPSF or FMAO for its own accounts and for the accounts of its customers and clients. Boenning employees may also from time to time maintain individual positions in PPSF common stock and/or FMAO common stock.

Pursuant to the Boenning engagement agreement, PPSF agreed to pay Boenning or its assigns a cash fee equal to 1.50% of the implied transaction value, \$15,000 of which became payable upon retention of Boenning, \$75,000 of which became payable concurrently with the rendering of Boenning's opinion, and the balance of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Merger. Boenning's fee for rendering the fairness opinion was not contingent upon Boenning reaching any particular conclusion. PPSF also agreed to reimburse Boenning for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and disbursements incurred in connection with its engagement and to indemnify Boenning against certain liabilities relating to or arising out of Boenning's engagement or Boenning's role in connection therewith.

With respect to previous engagements, Boenning was engaged in June 2021 by FMAO to serve as placement agent for a private placement of subordinated debt. The offering ultimately closed on July 30, 2021, and Boenning was paid a commission for its role.

Except for the arrangement between Boenning and FMAO described in the preceding paragraph, Boenning has not had any material investment banking relationship with PPSF or FMAO during the past two years in which compensation was received or was intended to be received as a result of the relationship between Boenning, on the one hand, and PPSF or FMAO, on the other hand. Boenning may provide investment banking services to FMAO in the future (and to PPSF, if the Merger is not consummated), although there is no agreement to do so.

Rights of Dissenting Shareholders

Holders of shares of PPSF common stock who meet certain requirements are entitled to seek appraisal rights. Under Section 262 of the DGCL, holders of shares of PPSF common stock who do not vote in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement and who otherwise follow the procedures set forth in Section 262 of the DGCL (which we refer to as "Section 262") will be entitled to have their shares appraised by the Delaware Court of Chancery and to receive payment in cash for the "fair value" of the shares, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the Merger, together with interest, determined as described below.

Failure to follow precisely any of the statutory requirements could result in the loss of your appraisal rights.

The following discussion is not a complete statement of the law pertaining to appraisal rights under the DGCL and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of Section 262, which is attached to this proxy statement and prospectus as Annex B. The following summary does not constitute any legal or other advice nor does it constitute a recommendation that PPSF stockholders exercise their appraisal rights under Section 262. Only a holder of record of shares of PPSF common stock is entitled to demand appraisal of the shares registered in that holder's name. A person having a beneficial interest in shares of common stock of PPSF held of record in the name of another person, such as a broker, fiduciary, depositary or other nominee, must act promptly to cause the record holder to follow the steps summarized below properly and in a timely manner to perfect appraisal rights. If you hold your shares of PPSF common stock through a broker, bank or other nominee and you wish to exercise appraisal rights, you should consult with your broker, bank or other nominee to determine the appropriate procedures for the making of a demand for appraisal by the nominee.

Under Section 262, where a merger agreement is to be submitted for adoption at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, must notify each of its stockholders as of the record date that appraisal rights are available, and must include in the notice a copy of Section 262. This proxy statement and prospectus shall constitute such notice, and the full text of Section 262 is attached to this proxy statement and prospectus as Annex B. In connection with the Merger, any holder of shares of PPSF common stock who wishes to exercise appraisal rights, or who wishes to preserve such holder's right to do so, should review the following discussion and Annex B carefully because failure to timely and properly comply with the procedures specified may result in the loss of appraisal rights. In addition, because of the complexity of the procedures for exercising the right to seek appraisal of shares of common stock, PPSF believes that if a stockholder is considering exercising such rights such stockholder should consider seeking legal and financial advice.

Filing Written Demand

Any holder of shares of PPSF common stock wishing to exercise appraisal rights must deliver to PPSF, before the vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement at the PPSF special meeting, a written demand for the appraisal of the stockholder's shares, and that stockholder must not vote in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement. A holder of shares of PPSF common stock wishing to exercise appraisal rights must hold the shares of record on the date the written demand for appraisal is made and must continue to hold the shares of record through the effective time of the Merger. A proxy that is submitted and does not contain voting instructions will, unless revoked, be voted in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement, and will constitute a waiver of the stockholder's right of appraisal and nullify any previously delivered written demand for appraisal. Therefore, a stockholder who submits a proxy and who wishes to exercise appraisal rights must submit a proxy containing instructions to vote against the adoption of the Merger Agreement or abstaining from voting or failing to vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement. Voting against the adoption of the Merger Agreement or abstaining from voting or failing to vote on the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement will not by itself constitute a written demand for appraisal satisfying the requirements of Section 262. The written demand for appraisal must be in addition to and separate from any proxy or vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement. The demand must reasonably inform PPSF of the identity of the holder, as well as the intention of the holder to demand an appraisal of the "fair value" of the shares held by the holder. A stockholder's failure to deliver the written demand prior to the taking of the vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement at the PPSF special meeting will constitute a waiver of appraisal rights.

Only a holder of record of shares of PPSF common stock is entitled to demand appraisal rights for the shares registered in that holder's name. A demand for appraisal in respect of shares of PPSF common stock should be executed by or on behalf of the holder of record. If the shares are owned of record in a fiduciary capacity, such as by a trustee, guardian or custodian, execution of the demand should be made in that capacity, and if the shares are owned of record by more than one person, as in a joint tenancy and tenancy in common, the demand should be executed by or on behalf of all joint owners. An authorized agent, including an agent for two or more joint owners, may execute a demand for appraisal on behalf of a holder of record; however, the agent must identify the record owner or owners and expressly disclose that, in executing the demand, the agent is acting as agent for the record owner or owners. Stockholders who hold their shares in bank, brokerage accounts or other nominee forms and who wish to exercise appraisal rights are urged to consult with their bank, broker or other nominee to determine the appropriate procedures for the making of a demand for appraisal by such nominee.

All written demands for appraisal pursuant to Section 262 should be delivered to the Corporate Secretary of PPSF at Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio 45365. Any holder of shares of PPSF common stock who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined such proceeding as a named party may withdraw such holder's demand for appraisal and accept the consideration offered pursuant to the Merger Agreement by delivering to the surviving corporation of the Merger a written withdrawal of the demand for appraisal and an acceptance of the Merger Consideration; however, any such attempt to withdraw the demand made more than 60 days after the effective date of the Merger will require written approval of the surviving corporation of the Merger. No appraisal proceeding in the Delaware Court of Chancery will be dismissed without the approval of the Delaware Court of Chancery, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Delaware Court of Chancery deems just; provided, that this restriction will not affect the right of any former PPSF stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined such proceeding as a named party to withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the Merger Consideration within 60 days after the effective date of the Merger.

Notice by the Surviving Corporation

If the Merger is completed, within ten days after the effective time of the Merger, the surviving corporation of the Merger will notify each holder of shares of PPSF common stock who has made a written demand for appraisal pursuant to Section 262, and who has not voted in favor of or consented to the adoption of the Merger Agreement, that the Merger has become effective and the effective date thereof.

Filing a Petition for Appraisal

Within 120 days after the effective time of the Merger, but not thereafter, the surviving corporation of the Merger or any holder of shares of PPSF common stock who has so complied with Section 262 and is entitled to appraisal rights under Section 262, may file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the fair value of the shares held by all holders who have properly demanded appraisal of their shares. The surviving corporation of the Merger is under no obligation to file a petition or initiate any negotiations with respect to the fair value of shares of PPSF common stock. F&M, which will be the surviving corporation of the Merger, has no present intention to, and holders of PPSF common stock should assume that F&M will not, file a petition or initiate any negotiations with respect to the fair value of shares of PPSF common stock. Accordingly, any holders of shares of PPSF common stock who desire to have their shares appraised should initiate all necessary action to perfect their appraisal rights in respect of shares of PPSF common stock within the time prescribed in Section 262.

Within 120 days after the effective time of the Merger, any holder of shares of PPSF common stock who has complied with the requirements for exercise of appraisal rights will be entitled, upon written request, to receive from the surviving corporation of the Merger a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares of PPSF common stock not voted in favor of the adoption of the merger and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. The statement must be mailed to the stockholder within ten days after a written request therefor has been received by the surviving corporation of the Merger or within ten days after the expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal, whichever is later. A beneficial owner of shares held either in a voting trust or by a nominee on behalf of such person may, in such person's own name, file a petition seeking appraisal or request the foregoing statement. As noted above, however, the demand for appraisal can only be made by a stockholder of record.

If a petition for an appraisal is timely filed by a holder of shares of PPSF common stock and a copy thereof is served upon the surviving corporation of the Merger, the surviving corporation will then be obligated within 20 days of service to file with the Delaware Register in Chancery a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded appraisal of their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached. After notice is provided to the stockholders as required by the court, the Delaware Court of Chancery is empowered to conduct a hearing on the petition to determine those stockholders who have complied with Section 262 and who have become entitled to appraisal rights thereunder. The Delaware Court of Chancery may require the stockholders who demanded appraisal of their shares to submit their stock certificates to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceeding, and if any stockholder fails to comply with the direction, the Delaware Court of Chancery may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.

Judicial Determination of Fair Value

After determining the holders of shares of PPSF common stock entitled to appraisal, the Delaware Court of Chancery will appraise the "fair value" of their shares, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the Merger, together with interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining fair value, the Delaware Court of Chancery will take into account all relevant factors.

Stockholders considering seeking appraisal should be aware that the "fair value" of their shares as so determined could be more than, the same as or less than the consideration they would receive pursuant to the Merger Agreement if they did not seek appraisal of their shares. Although the parties to the Merger Agreement believe that the Merger Consideration is fair, no representation is made as to the outcome of the appraisal of fair value as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery, and PPSF stockholders should recognize that such an appraisal could result in a determination of a value higher or lower than, or the same as, the value of the Merger Consideration. Stockholders should be aware that an investment banking opinion as to the fairness, from a

financial point of view, of the consideration payable in a sale transaction, such as the Merger, is not an opinion as to, and does not otherwise address, fair value under Section 262. Neither PPSF nor F&M anticipate offering more than the Merger Consideration to any PPSF stockholder exercising appraisal rights, and each of PPSF and F&M reserves the right to assert, in any appraisal proceeding, that for purposes of Section 262, the "fair value" of a share of PPSF common stock is less than the value of the Merger Consideration, and that the methods that are generally considered acceptable in the financial community and otherwise admissible in court should be considered in the appraisal proceedings. If a petition for appraisal is not timely filed, then the right to an appraisal will cease. The costs of the action (which do not include attorneys' fees or the fees and expenses of experts) may be determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery and taxed upon the parties as the Delaware Court of Chancery deems equitable under the circumstances. The Delaware Court of Chancery may also order that all or a portion of the expenses incurred by a stockholder in connection with an appraisal, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and the fees and expenses of experts utilized in the appraisal proceeding, be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to be appraised.

Unless the court in its discretion determines otherwise for good cause shown, interest from the effective date of the Merger through the date of payment of the judgment shall be compounded quarterly and shall accrue at 5% over the Federal Reserve discount rate (including any surcharge) as established from time to time during the period between the effective date of the Merger and the date of payment of the judgment. At any time before the entry of judgment in the proceedings, the surviving corporation may pay to each stockholder entitled to appraisal an amount in cash, in which case interest shall accrue thereafter only upon the sum of (1) the difference, if any, between the amount so paid and the fair value of the shares as determined by the Court, and (2) interest theretofore accrued, unless paid at that time.

If any stockholder who demands appraisal of shares of PPSF common stock under Section 262 fails to perfect, or successfully withdraws or loses, such holder's right to appraisal, the stockholder's shares of PPSF common stock will be deemed to have been converted at the effective time of the Merger into the right to receive the Merger Consideration applicable to such shares. A stockholder will fail to perfect, or lose or withdraw, the holder's right to appraisal if no petition for appraisal is filed within 120 days after the effective time of the Merger or if the stockholder delivers to the surviving corporation of the Merger a written withdrawal of the holder's demand for appraisal and an acceptance of the Merger Consideration in accordance with Section 262.

From and after the effective time of the Merger, no dissenting stockholder shall have any rights of a stockholder of PPSF with respect to that holder's shares for any purpose, except to receive payment of fair value and to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the holder's shares of PPSF common stock, if any, payable to PPSF stockholders of record as of a time prior to the effective time of the Merger; provided, however, that if a dissenting stockholder delivers to the surviving corporation of the Merger a written withdrawal of the demand for an appraisal within 60 days after the effective time of the Merger and acceptance of the Merger, or subsequently with the written approval of the surviving corporation of the Merger, then the right of that dissenting stockholder to an appraisal will cease and the dissenting stockholder will be entitled to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. Once a petition for appraisal is filed with the Delaware Court of Chancery, however, the appraisal proceeding may not be dismissed as to any former PPSF stockholder without the approval of the court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the court deems just; provided, that such restriction shall not affect the right of any former PPSF stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined the proceeding as a named party to withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the Merger Consideration within 60 days after the effective time of the Merger.

Failure to comply strictly with all of the procedures set forth in Section 262 may result in the loss of a stockholder's statutory appraisal rights. Consequently, any PPSF stockholder wishing to exercise appraisal rights is urged to consult legal and financial advisors before attempting to exercise those rights.

Registration of F&M Common Stock

Shares of F&M common stock to be issued to PPSF shareholders in the Merger will be registered under the Securities Act. These shares may be traded freely without restriction by those PPSF shareholders not considered to be "affiliates" of F&M under the Securities Act after the Merger is complete. At the present time, there are no persons involved in the management of PPSF who are anticipated to be an "affiliate" of F&M after the Merger.

Regulatory Approvals

The Merger cannot be completed until F&M & F&M Bank receive necessary regulatory approvals, which include the approval of the FRB, ODFI and the FDIC. On June 24, 2022, F&M Bank filed applications with the ODFI and the FDIC, which applications were accepted on $[\bullet]$, 2022 and $[\bullet]$, 2022 by the FDIC and ODFI, respectively. On July 13, 2022, F&M filed an application with the FRB, which application was accepted on $[\bullet]$, 2022. F&M cannot be certain when or if FRB, ODFI or FDIC approvals will be obtained.

After the later of the FRB and FDIC's approval is received, the Merger cannot be completed for 30 days. During this 30-day waiting period, the United States Department of Justice has the authority to challenge the Merger on antitrust grounds. With the approval of the applicable federal banking agency and the Department of Justice, the waiting period can be reduced to 15 days.

The approval of the FRB, ODFI and the FDIC is not the opinion of the regulatory authorities that the Merger is favorable to the PPSF and F&M shareholders from a financial point of view or that they have considered the adequacy of the terms of the Merger. The approvals in no way constitute an endorsement or a recommendation of the Merger by any state or federal agency including the FRB, FDIC or ODFI.

Effective Time of the Merger

The Merger will be consummated if the Merger Proposal is approved by the PPSF shareholders, all required consents and approvals are obtained and all other conditions to the Merger are either satisfied or waived. The Merger will become effective when a certificate of merger is filed with the Ohio Secretary of State or at such later date and time as may be specified in the certificate of merger. The closing of the Merger will likely occur the last business day of the month in which any waiting period following the last approval of the Merger by a state or federal regulatory agency or governmental authority expires, or on such other date as agreed to by the parties. We currently anticipate that the Merger will be effective in the fourth quarter of 2022. However, completion of the Merger could be delayed if there is a delay in obtaining the required shareholder or regulatory approvals or in satisfying the other conditions to completion of the Merger. PPSF and F&M have the right, subject to certain conditions, to terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not completed by March 31, 2023.

Accounting Treatment of the Merger

F&M will account for the Merger under the "acquisition" method of accounting in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Using the acquisition method of accounting, the assets (including identified intangible assets) and liabilities of PPSF will be recorded by F&M at their respective fair values at the time of the completion of the Merger. The excess of F&M's purchase price over the net fair value of the tangible and identified intangible assets acquired over liabilities assumed will be recorded as goodwill.

The NASDAQ Capital Market Listing

F&M will file a notification with the NASDAQ Capital Market regarding the issuance of F&M common stock in the Merger. Following the Merger, the F&M shares issued to PPSF shareholders will be listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Registration Statement

F&M has filed a Registration Statement on Form S-4 with the SEC in order to register the shares of F&M common stock to be issued pursuant to the Merger under the Securities Act. Because F&M common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market, it is exempt from the statutory registration requirements of each state in the United States. Therefore, F&M has not taken any steps to register its stock under state laws.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger

When considering the recommendation of the Board of Directors of PPSF, you should be aware that certain of the directors and executive officers of PPSF have interests in the Merger other than, or in addition to, their interests as PPSF shareholders, pursuant to certain agreements and understandings that are set forth in the Merger Agreement. These interests are different from, or may be in conflict with, your interests as a PPSF shareholder. The members of PPSF's Board of Directors and the F&M's Board of Directors were aware of these additional interests, and considered them, when they approved the Merger Agreement. Except as follows, to the knowledge of PPSF, the executive officers and directors of PPSF do not have any material interest in the Merger apart from their interests as shareholders.

Agreements with PPSF and F&M. Debra A. Geuy, the President and CEO, Donna M. Williams, the Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer and Steven R. Goins, Vice President of Information Technology and Human Resources, each have employment agreements with PPSF that provide for a cash payment and insurance continuation if their employment is terminated following a change in control. These benefits under the employment agreements are cutback to the extent necessary to avoid adverse tax consequences under Internal Revenue Code Section 280G. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, PPSF will enter into agreements with these PPSF executive officers to terminate these agreements in exchange for cash payments, payable immediately prior to the Effective Time, equal to the aggregate value of the amounts that would have been payable under the employment agreements if their employment had been terminated and an undertaking to provide for the continuation of insurance coverage if their employment is terminated after the Merger. The cash payments the executive officers are entitled to receive in a lump sum upon consummation of the Merger is as follows: Ms. Geuy a payment of \$493,695, Ms. Williams a payment of \$150,466 and Mr. Goins a payment of \$101,299.

Indemnification and Continued Director and Officer Liability Coverage. From and after the effective time of the Merger, F&M has agreed to indemnify and advance expenses to each person who is now, or who has been at any time before the effective time of the Merger, an officer or director of PPSF for all actions taken by any such officer or director prior to the effective time of the Merger in their respective capacities as officers and/or directors of PPSF to the same extent as PPSF currently provides for indemnification of its officers and directors.

In addition, F&M has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to include PPSF's present and former directors and officers on its existing insurance, or to obtain directors' and officers' liability insurance "tail" policy coverage for PPSF's present and former directors and executive officers, for a period of six years, which will provide the directors and officers with coverage containing terms no less advantageous than the coverage currently provided by PPSF to such directors and officers for claims based on activity prior to the effective time of the Merger. However, F&M has no obligation during the 6-year period to pay an aggregate amount in premiums which is more than 2.0 times the annual amount spent by PPSF to maintain its current directors' and officers' insurance coverage immediately prior to the Effective Time of the Merger. If F&M is unable to obtain the coverage described above, F&M has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain as much comparable insurance as is available.

After the Merger, PPSF's officers, directors and employees who become officers, directors or employees of F&M or its subsidiaries shall have the same directors and officers insurance coverage and indemnification protection that F&M provides to other officers, directors and employees of F&M or its subsidiaries.

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following summary highlights certain material provisions of the Merger Agreement. Because this is a summary of the Merger Agreement, it does not contain a description of all of the terms of the Merger Agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Merger Agreement. You should read carefully the entire Merger Agreement, which is attached to this document as Annex A and is incorporated herein by reference.

Description of the Merger

Under the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement approved by each of PPSF's and F&M's Boards of Directors, PPSF will merge with and into F&M and the separate corporate existence of PPSF will cease. Immediately subsequent the Merger, Peoples Bank will merge with and into F&M Bank (the "Bank Merger"). The Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations of F&M and F&M Bank, as in effect prior to the Merger, will be the Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations of F&M and F&M Bank, respectively, after the Merger and the Bank Merger.

Representations and Warranties

The Merger Agreement contains some customary representations and warranties made both by PPSF and F&M, including representations and warranties relating to:

- · organization and authority;
- corporate power and authority to enter into the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;
- the fact that neither the Merger Agreement nor the Merger create a conflict or violation of certain documents, agreements, and laws or results in the creation of certain rights for a third party;
- capitalization;
- governmental or third-party filings, notices, authorizations, consents and approvals required in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;
- corporate books and records;
- compliance with law;
- the accuracy of statements made by each party;
- litigation and pending proceedings;
- financial statements;
- absence of certain material changes or events;
- absence of undisclosed liabilities (by PPSF only);
- absence of default under material contracts and agreements;
- actions affecting the tax consequences and regulatory approval of the Merger;
- loans and investments (by PPSF only);
- employee benefits plans and plan compliance (by PPSF only);
- · taxes, returns and reports;
- title to assets (by PPSF only);
- certain obligations to employees (by PPSF only);
- properties owned and leased (by PPSF only);

- shareholder rights plan (by PPSF only);
- indemnification agreements (by PPSF only);
- deposit insurance with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation;
- reports to regulatory agencies;
- absence of agreements with regulatory agencies;
- environmental matters (by PPSF only);
- compliance with the securities laws;
- compliance with the Securities and Exchange Commission filing requirements (by F&M only);
- sufficiency of funds to pay the cash portion of the Merger Consideration (by F&M only);
- no required approval from F&M shareholders (by F&M only); and
- brokerage fees.

The representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement will not survive the effective date of the Merger or the termination of the Merger Agreement. After the effective date of the Merger or termination of the Merger Agreement, neither of the parties to the Merger Agreement, or the respective officers and directors of any of them will have any liability for any of their representations and warranties made in the Merger Agreement unless the Merger Agreement is terminated as a result of a willful breach, in which case the non-breaching party may recover appropriate damages from the breaching party.

Conditions to Completion of the Merger

F&M's and PPSF's obligations to complete the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions, among other things, at or prior to the effective time of the Merger:

- 1. the approval of the Merger Agreement by the shareholders of PPSF as required by applicable law;
- 2. the Registration Statement on Form S-4, of which this proxy statement and prospectus is a part, relating to the F&M shares to be issued pursuant to the Merger Agreement, must have become effective under the Securities Act, and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued or threatened by the SEC;
- 3. the shares of F&M common stock to be issued in the Merger shall have been listed for trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market (subject to official notice of issuance);
- 4. F&M must have received an opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger will be treated as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- 5. PPSF must have received a letter from Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, dated as of the effective date of the Merger, that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger will be treated as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code:
- 6. the receipt of all regulatory approvals required for the Merger and the expiration of any regulatory waiting periods prior to consummation of the Merger;
- 7. the representations and warranties made by the parties in the Merger Agreement must be true, accurate and correct in all material respects on and as of the effective date of the Merger, except that representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or a Material Adverse Effect (as defined below) must be true and correct in all respects, and provided that for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of an earlier date, then they shall be tested as of such earlier

date. For the purpose of the Merger Agreement, a "Material Adverse Effect" means any effect, circumstance, occurrence or change that (i) is material and adverse to the financial position, results of operations or business of PPSF and Peoples Bank or F&M and F&M Bank taken as a whole, as applicable or (ii) would materially impair the ability of PPSF or F&M, as applicable, to perform its obligations under the Merger Agreement; provided, however, that a Material Adverse Effect shall not be deemed to include the impact of (a) changes in banking and similar laws of general applicability to banks or their holding companies or interpretations thereof by courts or governmental authorities, (b) changes in generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") or regulatory accounting requirements applicable to banks or their holding companies generally, (c) any modifications or changes to valuation policies and practices in connection with the Merger or restructuring charges taken in connection with the Merger, in each case in accordance with GAAP, (d) effects of any action taken with the prior written consent of the other party hereto, (e) changes in the general level of interest rates (including the impact on the securities portfolios of PPSF and Peoples Bank, or F&M and F&M Bank, as applicable) or conditions or circumstances relating to or that affect either the United States economy, financial or securities markets or the banking industry, generally, (f) changes resulting from expenses (such as legal, accounting and investment bankers' fees) incurred in connection with the Merger Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein, including without limitation payment of any amounts due to, or the provision of any benefits to, any officers or employees under agreements, plans or other arrangements in existence on the date of or contemplated by the Merger Agreement and disclosed to F&M, (g) the impact of the announcement of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and compliance with the Merger Agreement on the business, financial condition or results of operations of PPSF and Peoples Bank, or F&M and F&M Bank, as applicable, (h) the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the representations, warranties or covenants made by, or the operations of PPSF and Peoples Bank, F&M or F&M Bank, and (i) the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack within the United States or any of its possessions or offices; provided that in no event shall a change in the trading price of the F&M common stock, by itself, be considered to constitute a Material Adverse Effect on F&M (it being understood that the foregoing proviso shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any effect underlying such decline has resulted in a Material Adverse Effect);

- 8. the covenants made by the parties must have been complied with in all material respects from the date of the Merger Agreement through and as of the effective date of the Merger;
- 9. the parties must have satisfied and fully complied with in all material respects all conditions necessary to make the Merger Agreement effective;
- 10. there must be no order, decree or injunction of a court or agency of competent jurisdiction which enjoins or prohibits the consummation of the Merger;
- 11. receipt by each party of certain certificates, certain legal opinions and various closing documents;
- 12. PPSF shall have terminated the employment agreements between PPSF and Ms. Geuy, Ms. Williams, Mr. Buehler and Mr. Goins and paid the change in control payments due thereunder;
- 13. Peoples Bank and F&M Bank shall have entered into the Bank Merger Agreement;
- 14. F&M shall have authorized the issuance of the stock portion of the Merger Consideration and deposited the cash portion of the Merger Consideration, in each case, with the Exchange Agent; and
- 15. F&M shall have provided evidence to PPSF of endorsement to the PPSF director and officer liability insurance policy or purchased comparable insurance to for the protection of such persons.

The conditions to completion of the Merger are subject to waiver by the party benefiting from such condition. The conditions may also be altered by the written agreement of both parties. If these and other conditions are not satisfied or waived, F&M and/or PPSF may terminate the Merger Agreement. See "THE MERGER AGREEMENT—Termination; Waiver; Amendment," "THE MERGER—Regulatory Approvals,"

"THE MERGER—Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger," "MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES," and Annex A.

Termination; Waiver; Amendment

F&M and PPSF may terminate the Merger Agreement at any time before the Merger is completed, including after the PPSF shareholders have approved the Merger, if one of the events which gives the party the right to terminate occurs. The Merger Agreement may be terminated:

- by mutual consent of F&M and PPSF;
- 2. by either F&M or PPSF if there has been a material breach by the other of any of the covenants or any of the representations or warranties set forth in the Merger Agreement, which is not cured within thirty (30) days following written notice given by the non-breaching party to the party committing the breach;
- 3. by either F&M or PPSF in the event of (i) a material breach by the other party of any representation or warranty contained in the Merger Agreement which breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to the breaching party of such breach; (ii) a material breach by the other party of any of the covenants or agreements contained in the Merger Agreement, which breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to the breaching party of such breach; or (iii) if any event, fact or circumstance has occurred with respect to the other party that has had or could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on such party;
- 4. by either F&M or PPSF in the event of the failure of PPSF's shareholders to approve the Merger Agreement at the special meeting; provided, however, that PPSF may only terminate the Merger Agreement pursuant to this clause if it has complied in all material respects with its obligations to convene a meeting of its shareholders and use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the requisite vote to consummate the Merger;
- 5. by either F&M or PPSF if any governmental or regulatory approval required to permit the consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement shall have been denied and such denial is final and non-appealable
- 6. by either F&M or PPSF if any court or governmental or regulatory authority shall have issued a final non-appealable order enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement;
- 7. by either F&M or PPSF if the Merger has not been completed by March 31, 2023, provided the terminating party is not then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, or other agreement set forth in the Merger Agreement;
- 8. by PPSF if its Board of Directors determines in the exercise of its fiduciary duties that it must terminate the Merger Agreement after receipt of an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal from a third party;
- 9. by F&M if PPSF's Board of Directors fails to make, withdraws or modifies its recommendation to PPSF shareholders to vote for the Merger following receipt of a proposal of an acquisition from a third party;
- 10. by F&M if PPSF fails to give F&M timely notice of any inquiry by a third party with respect to an acquisition of PPSF;
- 11. by F&M if PPSF gives F&M notice that it intends to furnish information to or enter into discussions or negotiations with a third party relating to a proposed acquisition of PPSF and those negotiations are not terminated within sixty (60) days;
- 12. by F&M if greater than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding PPSF common stock have become and remain subject to a demand for payment under the dissenters' rights provisions of the DGCL. See "THE MERGER Rights of Dissenting Shareholders" beginning on page 35.

Upon termination for any of these reasons, the Merger Agreement will be void and of no further force or effect. However, if either F&M or PPSF willfully breaches any of the representations and warranties or agreements set forth in the Merger Agreement, then the other party will be entitled to recover appropriate damages for the breach. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if F&M terminates the Merger Agreement under item 9 above or if PPSF terminates the Merger Agreement in accordance with item 8 above, PPSF must pay F&M \$1,000,000 as a termination fee to reimburse F&M for the considerable time and expense invested by F&M in furtherance of the Merger.

F&M and PPSF can agree to amend the Merger Agreement and can waive their right to require the other party to adhere to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, where the law allows. However, F&M and PPSF cannot amend the Merger Agreement after the PPSF shareholders approve the Merger without their further approval if the amendment would decrease the Merger Consideration, except as otherwise provided in the Merger Agreement, or materially adversely affect the rights of PPSF shareholders or the tax consequences of the Merger to the shareholders of PPSF.

Restrictions Affecting the Parties Prior to Completion of the Merger

The Merger Agreement contains a number of restrictions regarding the conduct of the business of F&M, F&M Bank, PPSF and Peoples Bank until the Merger is completed. Among other items and subject to certain limited exceptions, PPSF may not take any of the following actions, without the prior written consent of F&M:

- make any change to its capital structure, including redemption of shares of common stock;
- authorize an additional class of stock or issue, or authorize the issuance of, any capital stock or any options or other instruments
 convertible into shares of capital stock, except pursuant to the exercise of stock options outstanding as of the date of the Merger
 Agreement;
- declare, distribute or pay any dividends, authorize a stock split or make any other distribution to its shareholders, except for PPSF's quarterly cash dividend in an amount not greater than \$0.08 per common share. F&M and PPSF will each cooperate to insure that PPSF shareholders will receive only one quarterly dividend for the quarter in which the Merger closes, and not a separate dividend from both F&M and PPSF.
- except for the fiduciary obligations of PPSF to entertain a superior third-party acquisition proposal, merge, combine or consolidate with or, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (including the sale, transfer or disposal of other real estate owned), sell its assets or securities to any other person or entity or effect a share exchange or enter into any transaction not in the ordinary course of business:
- incur any new liability or obligation, make any new commitment, payment or disbursement, enter into any new contract, agreement understanding or arrangement or engage in any new transaction, or acquire or dispose of any property, other than other real estate owned, or asset having a fair market value in excess of \$20,000 except for payments and disbursements made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, property acquired or disposed of in connection with foreclosures of mortgages or enforcement of security interests, loans in the ordinary course of business and deposit liabilities and advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank in each case in the ordinary course of business;
- subject any of its assets or properties to any mortgage, lien, or encumbrance, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- promote or increase or decrease the rate of compensation or enter into any agreement to promote or increase or decrease the rate of compensation of any director, officer, or employee of PPSF, except for promotions and non-material increases in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with its past practices;

- subject to certain exceptions, execute, create, institute, modify or amend any employee benefit plan or agreement for current or former directors, officers or employees of PPSF, change the level of benefits or payments under any such employee benefit plan or agreement or increase or decrease any severance or termination pay benefits or any other fringe or employee benefits other than as required by law or regulatory authorities or as specifically provided in the Merger Agreement;
- amend its Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws from those in effect on June 14, 2022;
- subject to certain exceptions, modify, amend or institute new employment practices or enter into, renew, modify, amend or extend any
 employment or severance agreement with any present or former directors, officers or employees of PPSF;
- fail to make additions to PPSF's reserve for loan losses or any other reserve account in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with sound banking practices;
- make any loans or establish or expand any deposit not consistent with past practice;
- other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise as an accommodation become responsible or liable for the obligations of any other individual, corporation or entity; or
- agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

This discussion of the restrictions imposed by the Merger Agreement is not intended to be exhaustive, but includes material restrictions imposed on the parties. Please refer to the Merger Agreement, attached as Annex A, for a complete listing of the restrictions.

Agreement Not to Solicit Other Offers

PPSF has agreed that it will not, whether directly or indirectly, solicit, encourage, or facilitate inquiries or proposals, or enter into an agreement with respect thereto, or initiate or participate in any negotiations or discussions with any third party regarding other acquisition proposals, or furnish any information to a third party proposing or seeking an acquisition proposal. PPSF may, however, provide such information (subject to a customary confidentiality agreement) or participate in such negotiations or discussion in response to an unsolicited acquisition proposal, which does not otherwise violate the non-solicitation terms of the Merger Agreement, if the PPSF board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that such action is necessary in order to act in a manner consistent with the directors' fiduciary duties. Additionally, PPSF must notify F&M as soon as reasonably practicable if it receives any request for information or any inquiry, proposal, discussion, or indication of interest with respect to any acquisition proposal from a third party, and also advise F&M of the material terms and conditions and identity of the third party with respect to such request or acquisition proposal.

Moreover, prior to obtaining shareholder approval, PPSF may, under certain specified circumstances, withdraw, modify, or change in a manner adverse to F&M, its recommendation to its shareholders with respect to the Merger Proposal and/or terminate the Merger Agreement in order to enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to an acquisition proposal from a third party, if the PPSF board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that such acquisition proposal is more favorable to PPSF shareholder than the Merger and that it is necessary in order to act in a manner consistent with the directors' fiduciary duties. However, PPSF cannot take any of those actions in response to a superior acquisition proposal unless (i) it provides F&M with notice and a ten-business-day period to engage in good faith negotiations so that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement may still be effected and (ii) at the end of such ten-business-day period, PPSF's Board of Directors continues to reasonably believe that the acquisition proposal at issue constitutes a superior acquisition proposal.

Fees and Expenses

F&M and PPSF will pay their own fees, costs, and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger, including the fees of any investment bankers engaged by such party.

Management After the Merger

F&M will be the surviving corporation in the Merger and PPSF's separate corporate existence will cease. Accordingly, the directors and officers of PPSF will no longer serve in such capacities after the completion of the Merger.

The directors of F&M and F&M Bank immediately prior to the Merger and the Bank Merger will continue to be the directors of F&M and F&M Bank following the Merger and the Bank Merger until they resign or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

The officers of F&M and F&M Bank immediately prior to the Merger will continue to be the officers of F&M and F&M Bank following the Mergers until they resign or until their successors are duly elected and qualified.

Indemnification and Insurance of PPSF Directors and Officers

From and after the effective time of the Merger, F&M has agreed to indemnify and advance expenses to each person who is now, or who has been at any time before the effective time of the Merger, an officer or director of PPSF for all actions taken by any such officer of director prior to the effective time of the Merger in their respective capacities as officers and/or directors of PPSF to the same extent as PPSF currently provides for indemnification of its officers and directors.

In addition, F&M has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to include PPSF's present and former directors and officers on its existing insurance, or to obtain directors' and officers' liability insurance "tail" policy coverage for PPSF's present and former directors and executive officers, for a period of six years, which will provide the directors and officers with coverage containing terms no less advantageous than the coverage currently provided by PPSF to such directors and officers for claims based on activity prior to the effective time of the Merger. However, F&M has no obligation during the 6-year period to pay an aggregate amount in premiums which is more than 2.0 times the annual amount spent by PPSF to maintain its current directors' and officers' insurance coverage immediately prior to the Effective Time of the Merger. If F&M is unable to obtain the coverage described above, F&M has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain as much comparable insurance as is available.

After the Merger, PPSF's officers and employees who become officers or employees of F&M or its subsidiaries shall have the same directors and officers insurance coverage and indemnification protection that F&M provides to other officers and employees of F&M or its subsidiaries.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Merger Agreement provides, subject to discretionary decisions of F&M, that the current employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank who continue as employees of F&M or its subsidiaries following the Merger will be entitled to participate in the employee benefit plans of F&M and F&M Bank. With respect to each employee benefit plan or benefit arrangement maintained by F&M in which employees of PPSF subsequently participate, for purposes of determining eligibility, vesting, vacation and severance entitlement, F&M will ensure that service with PPSF will be treated as service with F&M; provided, however, that service with PPSF shall not be treated as service with F&M for purposes of benefit accrual, except with respect to vacation and severance benefits.

Prior to the Effective Time of the Merger, PPSF will cause the PPSF Profit Sharing and Retirement Plan to be terminated. PPSF employees will be permitted, subject to certain conditions, to make direct rollover

contributions to the 401(k) plan maintained by F&M from the terminated PPSF Profit Sharing and Retirement Plan .

Except for officers who are receiving change in control, severance or similar payment in connection with the closing of the Merger, subject to delivery of a termination and release agreement to F&M by the entitled employee, employees who are still employed by PPSF and who F&M or F&M Bank elect not to employ after the Effective Time or do not accept employment with F&M or F&M Bank because F&M or F&M Bank's offer of employment was for less favorable compensation or at a location that is more than 25 miles from such employee's location of employment immediately prior to the Effective Time or who are terminated other than for cause within six months after the Effective Date; and (ii) who sign and deliver a termination and release agreement in a form acceptable to F&M, shall be entitled to severance pay equal to two weeks of pay, at their base rate of pay in effect at the time of termination, for each full year of continuous service with PPSF with a minimum of four weeks and a maximum of twenty-six weeks.

After the Merger, COBRA continuation coverage is available for each qualified employee or former employee of PPSF or Peoples Bank and to their respective qualified beneficiaries entitled to such coverage under applicable federal law, at such person's sole cost.

Voting Agreement

Each of the directors of PPSF has entered into a voting agreement with F&M pursuant to which each of them has agreed, subject to their fiduciary duties to entertain a superior third-party acquisition proposal under the Merger Agreement, to vote, or cause to be voted, all of their shares of PPSF common stock owned by each of them of record or beneficially, including shares owned by certain other persons over which they have voting control, in favor of the Merger Proposal. Collectively, as of the record date, PPSF directors had the power to vote, or cause to be voted, 93,851 shares, or approximately 8.04% of the outstanding shares of PPSF common stock. Additionally, pursuant to the voting agreement, each of the directors of PPSF has agreed not to sell, assign, transfer, dispose, or otherwise convey, or cause, permit, authorize, or approve of the sale, assignment, transfer, disposition, or other conveyance of, any of their shares of PPSF common stock, or interest therein, to any other person without F&M prior written consent.

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

Tax Consequences of the Merger

This section describes the intended, material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to F&M, PPSF, and U.S. holders of PPSF common stock who exchange their PPSF common stock for F&M common stock, cash or a combination of F&M common stock and cash pursuant to the Merger. F&M and PPSF intend for the Merger to be treated as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, and F&M and PPSF intend that each will be a "party to a reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The closing of the Merger is conditioned upon the receipt by F&M of an opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP and the receipt by PPSF of an opinion of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, in each case dated as of the closing date of the Merger, substantially to the effect that, on the basis of facts, representations and assumptions set forth in that opinion (including factual representations contained in certificates of officers of F&M and PPSF), the Merger will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. This section summarizes the matters addressed in the tax opinions of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP and Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this proxy statement and prospectus is a part.

F&M and PPSF have not requested and do not intend to request any ruling from the IRS as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger and the tax opinions of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP and Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP are not binding on the IRS. Consequently, there is no assurance of the accuracy of the anticipated U.S. federal income tax consequences to F&M, PPSF, and the U.S. holders of PPSF common stock described in this proxy statement/prospectus.

The following discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code, its legislative history, existing and proposed Treasury Department regulations promulgated thereunder, published IRS rulings, and court decisions, all as currently in effect as of the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Any such change could affect the continuing validity of this discussion.

For purposes of this discussion, the term "U.S. holder" is a beneficial owner of PPSF common stock who, for U.S. federal income tax purposes is:

- a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or an entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state or political subdivision thereof;
- a trust that (1) is subject to (A) the primary supervision of a court within the U.S. and (B) the authority of one or more U.S. persons to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Department regulations to be treated as a U.S. person; or
- an estate that is subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income regardless of its source.

If a partnership (including for this purpose any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds PPSF common stock, the tax treatment of a partner generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partnership, or a partner in such partnership, holding PPSF common stock, you should consult your tax advisor.

Holders of PPSF common stock that are not U.S. holders may have different tax consequences than those described above and are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax treatment to them under U.S. and non-U.S. laws.

This discussion is addressed only to those PPSF shareholders who hold their PPSF common stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code (generally, property held for

investment), and does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to particular PPSF shareholders in light of their individual circumstances or to PPSF shareholders who are subject to special rules, such as:

- mutual funds, banks, thrifts or other financial institutions;
- S corporations, partnerships or other pass-through entities (and investors in those pass-through entities);
- retirement plans or pension funds;
- insurance companies;
- tax-exempt organizations;
- dealers or brokers in stocks and securities, or currencies;
- traders in securities that elect to use the mark-to-market method of accounting;
- regulated investment companies;
- real estate investment trusts;
- persons who exercise dissenters' rights;
- persons who hold PPSF common stock as part of a straddle, hedge, constructive sale, conversion transaction or other risk management transaction:
- persons who purchase or sell their PPSF common stock as part of a wash sale;
- expatriates or persons who have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar;
- persons who are not U.S. holders; and
- persons who acquired their PPSF common stock through the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation or through a tax qualified retirement plan.

In addition, this discussion does not address any alternative minimum tax, the Medicare tax on investment income, state, local or non-U.S. tax laws or the application of any U.S. federal taxes other than U.S. federal income taxes (such as U.S. federal estate or gift taxes). Determining the actual tax consequences of the Merger to a holder of PPSF common stock may be complex. All holders of PPSF common stock should consult their tax advisors as to the specific tax consequences of the Merger to them, including the applicability and effect of the alternative minimum tax and any federal, state, local, foreign and other tax laws. In addition, because a holder of PPSF common stock may receive a mix of cash and stock despite having made a cash election or stock election, it will not be possible for holders of PPSF common stock to determine the specific tax consequences of the Merger to them at the time of making the election.

Reorganization Treatment

The Merger is intended to be a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, and F&M and PPSF are each intended to be a "party to a reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. If the intended reorganization treatment is respected by the IRS and the courts, then the material U.S. federal income tax consequences will be as follows:

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to F&M and PPSF.

No gain or loss will be recognized by F&M or PPSF as a result of the Merger. The tax basis of the assets of PPSF in the hands of F&M will be the same as the tax basis of such assets in the hands of PPSF immediately prior to the Merger. The holding period of the assets of PPSF to be received by F&M will include the period during which such assets were held by PPSF.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to PPSF Shareholders who Receive Only F&M Common Stock.

A U.S. holder of PPSF common stock who receives solely F&M common stock in the Merger will recognize no gain or loss with respect to F&M common stock such U.S. holder receives pursuant to the Merger. (With respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional F&M common share, see "— Cash In Lieu of Fractional Shares" below.) The tax basis of the F&M common stock received by such a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock in the exchange will be equal (except for the tax basis attributable to any fractional F&M common share, as discussed below) to the tax basis of PPSF common stock surrendered by such U.S. holder in exchange for F&M common stock. The holding period of the F&M common stock received by such a U.S. holder (including any fractional F&M common share) will include the holding period of PPSF common stock surrendered in exchange for F&M common stock.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to PPSF Shareholders who Receive Only Cash.

A U.S. holder of PPSF common stock who receives solely cash in exchange for all of its PPSF common stock and does not constructively own F&M's common stock after the Merger (see "— Possible Dividend Treatment" below), will recognize a gain or loss for federal income tax purposes equal to the difference between the cash received and such U.S. holder's tax basis in PPSF common stock surrendered in exchange for the cash. Such gain or loss will be a capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if such U.S. holder has held such PPSF common stock for more than one year as of the effective date of the Merger. Long-term capital gain of certain non-corporate holders of PPSF common stock, including individuals, generally is taxed at preferential rates. The Internal Revenue Code contains limitations on the extent to which a taxpayer may deduct capital losses from ordinary income.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to PPSF Shareholders who Receive a Combination of Cash and F&M Common Stock.

A U.S. holder of PPSF common stock will recognize gain (but not loss) with respect to the F&M common stock and cash such U.S. holder receives pursuant to the Merger, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the amount by which the sum of the fair market value of the F&M common stock and the amount of cash received by such U.S. holder (other than cash received in lieu of a fractional F&M common share), exceeds such U.S. holder's basis in its PPSF common stock, and (ii) the amount of cash received by such U.S. holder (other than any cash received in lieu of a fractional F&M common share, as discussed under "— *Cash In Lieu of Fractional Shares*" below). Subject to possible dividend treatment (as discussed under "— *Possible Dividend Treatment*" below), gain that U.S. holders of PPSF common stock recognize in connection with the Merger will constitute capital gain and will constitute long-term capital gain if such U.S. holders have held their PPSF common stock for more than one year as of the effective date of the Merger. Long-term capital gain of certain non-corporate holders of PPSF common stock, including individuals, generally is taxed at preferential rates.

The tax basis of the F&M common stock received by a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock in the Merger (including a fractional F&M common share, if any, deemed issued and redeemed by F&M) will be the same as the tax basis of the PPSF common stock surrendered in exchange for the F&M common stock and cash, reduced by the amount of cash received by such U.S. holder in the Merger (other than any cash received in lieu of a fractional F&M common share), and increased by any gain recognized by such U.S. holder in the Merger (including any portion of the gain that is treated as a dividend (as described below), but excluding any gain or loss resulting from the deemed issuance and redemption of a fractional F&M common share). The holding period for F&M common stock received by such U.S. holder (including a fractional F&M common share, if any, deemed to be issued and redeemed by F&M) will include such U.S. holder's holding period for PPSF common stock surrendered in exchange for the F&M common stock. If a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock acquired different blocks of PPSF common stock at different times or at different prices, any gain or loss will be determined separately with respect to each block of PPSF common stock. In computing the amount of gain realized, if any, a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock may not offset a loss

realized on one block of stock against the gain realized on another block of stock. U.S. holders of PPSF common stock should consult their tax advisors regarding the manner in which F&M common stock and cash received in the Merger should be allocated among different blocks of PPSF common stock and regarding their bases and holding periods in the particular shares of F&M common stock received in the Merger.

Cash in Lieu of Fractional Shares

A U.S. holder of PPSF common stock who receives cash in lieu of a fractional share of F&M common stock generally will be treated as having received such fractional share and then having received such cash in redemption of such fractional share. Gain or loss generally will be recognized based on the difference between the amount of cash received in lieu of the fractional share and the portion of the U.S. holder's aggregate adjusted basis in the PPSF common stock surrendered that is allocable to the fractional share. Subject to possible dividend treatment (as discussed below under "— Possible Dividend Treatment"), such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. holder's holding period for its PPSF common stock exceeds one year as of the effective date of the Merger. Long-term capital gain of certain non-corporate holders of PPSF common stock, including individuals, generally is taxed at preferential rates. The Internal Revenue Code contains limitations on the extent to which a taxpayer may deduct capital losses from ordinary income.

Possible Dividend Treatment

In some cases described above, the gain recognized by a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock could be treated as having the effect of the distribution of a dividend under the tests set forth in Section 302 of the Internal Revenue Code, in which case such gain would be treated as dividend income. Because the possibility of dividend treatment depends primarily upon each holder's particular circumstances, including the application of certain constructive ownership rules, U.S. holders of PPSF common stock should consult with their tax advisors regarding the application of the foregoing rules to their particular circumstances.

Backup Withholding and Reporting Requirements

Under certain circumstances, cash payments made to a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock pursuant to the Merger may be subject to backup withholding at a rate of 24% of the cash payable to the U.S. holder (including any cash received in lieu of a fractional F&M common share), unless the U.S. holder furnishes its taxpayer identification number in the manner prescribed in applicable Treasury Department regulations, and such U.S. holder otherwise complies with all applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Any amounts withheld from payments to a U.S. holder under the backup withholding rules are not an additional tax and will be allowed as a refund or credit against the U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS. A U.S. holder of PPSF common stock who receives F&M common stock as a result of the Merger will be required to retain records pertaining to the Merger, including records relating to the number of shares and the tax basis of such U.S. holder's PPSF common stock under Treasury Department regulations section 1.368-3. Each U.S. holder of PPSF common stock who is required to file a U.S. federal income tax return and who is a "significant holder" that receives F&M common stock in the Merger will be required to file a statement with such U.S. federal income tax return in accordance with Treasury Department regulations section 1.368-3 setting forth such U.S. holder's basis in the PPSF common stock surrendered, the fair market value of the F&M common stock and cash received in the Merger, and certain other information.

The preceding discussion of material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger is included in this proxy statement and prospectus for general information only, and is intended only as a summary of material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to a U.S. holder of PPSF common stock. It is not a complete analysis or discussion of all potential tax effects that may be important to you. Each PPSF shareholder should consult with such shareholder's own tax advisor regarding the specific tax consequences to the shareholder of the Merger, including the application and effect of state, local and foreign income and other tax laws.

DESCRIPTION OF F&M

The following information should be read with the financial statements incorporated by reference into this proxy statement and prospectus.

Business

F&M is a financial holding company headquartered in Archbold, Ohio that was organized in 1985. F&M's common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO." For federal income tax purposes, F&M is taxed as a C corporation under the Internal Revenue Code. F&M is the parent holding company of F&M Bank, an Ohio chartered commercial bank, which opened for business in Archbold, Ohio, in 1897, and F&M Risk Management, Inc., a captive insurance company founded in December 2014. F&M Bank has a total of 30 banking locations with 18 in Northwest Ohio and 12 in Northeast Indiana. F&M Bank's business activities are currently limited to one significant business segment, which is community banking. F&M Bank also operates FM Investment Services as a division of its operations. FM Investment Services offers non-deposit investment and insurance products.

As of March 31, 2022, F&M had consolidated assets of approximately \$2.686 billion, deposits of \$2.254 billion and shareholders' equity of \$286.5]million. As of March 31, 2022, F&M and its subsidiaries had 382 full-time equivalent employees.

F&M's principal office is located at 307 North Defiance Street, Archbold, Ohio 43502. Its telephone number is (419) 446-2501.

Incorporation of Certain Information Regarding F&M by Reference

The foregoing information concerning F&M does not purport to be complete. Additional information relating to F&M's business, management, executive officer and director compensation, voting securities and certain relationships is incorporated by reference in this document from other documents filed by F&M with the SEC and listed under "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59. If you desire copies of any of these documents, you may contact F&M at its address or telephone number indicated under "WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION" on page 59.

DESCRIPTION OF PPSF

The following information should be read with the financial statements included within this proxy statement and prospectus.

Business

PPSF is a Delaware corporation and parent holding company of Peoples Bank, which is a federal stock savings and loan association headquartered in Sidney, Ohio. PPSF common stock is traded on the OTC Pink®Open Market. PPSF's sole business activity is community banking.

Peoples Bank operates from its main office location at 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio and its branches in Anna and Jackson Center, Ohio. PPSF's primary business activity is the origination of one-to-four family residential real estate loans and farm real estate loans and, to a lesser extent, non-farm non-residential real estate loans, agricultural loans, commercial loans, and consumer loans.

Peoples Bank's primary regulator is the OCC and PPSF is regulated by the FRB.

At March 31, 2022, PPSF reported \$132.7 million in total assets, \$99.9 million in loans, \$114.8 million in deposits and \$15.4 million in tangible common equity and had 28 full-time equivalent employees.

The principal executive offices of PPSF are located at 101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 45365. The telephone number for PPSF is (937) 492-6129.

Market for Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters

Shares of PPSF common stock are traded on the OTC Pink®Open Market.

	(\$) High(1)	(\$) Low(1)	Dividends (\$) Declared
Quarter End			
June 30, 2022	23.75	10.30	.08
March 31, 2022	11.75	10.24	.06
December 31, 2021	37.99	9.51	.06
September 30, 2021	10.10	9.50	.06
June 30, 2021	9.85	9.03	.06
March 31, 2021	9.90	8.31	.06
December 31, 2020	9.75	8.90	.06
September 30, 2020	10.00	8.07	.06
June 30, 2020	9.60	8.02	.06
March 31, 2020	13.00	9.00	.09
December 31, 2019	13.00	12.46	.09
September 30, 2019	15.00	12.70	.08
June 30, 2019	13.44	12.15	.08
March 31, 2019	12.99	11.10	.08

Subject to certain limitations set forth in the Merger Agreement, PPSF intends to continue its policy of paying quarterly dividends; however, future cash dividend payments will depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, capital requirements, regulatory limitations, PPSF's financial condition, results of operations.

The following table presents high and low pricing information for PPSF common stock on June 14, 2022, the last full trading day before the Merger was publicly announced, and [•], 2022, the last practicable day for which information was available prior to the date of this proxy statement and prospectus from an arm's length sales transaction, based upon the information provided above.

	High(1)	Low(1)	Close(1)
June 14, 2022	\$10.42	\$10.42	\$10.42
, 2022			

(1) The common stock of PPSF is traded in the over the counter market on the OTC Pink®Open Market.

COMPARISON OF COMMON STOCK

The following summary comparison of F&M common stock and PPSF common stock includes the material features of such stocks and the material differences in the rights of holders of shares of such stocks. Because this is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that is important to you and is qualified in its entirety by reference to F&M's Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations, PPSF's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, and applicable law.

Governing Law

Following the Merger, the rights of former PPSF shareholders who receive F&M common stock in the Merger will be governed by the Ohio General Corporation Law (the "OGCL") and other applicable laws of the State of Ohio, the state in which F&M is incorporated, and by F&M's Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations. The rights of PPSF shareholders are presently governed by the DGCL and other applicable laws of the State of Delaware, the state in which PPSF is incorporated, and by PPSF's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. The rights of PPSF shareholders differ in certain respects from the rights they will have as F&M shareholders.

Authorized Stock

F&M

The F&M articles of incorporation authorize 20,000,000 shares of capital stock, all of which are shares of common stock without par value.

F&M's board of directors may authorize the issuance of additional shares of common stock up to the amounts authorized in F&M's articles of incorporation without shareholder approval, subject only to the restrictions of the OGCL and the articles of incorporation.

Shareholders have the preemptive right to subscribe to additional shares of common stock when issued by F&M.

As of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus, there were 13,065,825 shares of F&M common stock issued and outstanding.

As of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus F&M has 1,352,986 shares of its common stock reserved and remaining available for issuance under its 2015 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan.

PPSF

The PPSF certificate of incorporation, as amended, authorize 4,000,000 shares of capital stock, 3,500,000 of which are shares of common stock having a par value of \$0.01 per share, and 500,000 of which are serial preferred stock.

PPSF's board of directors may authorize the issuance of additional shares of common stock and preferred stock up to the amounts authorized in PPSF's certificate of incorporation without shareholder approval, subject only to the restrictions of the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation. Additionally PPSF' shareholders do not have the preemptive right to subscribe to additional shares of common stock when issued by PPSF.

As of the date of this proxy statement and prospectus, there were 1,167,025 shares of PPSF common stock issued and outstanding.

Restrictions on Transfer of Shares

F&M

The holders of F&M common stock are generally not restricted on sales of their shares. The shares are also registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act and listed for exchange on the NASDAQ Capital Market. As a result, a public market exists for the shares of common stock.

PPSF

The holders of PPSF common stock are generally not restricted on sales of their shares. The shares are not registered under the Exchange Act and therefore PPSF does not file reports with the SEC. PPSF Shares are traded on the OTC Pink®Open. As a result, a limited public market exists for the shares of common stock.

Dividend Rights

F&M

The holders of F&M common stock are entitled to dividends and other distributions when, as and if declared by its board of directors.

Generally, the directors may declare a dividend or distribution, which may be paid in cash, property, or shares of F&M, provided that it not exceed the combination of the surplus of the corporation and the difference between the following: (i) the reduction in surplus that results from the immediate recognition of the transition obligation under statement of financial accounting standards, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board; and (ii) the aggregate amount of the transition obligation that would have been recognized as of the date of the declaration of a dividend or distribution if the corporation had elected to amortize its recognition of the transition obligation under statement of financial accounting standards.

The amount of dividends, if any, that may be declared by F&M in the future will necessarily depend upon many factors, including, among other things, future earnings, capital requirements, business conditions and capital levels of subsidiaries (since F&M is primarily dependent upon dividends paid by its subsidiaries for revenues), the discretion of F&M's board of directors and other factors that may be appropriate in determining dividend policies.

The payment of dividends to F&M by F&M Bank will also be subject to certain limitations, such as the requirement for banks to maintain adequate capital consistent with the capital adequacy guidelines promulgated by federal regulatory authorities. If a bank's capital levels are deemed inadequate, payment of dividends to its parent holding company may be prohibited. F&M Bank is not currently subject to such regulatory restriction.

PPSF

PPSF's board of directors may, from time to time, declare, and PPSF may pay, dividends on its outstanding shares of common stock.

Delaware law provides that dividends may be paid either out of a corporation's surplus or, in the event that no surplus exists, from its net profits, if any, from either the year the dividends were declared or the prior year. Capital surplus is the excess of the net assets of the corporation over the stated capital of the corporation. There are certain other regulatory and contractual restrictions on Community Bank System's ability to pay cash dividends.

As with F&M, the payment of dividends by PPSF is also subject to factors including future earnings, business conditions and capital level requirements applicable to it.

Liquidation Rights

F&M

In the event of any liquidation or dissolution of F&M, its shareholders are entitled to the remainder of its assets according to their respective pro rata rights and interests after paying or adequately providing for the payment of all known and likely to arise or become known obligations of F&M.

PPSF

As with F&M in the event of any liquidation or dissolution of PPSF, its shareholders are entitled to the remainder of its assets according to their respective pro rata rights and interests after paying or adequately providing for the payment of all known and likely to arise or become known obligations of PPSF.

Redemption

F&M

F&M may not redeem or repurchase its shares of common stock if, immediately thereafter its assets would be less than its liabilities plus its stated capital, if any, or if the corporation is insolvent, or if there is reasonable ground to believe that by such purchase or redemption it would be rendered insolvent.

PPSF

PPSF may not redeem or repurchase its shares of common stock when the capital of the corporation is impaired or when such purchase or redemption would cause any impairment of the capital of the corporation.

Voting Rights

F&M

Shareholders of F&M are entitled to one vote per share.

Unless otherwise provided by law, F&M's code of regulations or its articles of incorporation, the affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be decisive of any motion before the shareholders.

Each shareholder has the right, subject to the notice requirements provided in the OGCL, to cumulate the voting power the shareholder possesses and to give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of the shareholder's votes equals, or to distribute the shareholder's votes on the same principle among two or more candidates, as the shareholder sees fit. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the holders of common stock entitled to vote in the election.

PPSF

Shareholders of PPSF are entitled to one vote per share.

Unless otherwise provided by law or as provided in its certificate of incorporation, the affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be decisive of any motion before the shareholders

Shareholders of PPSF do not have the right to cumulate their votes in the election of directors. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the holders of common stock entitled to vote in the election.

Quorum

F&M

Thirty-three and one-third percent $(33^{1/3}\%)$ of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a shareholder meeting.

PPSF

Thirty-three and one-third percent $(33^{1}/_{3}\%)$ of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a shareholder meeting.

Size of Board of Directors and Term of Office

F&M

The code of regulations provides that the number of directors, as fixed by shareholder resolution, shall not be less than 9 nor more than 20 persons. The number of directors may also be increased or decreased by resolution of the directors, provided that the number of directors shall not be increased by the directors to more than three beyond the number fixed at the most recently held annual meeting of shareholders.

The board is not divided into classes. The current board of directors consists of 12 directors, who are elected annually.

PPSF

The certificate of incorporation of PPSF provides that the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time by the board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the whole board.

Directors are divided into three classes and each holds office for a period of three years. The current board of directors consists of 5 directors.

Nomination of Directors

F&M

Shareholders may suggest a person for nomination by sending a notice to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the board of directors no later than the 120th calendar day before the first anniversary of the date that F&M released its proxy statement to shareholders in connection with the previous year's annual meeting. The notice shall include:

- All information about the candidate that F&M would be required to disclose in a proxy statement in accordance with SEC rules.
- Consent of the candidate to serve on the board of directors, if nominated and elected.
- An agreement of the candidate to complete, upon request, questionnaire(s) customary for F&M directors.

The Committee will evaluate candidates recommended by shareholders on the same basis as candidates recommended by other sources

PPSF

Nominations to the board of directors may be made by or at the direction of the board of directors, or by a shareholder entitled to vote for the election of directors at the meeting and who has complied with the notice provisions of PPSF's bylaws.

The notice provisions of PPSF's bylaws require that a shareholder provide advance notice of at least 30 days to PPSF of a nominee, provided that if less than 40 days' notice of the meeting at which directors are to be elected is provided, then such notice must be received by PPSF not less than ten days prior to such meeting.

A shareholder notification of a nominee to PPSF must be accompanied by the information regarding the proposed nominee required by PPSF's bylaws, which include, among other things, (i) biographical, financial, and legal background information; (ii)a statement of the assets and liabilities of the nominee for the prior five fiscal years, and (ii) information as would be required to be disclosed in a solicitation of proxies for the elections of directors, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and information regarding the shareholder making such nomination

Director Removal

F&M

PPSF

The F&M directors may remove any director if, by order of court, the director Under PPSF's certificate of incorporation, any director or the entire has been found to be of unsound mind, or if the director has been adjudicated a bankrupt. In addition, all the directors or any individual director may be removed, without cause, by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power entitling them to elect directors in place of those to be removed, except that, unless all the directors are removed, no individual director shall be removed if the votes of a sufficient number of shares are cast against the director's removal that, if cumulatively voted at an election of all the directors, would be sufficient to elect at least one director.

board of directors may be removed from office at any time, but only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of common stock.

Special Meetings

F&M

Special meetings of shareholders may be called by any of the following: (i) the chairperson of the board, the president, or, in case of the president's absence, death, or disability, the vice-president authorized to exercise the authority of the president; (ii) the directors by action at a meeting, or a majority of the directors acting without a meeting; or (iii) persons who hold 25% of all shares outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting.

PPSF

Special meetings may be called on by the board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors which the board would have if there were not vacancies on the board.

Notice of Shareholder Meetings

F&M

Written notice of each annual or special meeting of the shareholders shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting.

PPSF

Except as otherwise provided by the DGCL or PPSF's certificate of incorporation, written notice of the place, date and time and the purpose or purposes, of each shareholder meeting must be given to shareholders of record entitled to vote not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of such meeting.

Action by Shareholders Without a Meeting

F&M

Any action required to be taken at any shareholders may alternatively be taken without a meeting by a written consent signed by all shareholders who would be entitled to notice of a meeting of the shareholders held for such purpose.

PPSF

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any shareholders meeting must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and may not be effected by any consent in writing.

Amendment of the Code of Regulation of F&M and Bylaws of PPSF

F&M

W112

The code of regulations may be amended in either of the following ways:

- By the affirmative vote of the shareholders, at a meeting thereof, of shares entitling them to exercise a majority of the voting power of F&M on the proposal; or
- Without a meeting, by the written consent of the holders of shares entitling them to exercise two-thirds of the voting power of F&M on the proposal.

PPSF's bylaws may be amended by the board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors which the board would have if there were not vacancies on the board, or by the shareholders of PPSF pursuant to the affirmative vote of 80% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the capital stock of PPSF entitled to vote in the election of directors.

PPSF

Amendment of the Articles of Incorporation of F&M and the Certificate of Incorporation of PPSF

F&M

PPSF

In general, any amendment to the articles of incorporation of F&M may be made by the affirmative

In general, amendments to PPSF's certificate of incorporation may be amended only if the amendment

vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the total number of shares voted with respect to such proposed amendment, provided however, that the total number majority of outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon. of shares voted in favor of the amendment represents at least a simple majority of the total voting power of F&M.

is first proposed by the PPSF board of directors and is approved by a

Under PPSF's certificate of incorporation, the affirmative vote of at least 80% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the capital stock of PPSF entitled to vote in the election of directors is required for amendments to the certificate of incorporation regarding (i) the boards authority to issue serial preferred stock, (ii) limitations on the voting rights of persons who beneficially owns greater than 10% of the common stock of PPSF, (iii) the prohibition on shareholder approval by written consent and the reservation to the board of the right to call special shareholder meetings, (iv) relating to the election and classification of directors, the limitation of director's liability, (v) changes to PPSF's bylaws, (vi) a business combination with an interested stockholder.

Required Vote for Certain Transactions

F&M

PPSF

Under the OGCL a business combination transaction involving F&M generally must be: (i) approved by the directors; and (ii) adopted by the shareholders unless F&M is the surviving corporation in the case of a merger.

If F&M is the surviving party to a merger, the agreement must also be approved by the shareholders if one of the following applies: (1) the agreement changes or conflicts with F&M's articles or code of regulations to the extent that it would require the adoption of an amendment by the shareholders; (2) the merger involves the issuance by F&M to the shareholders of the other corporation of such number of shares as will entitle them to exercise one-sixth or more of the voting power of F&M immediately after the consummation of the merger; or (3) the merger agreement makes such change in the directors of F&M as would otherwise require action by the shareholders of that corporation.

The vote of the shareholders required to adopt an agreement of merger is the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the voting power of F&M.

Under Delaware law, any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of a corporation requires approval by a majority of the outstanding shares, unless the corporation's certificate of incorporation requires a higher percentage.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

In addition to the general approval requirements for certain transactions provided under both Ohio, the following section describes certain anti-takeover statues and other shareholder protections provided by Ohio and Ohio law,

as well as by the articles of incorporation of F&M. These provisions may have the effect of discouraging or making more difficult a hostile takeover and may have the effect of discouraging premium bids for outstanding shares.

F&M

Ohio Control Share Acquisition Statute

Unless the articles or the code of regulations provide that Ohio Control Share Acquisition Statute does not apply, the OGCL provides that specified notice and informational filings and special shareholder meetings and voting procedures must occur before consummation of a proposed "control share acquisition." A control share acquisition is defined as any acquisition, directly or indirectly, of an issuer's shares that would entitle the acquirer to exercise or direct the voting power of the issuer in the election of directors within any of the following ranges:

- one-fifth or more, but less than one-third, of the voting power;
- one-third or more, but less than a majority, of the voting power; or
- a majority or more of the voting power.

Assuming compliance with the notice and information filing requirements, the proposed control share acquisition may take place only if, at a duly convened special meeting of shareholders, the acquisition is approved by both a majority of the voting power of the issuer represented at the meeting and a majority of the voting power remaining after excluding the combined voting power of the intended acquirer and the directors and officers of the issuer.

F&M has <u>not</u> opted out of the control share acquisition statute.

Ohio Merger Moratorium Statute

Chapter 1704 of the ORC prohibits specified business combinations and transactions between an "issuing public corporation" and an "interested shareholder" for at least three years after the interested shareholder attains 10% ownership, unless the board of directors of the issuing public corporation approves the transaction before the interested shareholder attains 10% ownership.

An interested shareholder is a person who either:

• owns 10% or more of the shares of the corporation or

PPSF

Delaware Antitakeover Statute

Section 203 of the DGCL the ("Delaware Antitakeover Statute") applies to Delaware corporations with a class of voting stock listed on a national securities exchange, authorized for quotation on NASDAQ, or held of record by 2,000 or more persons, and restricts transactions which may be entered into by a corporation and certain of its stockholders. PPSF is not listed on NASDAQ and does not meet the threshold test of 2,000 record holders and is therefore not subject to the provisions of Delaware Antitakeover Statute.

PPSF Certificate of Incorporation

Under PPSF's certificate of incorporation "business combinations" with "interested stockholders" that are not (i) approved by a majority of disinterested directors (generally unaffiliated with the interested stockholder), or (ii) complies with the certain "fair price" provisions of the certificate of incorporation, requires the approval of a majority of the board of directors and the affirmative vote of 80% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the capital stock of PPSF.

An interested stockholder is the beneficial owner of common stock representing 10% percent or more of the votes entitled to be cast, an affiliate or PPSF who was an interested stockholder at any time during the preceding two years, or an assignee or successor in interest of shares which were owned at any time during the preceding two years by an interested stockholder

A "business combination" includes (i) mergers and consolidations, (ii) certain sales and leases or other transactions equaling or exceeding 25% or more of PPSF's assets, (iii) the issuance or transfer of securities of PPSF in exchange for property equaling or exceeding 25% of the assets of PPSF, (iv) adoption of a plan or proposal of liquidation; or (v) any reclassification of securities or recapitalization, merger, consolidation which has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of equity owned by the interested stockholder.

was the owner, at any time within the three-year period immediately
prior to the date on which it is sought to be determined whether the
person is an interested shareholder, of a number of shares of the
public corporation sufficient to exercise 10% of the voting power of
the public corporation.

An issuing public corporation is defined as an Ohio corporation with 50 or more shareholders that has its principal place of business, principal executive offices, or substantial assets within the State of Ohio, and as to which no close corporation agreement exists. Examples of transactions regulated by the merger moratorium provisions include mergers, consolidations, voluntary dissolutions, the disposition of assets and the transfer of shares.

After the three-year period, a moratorium transaction may take place provided that certain conditions are satisfied, including that:

- prior to the interested shareholders' share acquisition date, the board of directors approved the purchase of shares by the interested shareholder;
- the transaction is approved by the holders of shares with at least two-thirds of the voting power of the corporation (or a different proportion set forth in the articles of incorporation), including at least a majority of the outstanding shares after excluding shares controlled by the interested shareholder; or
- the business combination results in shareholders, other than the interested shareholder, receiving a fair price plus interest for their shares, as determined in accordance with the statute.

F&M has <u>not</u> opted out of the Ohio merger moratorium statute.

F&M Articles of Incorporation

Under the articles of incorporation, certain business combination and stock issuance transactions between F&M and any other person or entity that is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the outstanding shares of capital voting stock of F&M require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of capital stock of

F&M which are not beneficially owned by such other party. However, this shareholder approval requirement shall not apply to any transaction, (i) with another corporation that is a majority-owned or controlled subsidiary of F&M; (ii) pursuant to a board-approved agreement with such other party that was executed prior to such other party becoming the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the outstanding shares of capital stock of F&M; or (iii) approved by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of the members of the whole board of directors of F&M at any time prior to the consummation of the transaction.

Appraisal Rights of Dissenting Shareholders

F&M

Generally an F&M shareholder is entitled to dissent from, and obtain payment of the fair value of their shares in connection with certain mergers, consolidations, conversions, combinations and majority share acquisitions; certain sales or dispositions of all, or substantially all, of the corporation's assets; certain amendments to the corporation's articles of incorporation; and certain other corporate actions taken pursuant to a shareholder vote. However, no such relief is available in certain situations where, depending upon the action in question, the shares of the corporation for which the dissenting shareholder would otherwise be entitled to relief, and/or the shares of an acquiring corporation, are listed on a national securities exchange, and no proceedings are pending to delist such shares. Shares of F&M common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "FMAO."

PPSF

Under DGCL Section 262, appraisal rights are generally available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a corporation involved in a merger or consolidation. However, no appraisal rights are available for any stock, which on the record date of the stockholder meeting to approve the transaction, is listed on a national securities exchange or NASDAQ, or held of record by more than 2,000 stockholders. PPSF common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or NASDAQ and, therefore, PPSF shareholders currently have appraisal rights if the conditions of Section 262 are met. Also, generally, no appraisal rights are available to stockholders of the surviving corporation in a merger if their approval is not required

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the F&M common stock to be issued in the Merger will be passed upon for F&M by the law firm of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP, Toledo, Ohio. Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences relating to the Merger will be passed upon for F&M by the law firm of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP, Toledo, Ohio and for PPSF by the law firm of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP.

EXPERTS

The audited consolidated financial statements of F&M as of December 31, 2021, incorporated by reference into this document, have been audited by FORIS, LLP, independent certified public accountants, to the extent and for the periods indicated in their reports thereon, and have been so incorporated by reference in this document in reliance upon such reports of FORIS, LLP given on the authority of such firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT YEAR

F&M

Proposals of shareholders intended to be presented at the 2022 Annual Shareholder's Meeting must be received at the Company's offices at 307 North Defiance Street, Archbold, Ohio 43502, prior to November 8, 2022 for inclusion in the proxy statement and form of proxy. Proposals from shareholders for next year's Annual Meeting received by the Company after January 22, 2023 will be considered untimely. With respect to such proposals, the Company will vote all shares for which it has received proxies in the interest of the Company as determined in the sole discretion of its Board of Directors. The Company also retains its authority to discretionarily vote proxies with respect to shareholder proposals received by the Company after November 8, 2022 but prior to January 22, 2023, unless the proposing shareholder takes the necessary steps outlined in Rule 14a-4(c)(2) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to ensure the proper delivery of proxy materials related to the proposal.

PPSF

If the Merger occurs, there will be no PPSF annual meeting of shareholders for 2022. In that case, shareholder proposals must be submitted to F&M in accordance with the procedures described above.

If the Merger is not completed, PPSF will hold its 2022 annual meeting in accordance with its current governing documents and as required by Delaware law.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

F&M has filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-4 under the Securities Act, with respect to the common stock of F&M being offered in the Merger. This proxy statement and prospectus does not contain all the information set forth in the registration statement, certain parts of which are omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to F&M and the securities offered by this proxy statement and prospectus, reference is made to the registration statement. Statements contained in this proxy statement and prospectus concerning the provisions of such documents are necessarily summaries of such documents and each such statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the copy of the applicable documents filed with the SEC.

F&M files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy these materials at the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at

1-800-SEC-0330. You may also obtain additional information about F&M on its website at http://www.fm.bank. You may obtain additional information about PPSF on its website at https://pfsb-urbana.com/. However, the contents of those websites are not incorporated by reference in, or otherwise a part of, this proxy statement and prospectus and are not soliciting material.

F&M "incorporates by reference" into this proxy statement and prospectus the information in documents it files with the SEC, which means that it can disclose important information to you through those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this proxy statement and prospectus. Some information contained in this proxy statement and prospectus updates the information incorporated by reference and some information filed by F&M subsequently with the SEC will automatically update this proxy statement and prospectus.

F&M incorporates by reference the documents and information listed below:

- F&M's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021;
- F&M's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-O for the guarter ended March 31, 2023;
- F&M's Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on: January 26, 2022 (except with respect to information furnished under Item 8.01 therein), February 10, 2022, February 14, 2022 (except with respect to information furnished under Item 2.02 therein), April 15, 2022, April 22, 2022, April 20, 2022 (except with respect to information furnished under Item 2.02 therein), and June 15, 2022 (except with respect to information furnished under Item 8.01 therein);
- The description of F&M common stock set forth in the registration statement on Form 8-A filed by F&M pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act on May 3, 2017.

All documents subsequently filed by F&M with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the initial filing of the registration statement that contains this proxy statement and prospectus shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement and prospectus until [•], 2022, the date of the special meeting of the shareholders of PPSF.

You may request, either orally or in writing, a copy of the documents incorporated by reference by F&M in this proxy statement and prospectus without charge by requesting them in writing or by telephone from F&M at the following addresses and telephone number:

Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. 307 North Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 Attention: Lydia Huber, Corporate Secretary Telephone: (419) 446-2501

If you would like to request documents, please do so by [•], 2022, in order to receive them before the PPSF special meeting.

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this proxy statement and prospectus. We have authorized no one to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information in this proxy statement and prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this document. If any material change occurs during the period that this proxy statement and prospectus is required to be delivered, this proxy statement and prospectus will be supplemented or amended. All information regarding F&M in this proxy statement and prospectus has been provided by F&M, and all information in this proxy statement and prospectus regarding PPSF has been provided by PPSF.

ANNEX A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER BY AND BETWEEN FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

AND

PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Dated as of June 14, 2022

A-1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1	THE MERGER	A-5
1.1	The Merger	A-5
1.2	Closing	A-6
1.3	Effective Time	A-6
1.4	Effects of the Merger	A-6
1.5	Conversion of PPSF Shares	A-6
1.6	Dissenters Rights	A-8
1.7	F&M Shares	A-8
1.8	Articles of Incorporation Surviving Company	A-8
1.9	Code of Regulations of Surviving Bank	A-8
1.10	Names, Offices and Management	A-8
1.11	Tax Consequences; Continuity of Interest	A-8
1.12	Right to Revise Merger	A-9
1.13	Bank Merger	A-9
		A-9
1.14	Additional Actions	A-9
SECTION 2	EXCHANGE OF SHARES	A-9
2.1	F&M to Make Shares and Cash Available	A-9
2.2	Exchange of PPSF Certificates, Election Forms	A-9
2.2	Exchange of 1151 Certificates, Election 1 offis	11-7
SECTION 3	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PPSF AND PEOPLES BANK	A-11
3.1	Organization and Authority	A-11
3.2	Authorization	A-11
3.3	Capitalization	A-13
3.4	Organization Documents	A-13
3.5	Compliance with Law	A-13
3.6	Accuracy of Statements	A-14
3.7	Litigation and Pending Proceedings	A-14
3.8	Financial Statements	A-14 A-14
3.9	Absence of Certain Changes	A-14 A-15
3.10		A-15 A-15
	Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities	
3.11	Title to Assets	A-15
3.12	Loans and Investments	A-15
3.13	Employee Benefit Plans	A-16
3.14	Obligations to Employees	A-18
3.15	Taxes, Returns and Reports	A-19
3.16	Deposit Insurance	A-19
3.17	Reports	A-19
3.18	Absence of Defaults	A-20
3.19	Tax and Regulatory Matters	A-20
3.20	Real Property	A-20
3.21	Securities Law Compliance	A-21
3.22	Broker's or Finder's Fees	A-21
3.23	Shareholder Rights Plan	A-21
3.24	Indemnification Agreements	A-21
3.25	Agreements with Regulatory Agencies	A-22
3.26	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties	A-22
3.27	No Other Representations or Warranties	A-22

SECTION 4	REPRESENTATIONS & WARRANTIES OF F&M AND F&M BANK	A-22
4.1	Organization and Qualification	A-22
4.2	Authorization	A-22
4.3	Capitalization	A-23
4.4	Organizational Documents	A-23
4.5	Compliance with Law	A-24
4.6	Accuracy of Statements	A-24
4.7	Litigation and Pending Proceedings	A-24
4.8	Financial Statements	A-24
4.9	Absence of Certain Changes	A-25
4.10	Taxes, Returns and Reports	A-25
4.11	Deposit Insurance	A-25
4.12	Reports	A-25
4.13	Absence of Defaults	A-26
4.14	Tax and Regulatory Matters	A-26
4.15	Securities Law Compliance	A-26
4.16	Broker's or Finder's Fees	A-26
4.17	Agreements with Regulatory Agencies	A-26
4.18	Sufficient Funds	A-26
4.19	No Shareholder Approval	A-26
4.20	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties	A-27
4.21	No Other Representations or Warranties	A-27
SECTION 5	COVENANTS OF PPSF	A-27
5.1	Shareholder Approval	A-27
5.2	Other Approvals	A-27
5.3	Conduct of Business	A-27
5.4	Preservation of Business	A-29
5.5	Other Negotiations	A-29
5.6	Announcement; Press Releases	A-30
5.7	PPSF Disclosure Letter	A-30
5.8	Confidentiality	A-30
5.9	Cooperation	A-31
5.10	PPSF Fairness Opinion	A-31
5.11	Financial Statements and Other Reports	A-31
5.12	Adverse Actions	A-31
5.13	Employment Agreements	A-31
5.14	401(k) Plan and ESOP	A-31
SECTION 6	COVENANTS OF F&M	A-32
6.1	Approvals	A-32
6.2	Employee Benefit Plans	A-33
6.3	Announcement; Press Releases	A-34
6.4	Confidentiality	A-34
6.5	Directors and Officers Insurance	A-34
6.6	SEC and Other Reports	A-35
6.7	F&M Disclosure Letter	A-35
6.8	Adverse Actions	A-35
6.9	Cooperation	A-35
6.10	Preservation of Business	A-35

A-35

SECTION 7	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE MERGER	A-36
7.1	Shareholder Approval	A-36
7.2	Registration Statement Effective	A-36
7.3	Tax Opinions	A-36
7.4	Regulatory Approvals	A-36
7.5	Officer's Certificate	A-36
7.6	Secretary's Certificate	A-37
7.7	No Judicial Prohibition	A-37
7.8	PPSF Fairness Opinion	A-37
7.9	Termination of Employment Agreements	A-37
7.10	Exchange Fund	A-37
7.11	D & O Tail Insurance	A-37
7.12	Financial Test	A-37
7.13	Miscellaneous	A-37
SECTION 8	TERMINATION OF MERGER	A-38
8.1	Manner of Termination	A-38
8.2	Effect of Termination	A-38
SECTION 9	EFFECTIVE TIME OF THE MERGER	A-39
SECTION 10	MISCELLANEOUS	A-39
10.1	Effective Agreement	A-39
10.2	Waiver; Amendment	A-39
10.3	Notices	A-40
10.4	Headings	A-40
10.5	Severability	A-40
10.6	Counterparts	A-40
10.7	Governing Law	A-40
10.8	Entire Agreement	A-41
10.9	Expenses	A-41
10.10	Securityholder Litigation	A-41
10.11	Certain Definitions	A-41
10.12	Survival of Contents	Δ_41

Exhibits

Exhibit A—Bank Merger Agreement

Exhibit B—Voting Agreement

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

BY AND BETWEEN

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

AND

PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "Agreement") is entered as of June 14, 2022, by and among FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC., an Ohio corporation ("F&M"), and PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION a Delaware corporation ("PPSF").

WITNESETH:

WHEREAS, F&M is a registered financial holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, with its principal place of business in Archbold, Ohio;

WHEREAS, The Farmers & Merchants State Bank ("F&M Bank") is a commercial bank organized and existing under the laws of the State of Ohio, with its principal place of business in Archbold, Ohio and is a wholly owned subsidiary of F&M;

WHEREAS, PPSF is a registered savings and loan holding company under the Home Owners' Loan Act, as amended, with its principal place of business in Sidney, Ohio;

WHEREAS, Peoples Federal Savings and Loan Association ("Peoples Bank") is a federal savings and loan association organized and existing under the laws of the United States and is a wholly owned subsidiary of PPSF;

WHEREAS, it is the desire of F&M and PPSF to effect a transaction whereby PPSF will merge with and into F&M (the "Merger");

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of F&M and PPSF have approved the Merger and this Agreement and authorized its execution; and

WHEREAS, for federal income tax purposes, it is intended that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and F&M and PPSF desire to and hereby adopt this Agreement as a plan of reorganization for purposes of Sections 354 and 361 of the Code;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, F&M and PPSF hereby make this Agreement and prescribe the terms and conditions of the Merger and the mode of carrying the Merger into effect as follows.

SECTION 1

THE MERGER

1.1 <u>The Merger</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in accordance with the provisions of Title 17 of the Ohio Revised Code, as amended, the Ohio General Corporation Law (the "OGCL") and Title 8 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL") at the Effective Time, PPSF shall be merged with and into F&M, which shall be the survivor of the Merger (the "Surviving Corporation"), and which shall continue its corporate existence under the laws of the State of Ohio. Upon consummation of the Merger, the separate corporate existence of PPSF will terminate.

- 1.2 <u>Closing</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") will take place at a mutually agreeable time and place after the satisfaction or waiver (subject to applicable law) of the latest to occur of the conditions set forth in Section 7 hereof (other than those conditions that by their nature can only be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver thereof). The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the "Closing Date."
- 1.3 <u>Effective Time</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, on or before the Closing Date, F&M will cause to be filed certificates of merger (collectively the "Certificate of Merger") with the Ohio Secretary of State and the Delaware Secretary of State. The Merger will become effective as of the date and time specified in the Certificate of Merger (such date and time the "Effective Time").
- 1.4 <u>Effects of the Merger</u>. At and after the Effective Time, the Merger will have the effects set forth in the applicable provisions of the OGCL and the DGCL. The title to all assets, real estate and other property owned by F&M and PPSF shall vest in the Surviving Corporation without reversion or impairment. All liabilities of PPSF shall be assumed by the Surviving Corporation.
- 1.5 <u>Conversion of PPSF Shares</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of F&M, PPSF or the holder of any shares of PPSF:
- (a) Subject to Sections 1.6 and 2.2, each share of PPSF common stock, \$0.01 par value ("PPSF Common Stock" or "PPSF Shares"), except for PPSF Shares owned by PPSF as treasury stock or otherwise owned by PPSF or F&M (in each case other than PPSF Shares (i) held in any Employee Plans (as defined in Section 3.13) or related trust accounts, managed accounts, mutual funds or similar accounts, or otherwise held in a fiduciary or agency capacity or (ii) held, directly or indirectly, in respect of debts previously contracted (collectively, the "Exception Shares")), and Dissenting Shares, will be converted, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement, into the right to receive, without interest, one of the following (collectively, the "Merger Consideration"):
- (i) \$24.00 in cash (the "Cash Consideration") for each PPSF Share with respect to which an election to receive cash has been effectively made and not revoked or lost pursuant to Section 1.6 (a "Cash Election") (such PPSF Shares collectively, "Cash Election Shares"); or
- (ii) 0.6597 (the "Exchange Ratio") shares, no par value, of F&M common stock ("F&M Common Stock" or "F&M Shares") and such F&M Shares (the "Stock Consideration") for each PPSF Share with respect to which an election to receive F&M Shares has been effectively made and not revoked or lost pursuant to Section 1.6 (a "Stock Election") (such PPSF Shares collectively, "Stock Election Shares"); or
- (iii) for each PPSF Share, other than PPSF Shares as to which a Cash Election or a Stock Election has been effectively made and not revoked (collectively, the "Non-Election Shares"), the right to receive from F&M such Cash Consideration or Stock Consideration as is determined in accordance with Section 1.5(b).
- (b) (i) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement, but subject to Section 1.11, the total number of PPSF Shares exchanged for F&M Shares pursuant to Section 1.5(a) shall be no less than 758,566 (the "Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election").
- (ii) As soon as practicable on or within not more than two business days after the Effective Time, F&M will cause a bank or trust company designated by F&M (the "Exchange Agent") to effect the allocation among holders of PPSF Shares of rights to receive the Cash Consideration and the Stock Consideration as follows:
- (1) If the aggregate number of PPSF Shares with respect to which Stock Elections are made (the "Stock Election Number") is equal to or exceeds the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election, then all

Cash Election Shares and all Non-Election Shares of each holder thereof will be converted into the right to receive the Cash Consideration, and Stock Election Shares of each holder thereof will be converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration; and

- (2) If the Stock Election Number is less than the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election then all Stock Election Shares shall be converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration and the Non-Election Shares and Cash Election Shares shall be treated in the following manner:
 - (A) If the number of additional PPSF Shares necessary to be exchanged for the Stock Consideration in order to cause the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Election to be satisfied ("Shortfall Number"), is less than or equal to the number of Non-Election Shares, then all Cash Election Shares shall be converted into the right to receive the Cash Consideration and the Non-Election Shares of each holder thereof shall convert into the right to receive the Stock Consideration in respect of that number of Non-Election Shares equal to the product obtained by multiplying (x) the number of Non-Election Shares held by such holder by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the Shortfall Number and the denominator of which is the total number of Non-Election Shares, with the remaining number of such holder's Non-Election Shares being converted into the right to receive the Cash Consideration; or
 - (B) If the Shortfall Number exceeds the number of Non-Election Shares, then all Non-Election Shares shall be converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration, and Cash Election Shares of each holder thereof shall convert into the right to receive the Stock Consideration in respect of that number of Cash Election Shares equal to the product obtained by multiplying (x) the number of Cash Election Shares held by such holder by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount by which (1) the Shortfall Number exceeds (2) the total number of Non-Election Shares and the denominator of which is the total number of Cash Election Shares, with the remaining number of such holder's Cash Election Shares being converted into the right to receive the Cash Consideration.
- (c) No certificate or scrip representing a fractional F&M Share shall be issued in the Merger. Each holder of PPSF Shares who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional F&M Share shall be paid in cash (without interest), an amount rounded to the nearest whole cent, determined by multiplying the F&M Average Price (as defined below) by the fractional share of F&M Share to which such holder of PPSF Common Stock would otherwise be entitled. No such holder of a fractional F&M Share shall be entitled to dividends, voting rights, or any other rights in respect of any fractional share. The term "F&M Average Price" shall mean the average closing price of a share of F&M Common Stock as reported by Nasdaq for the ten (10) days that F&M Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market preceding the tenth (10th) calendar day prior to the Effective Time.
- (d) Any treasury shares held by PPSF and any PPSF Shares owned by F&M for its own account will be cancelled and retired at the Effective Time, and no consideration will be issued in exchange.
- (e) All of the PPSF Shares converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration pursuant to this Section 1.5 will no longer be outstanding and will automatically be cancelled and cease to exist as of the Effective Time, and each certificate (each, an "Old Certificate," it being understood that any reference herein to "Old Certificate" shall be deemed to include reference to book-entry account statements relating to the ownership of PPSF Shares) previously representing any such PPSF Shares will thereafter represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration described in this Section 1.5. Old Certificates previously representing PPSF Shares that are to receive the Stock Consideration will be exchanged for certificates or, at F&M's option, evidence of shares in book entry form (collectively, referred to herein as "New Certificates") representing whole F&M Shares as set forth in Section 1.5(a) (together with any dividends or distributions with respect thereto and cash in lieu of fractional shares issued in consideration therefor) upon the surrender of such Old Certificates in accordance with Section 2.2, without any interest thereon. If, between the date of this Agreement and the

Effective Time, the outstanding PPSF Shares or F&M Shares are increased, decreased, changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of shares or securities, in any such case as a result of a reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, or other similar change in capitalization, or there shall be any extraordinary dividend or distribution, an appropriate and proportionate adjustment shall be made to the Merger Consideration to give holders of PPSF Shares the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event; provided, that nothing in this sentence shall be construed to permit F&M or PPSF to take any action with respect to its securities that is prohibited by the terms of this Agreement.

- 1.6 <u>Dissenters Rights</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any issued and outstanding PPSF Shares held by a person who has not voted in favor of, or consented to, the adoption of this Agreement (each, a "**Dissenting Shareholder**") and who has otherwise complied with all the provisions of the DGCL concerning the right of holders of PPSF Shares to require payment of the fair cash value of such PPSF Shares in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL (the "**Dissenting Shares**"), will not be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration as described in Section 1.5(a), but will become the right to receive such consideration as may be determined to be due to such Dissenting Shareholder pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 262 of the DGCL. If such Dissenting Shareholder withdraws its demand for fair cash value or fails to perfect or otherwise loses its rights as a Dissenting Shareholder, in any case pursuant to the DGCL, each of such Dissenting Shareholder's PPSF Shares will be treated as though such PPSF shares had been converted into the right to receive the Stock Consideration and/or Cash Consideration as determined in F&M's sole discretion. PPSF will promptly notify F&M of each shareholder who asserts rights as a Dissenting Shareholder following receipt of such shareholder's written demand delivered as provided in Section 262 of the DGCL. Prior to the Effective Time, PPSF will not, except with the prior written consent of F&M, voluntarily make any payment or commit or agree to make any payment, or settle or commit or offer to settle, any rights of a Dissenting Shareholder asserted under Section 262 of the DGCL.
- 1.7 <u>F&M Shares</u>. At and after the Effective Time, each F&M Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time will remain issued and outstanding and not be affected by the Merger.
- 1.8 Articles of Incorporation of Surviving Corporation. At the Effective Time, the Articles of Incorporation of F&M (the "F&M Articles"), as in effect at the Effective Time, will be the Articles of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with applicable law
- 1.9 <u>Code of Regulations of Surviving Corporation</u>. At the Effective Time, the Code of Regulations of F&M (the "**F&M Code of Regulations**"), as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, will be the Code of Regulations of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with applicable law.
- 1.10 Name, Offices, and Management. The name of the Surviving Corporation shall continue to be "Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc." Its principal office shall be located at 307 North Defiance Street, Archbold, Ohio 43502. The members of the Board of Directors of F&M immediately prior to the Effective Time shall continue as the members of the Board of Directors of the Surviving Corporation, until such time as their successors are elected and qualified. The officers of F&M immediately prior to the Effective Time shall continue as the officers of the Surviving Corporation.
- 1.11 Tax Consequences; Continuity of Interest. It is intended that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and that this Agreement is intended to be and is adopted as a "plan of reorganization" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Sections 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a). Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if either of the tax opinions referred to in Section 7.3(a) or 7.3(b) cannot be rendered (as reasonably determined by Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP and Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, respectively) as a result of the Merger potentially failing to satisfy the "continuity of interest" requirements under applicable federal income tax principles relating to reorganizations under Section 368(a) of the Code, then the Minimum Aggregate Total Stock Consideration shall be increased to the minimum extent necessary to enable the relevant tax opinion to be rendered.

- 1.12 <u>Right to Revise Merger</u>. The parties may, at any time, change the method of effecting the Merger if and to the extent the parties deem such change to be desirable; provided, however, that no such change, modification or amendment shall (a) alter or change the amount or kind of consideration to be received by the shareholders of PPSF specified in Section 1.5(a) hereof as a result of the Merger, except in accordance with the terms of Section 1.5(a) and 1.5(b) hereof; (b) adversely affect the tax treatment to the shareholders of PPSF; or (c) materially impede or delay receipt of any approvals referred to in this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 1.13 <u>Bank Merger</u>. PPSF and Peoples Bank will cooperate with F&M and F&M Bank to cause Peoples Bank to merge with and into F&M Bank (the "Bank Merger") pursuant to a Bank Merger Agreement, the form of which is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "A"</u>, immediately after the Effective Time. PPSF agrees to cooperate, and shall cause Peoples Bank to cooperate, and join in with F&M and F&M Bank in the preparation, execution and processing of all applications and all director, shareholder and regulatory approvals of F&M and F&M Bank together with such approvals applicable to PPSF and Peoples Bank, necessary or appropriate to obtain regulatory, corporate and other approvals of the Bank Merger in a timely manner.
- 1.14 Additional Actions. If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall consider or be advised that any further deeds, assignments or assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable (a) to vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Surviving Corporation its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the rights, properties or assets of PPSF, or (b) otherwise carry out the purposes of this Agreement, PPSF and its officers and directors shall be deemed to have granted to the Surviving Corporation an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments or assurances in law and to do all acts necessary or proper to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such rights, properties or assets in the Surviving Corporation and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, and the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation are authorized in the name of PPSF or otherwise to take any and all such action.

SECTION 2

EXCHANGE OF SHARES

2.1 F&M to Make Shares and Cash Available. At or prior to the Effective Time, F&M will deposit, or will cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of the holders of Old Certificates, for exchange in accordance with this Section 2, a sufficient amount of cash to be paid in exchange for PPSF Shares that are to receive the Cash Consideration, and a sufficient number of F&M Shares to be exchanged for the PPSF Shares that are to receive the Stock Consideration (such cash and New Certificates, together with any dividends or disbursements, the "Exchange Fund"). The Exchange Fund will be held in trust for holders of PPSF Shares until distributed to such holders pursuant to this Agreement.

2.2 Exchange of PPSF Certificates; Election Forms.

(a) Prior to the Election Period, the Exchange Agent will mail to each holder of record of PPSF Shares a form letter of transmittal and instructions for use in surrendering for exchange the Old Certificates, together with an election form ("Election Form"). Holders of uncertificated PPSF Shares shall be mailed an Election Form. The letter of transmittal will specify that the risk of loss and title to the Old Certificates will pass only upon delivery of such Old Certificates as specified in the letter of transmittal. Each Election Form will permit the holder (or in the case of nominee record holders, the beneficial owner through proper instructions and documentation) to (i) elect to receive the Stock Consideration with respect to any number of such holder's PPSF Shares specified in the Election Form, (ii) elect to receive the Cash Consideration with respect to any number of such holder's PPSF Shares specified in the Election Form, or (iii) indicate that such holder makes no election as to such holder's PPSF Shares. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Election Period" will mean the period

as F&M and PPSF may agree, during which holders of PPSF Shares may validly elect the form of Merger Consideration to be received for PPSF Shares, occurring between (i) the date of mailing of the proxy materials related to the meeting of shareholders of PPSF (the "**Proxy Materials**"), which will be included as a part of the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed by F&M with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "**SEC**") and (ii) the tenth business day immediately preceding the Effective Time. Any election will have been properly made only if the Exchange Agent has actually received a properly completed Election Form accompanied by one or more Old Certificates, if such PPSF Shares are certificated, by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the Election Period (the "**Election Deadline**"). A submitted Election Form may be revoked or changed by written notice to the Exchange Agent only if such revocation or change is actually received by the Exchange Agent by the Election Deadline. PPSF Shares as to which a holder does not submit a properly completed Election Form accompanied by, if applicable, Old Certificates by the Election Deadline will be Non-Election Shares. The Exchange Agent will make all determinations as to when any election, modification or revocation has been received and whether any such election, modification or revocation has been properly made.

- (b) All payments made upon the surrender of Old Certificates pursuant to this Agreement will be deemed to have been made in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the PPSF Shares evidenced by such Old Certificates.
- (c) If any Old Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such Old Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Exchange Agent or F&M, in their sole discretion, the posting by such person of a bond in such amount as F&M may determine is reasonably necessary as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Old Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Old Certificate the Cash Consideration and/or Stock Consideration (and cash in lieu of fractional F&M Share interests, if any) deliverable in respect thereof.
- (d) Promptly, and not more than five business days following the Effective Time, the Exchange Agent will deliver to each holder of PPSF Shares of record immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Dissenting Shares) who has surrendered Old Certificates (and to all holders of uncertificated PPSF Shares) the Merger Consideration, and any applicable dividends or distributions pursuant to subsection (f) below, to which such holder is entitled. For certificated PPSF Shares, no payment will be made until the Old Certificate(s) representing such PPSF Shares are surrendered or the procedure regarding lost, stolen or destroyed certificates set forth in Section 2.2(c) has been completed. After the Effective Time and until surrendered, an Old Certificate will represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration to which the holder is entitled pursuant to Section 1.5, and any applicable dividends or distributions pursuant to subsection (f) below. If any New Certificate representing F&M Shares is to be issued in a name other than that in which the Old Certificate(s) surrendered in exchange therefor are registered, it will be a condition of the issuance thereof that the Old Certificate(s) so surrendered will be properly endorsed (or accompanied by an appropriate instrument of transfer) and otherwise in proper form for transfer, and that the person requesting such exchange will pay to the Exchange Agent in advance any transfer or other similar taxes required by reason of the issuance of a New Certificate representing F&M Shares in any name other than that of the registered holder of the Old Certificate(s) surrendered, or required for any other reason, or will establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such tax has been paid or is not payable.
- (e) None of F&M, PPSF, or Exchange Agent will be liable to any former holder of PPSF Shares for any payment of the Merger Consideration, any cash in lieu of a fractional F&M Share interest or any dividends or distributions with respect to F&M Shares delivered to a public official if required by any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.
- (f) No dividends or other distributions declared after the Effective Time with respect to F&M Shares and payable to the holders of record thereof after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Old Certificate until it is surrendered by the holder thereof or the procedure regarding lost, stolen or destroyed certificates set forth in Section 2.2(c) has been completed. Subject to the effect, if any, of applicable law, after the

subsequent surrender and exchange of an Old Certificate, the record holder will be entitled to receive from F&M any dividends or other distributions, without any interest thereon, that became payable to the holders of record after the Effective Time with respect to any F&M Shares represented by such Old Certificate.

- (g) After the Effective Time, there will be no further registration or transfer of PPSF Shares on the stock transfer books of PPSF. In the event that, after the Effective Time, PPSF Shares (or the Old Certificates representing them) are presented for transfer, they will be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Section 2.
- (h) F&M or the Exchange Agent will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Merger Consideration such amounts as F&M or the Exchange Agent is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any other provision of domestic or foreign tax law (whether national, federal, state, provincial, local or otherwise). To the extent that amounts are so withheld and paid over to the appropriate Governmental Entity by F&M or the Exchange Agent, such withheld amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the PPSF Shares.
- (i) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains unclaimed by the holders of PPSF Shares for one year after the Effective Time shall be paid to F&M. Any former shareholders of PPSF who have not exchanged their Old Certificates pursuant to this Section 2 may look only to F&M for payment of the Merger Consideration, cash in lieu of any fractional shares and any unpaid dividends and distributions on the F&M Shares deliverable in respect of each former PPSF Share such shareholder holds as determined pursuant to this Agreement, in each case, without any interest thereon.
- (j) The Surviving Corporation may from time to time waive one or more of the rights provided to it in this Section 2 to withhold certain payments, deliveries and distributions; and no such waiver will constitute a waiver of its rights thereafter to withhold any such payment, delivery or distribution in the case of any person.

SECTION 3

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PPSF AND PEOPLES BANK

PPSF hereby makes the representations and warranties set forth below to F&M with respect to PPSF and Peoples Bank. For the purposes of this Agreement, "PPSF Disclosure Letter" is defined as the letter referencing Section 3 of this Agreement which shall be prepared by PPSF and delivered to F&M contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement.

3.1 Organization and Authority.

- (a) PPSF is a Delaware corporation organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is a registered savings and loan holding company. PPSF has the power and authority (corporate and otherwise) to conduct its business in the manner and by the means conducted as of the date hereof. Except for Peoples Bank, PPSF has no subsidiaries. PPSF is subject to primary federal regulatory supervision and regulation by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve (the "FRB").
- (b) Peoples Bank is a federal stock savings and loan association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States. Peoples Bank has the power and authority (corporate and otherwise) to conduct its business in the manner and by the means conducted as of the date hereof. Peoples Bank has no subsidiaries. Peoples Bank is subject to primary federal regulatory supervision and regulation by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "OCC").

3.2 Authorization.

(a) PPSF has the corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, subject to satisfaction of the conditions precedent in Section 7. This Agreement, when executed and

delivered, will have been duly authorized and will constitute a valid and binding obligation of PPSF, subject to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 7 hereof, enforceable in accordance with its terms except to the extent limited by insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, readjustment of debt or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights. The Board of Directors of PPSF has unanimously approved the Merger pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Each of the members of the Board of Directors of PPSF has agreed to execute the Voting Agreement in the form of **Exhibit B** attached hereto.

(b) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, neither the execution of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, subject to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 7 hereof, does or will (i) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under PPSF's or Peoples Bank's organizational documents; (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under any federal, foreign, state or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or court or administrative order or decree, or any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement or commitment, to which PPSF or Peoples Bank is subject or bound, the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect; (iii) result in the creation of, or give any person, corporation or entity the right to create, any lien, charge, encumbrance, security interest, or any other rights of others or other adverse interest upon any right, property or asset of PPSF or Peoples Bank, the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect; (iv) terminate, or give any person, corporation or entity the right to terminate, amend, abandon, or refuse to perform, any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement or commitment to which PPSF or Peoples Bank is subject or bound, the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect; or (v) accelerate or modify, or give any party thereto the right to accelerate or modify, the time within which, or the terms according to which, PPSF or Peoples Bank is to perform any duties or obligations or receive any rights or benefits under any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement or commitment.

For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Material Adverse Effect" means any effect, circumstance, occurrence or change that (i) is material and adverse to the financial position, results of operations or business of PPSF and Peoples Bank, or F&M and F&M Bank, in each case taken as a whole, as applicable, or (ii) would materially impair the ability of PPSF or Peoples Bank, F&M or F&M Bank, as applicable, to perform its obligations under this Agreement: provided, however, that a Material Adverse Effect shall not be deemed to include the impact of (a) changes in banking and similar laws of general applicability to banks, savings and loan associations or their holding companies or interpretations thereof by courts or governmental authorities, (b) changes in generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") or regulatory accounting requirements applicable to banks, savings and loan associations or their holding companies generally, (c) any modifications or changes to valuation policies and practices in connection with the Merger or restructuring charges taken in connection with the Merger, in each case in accordance with GAAP, (d) effects of any action taken with the prior written consent of the other party hereto, (e) changes in the general level of interest rates (including the impact on the securities portfolios of PPSF and Peoples Bank, or F&M and F&M Bank, as applicable) or conditions or circumstances relating to or that affect either the United States economy, financial or securities markets or the banking industry, generally, (f) changes resulting from expenses (such as legal, accounting and investment bankers' fees) incurred in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein, including without limitation payment of any amounts due to, or the provision of any benefits to, any officers or employees under agreements, plans or other arrangements in existence on the date of or contemplated by this Agreement and disclosed to F&M, (g) the impact of the announcement of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and compliance with this Agreement on the business, financial condition or results of operations of PPSF and Peoples Bank, or F&M and F&M Bank, as applicable, (h) the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the representations, warranties or covenants made by, or the operations of PPSF or Peoples Bank, F&M or F&M Bank, and (i) the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack within the United States or any of its possessions or offices, or the occurrence or escalation of any military or terrorist attack outside the United States; provided that in no event shall a change in the trading price of the F&M Shares, by itself, be considered to constitute a Material Adverse Effect on F&M (it being understood that the foregoing proviso shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any effect underlying such decline has resulted in a Material Adverse Effect).

- (c) Other than in connection or in compliance with the provisions of the Home Owners' Loan Act, Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, the Bank Merger Act, federal and state securities laws, and applicable federal and Ohio banking statutes and corporate statutes, all as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, no notice to, filing with, authorization of, exemption by, or consent or approval of, any public body or authority is necessary for the consummation by PPSF of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Other than those filings, authorizations, consents and approvals referenced in Section 3.2(c) above and except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, no notice to, filing with, authorization of, exemption by, or consent or approval of, any third party is necessary for the consummation by PPSF of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for such authorizations, exemptions, consents or approvals, the failure of which to obtain, would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

3.3 Capitalization.

- (a) PPSF has 4,000,000 shares of all classes of capital stock authorized of which 3,500,000 shares are Common Stock with a par value of \$.01 per share, and 500,000 of which are serial preferred stock (the "PPSF Preferred Stock"). As of the date of this Agreement, 1,167,025 shares of PPSF Common Stock are issued and outstanding, 503,199 are treasury shares and no shares of PPSF Preferred Stock are issued and outstanding. Such issued and outstanding shares of PPSF Common Stock have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of PPSF, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and have not been issued in violation of any preemptive rights of any shareholders. PPSF has no capital stock authorized, issued or outstanding other than as described in this Section 3.3(a) and, except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF has no intention or obligation to authorize or issue additional shares of its capital stock.
- (b) PPSF owns all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Peoples Bank. Such issued and outstanding capital stock has been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and have not been issued in violation of any preemptive rights of any shareholder. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Peoples Bank are owned by PPSF free and clear of all liens, pledges, charges, claims, encumbrances, restrictions, security interests, options and preemptive rights and of all other rights of any other person, corporation or entity with respect thereto.
- (c) Except as set forth on the PPSF Disclosure Letter, there are no options, commitments, calls, agreements, understandings, arrangements or subscription rights regarding the issuance, purchase or acquisition of capital stock, or any securities convertible into or representing the right to purchase or otherwise receive the capital stock, equity interests, or any debt securities of PPSF, by which PPSF is or may become bound. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF has no outstanding contractual or other obligation to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its respective outstanding shares of capital stock or equity interests, as applicable.
- (d) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management (as defined in Section 10.11), no person or entity beneficially owns 5% or more of the total issued and outstanding PPSF Common Stock.
- 3.4 <u>Organizational Documents</u>. Except as set forth on the PPSF Disclosure Letter, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of PPSF and the Charter and Bylaws of Peoples Bank have been delivered to F&M and represent true, accurate and complete copies of such corporate documents of PPSF in effect as of the date of this Agreement.
- 3.5 <u>Compliance with Law</u>. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has engaged in any activity nor taken or omitted to take any action which has resulted, in the violation of any local, state, federal or foreign law, statute, rule, regulation or ordinance or of any order, injunction, judgment or decree of any court or government agency or body, the violation of which could reasonably be expected to have a

Material Adverse Effect on PPSF. PPSF and Peoples Bank possess all licenses, franchises, permits and other authorizations necessary for the continued conduct of its businesses without material interference or interruption, except where the failure to possess such licenses or other authorizations would not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on PPSF, and such licenses, franchises, permits and authorizations shall be transferred to F&M or F&M Bank on the Effective Time without any material restrictions or limitations thereon or the need to obtain any consents of third parties, except as otherwise set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter. Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank is subject to any agreement, commitment or understanding with, or order and directive of, any regulatory agency or government authority with respect to the business or operations of PPSF or Peoples Bank except as otherwise set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter. Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has received any formal written notice of enforcement actions since January 1, 2019 from any regulatory agency or government authority relating to its compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act, the Truth-in-Lending Act, the Community Reinvestment Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, the USA Patriot Act, the International Money Laundering Abatement and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or any federal, state and local environmental laws or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has received any notice of enforcement actions since January 1, 2019, from any regulatory agency or government authority relating to its compliance with any securities laws applicable to PPSF or Peoples Bank. Peoples Bank received a rating of "satisfactory" or better in its most recent examination or interim review with respect to the Community Reinvestment Act.

- 3.6 <u>Accuracy of Statements</u>. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no information which has been or shall be supplied by PPSF with respect to its businesses, operations and financial condition for inclusion in the Proxy Statement, Registration Statement, and regulatory applications relating to the Merger contains or shall contain (in the case of information relating to the Proxy Statement at the time it is mailed and for the regulatory applications and Registration Statement, and each amendment or supplement thereto, if any, at the time it becomes effective) any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or shall omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading.
- 3.7 <u>Litigation and Pending Proceedings</u>. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, there are no claims of any kind, nor any action, suits, proceedings, arbitrations or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, threatened in any court or before any government agency or body, arbitration panel or otherwise (nor does PPSF's Management have any knowledge of a basis for any claim, action, suit, proceeding, arbitration or investigation) which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, there are no uncured violations, criticisms or exceptions, or violations with respect to which refunds or restitutions may be required, cited in any report, correspondence or other communication to PPSF or Peoples Bank as a result of an examination by any regulatory agency or body which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.8 Financial Statements.

- (a) PPSF's audited balance sheets as of the end of the two fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the unaudited consolidated balance sheet for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years or period then ended (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Financial Information"), present fairly the consolidated financial condition or position of PPSF as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations of PPSF for the respective periods covered thereby and have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.
- (b) All loans reflected in the Financial Information and which have been made, extended or acquired since June 30, 2021 and are still outstanding as of the date hereof: (i) have been made for good, valuable and adequate consideration in the ordinary course of business; (ii) constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the obligor and any guarantor named therein; (iii) are evidenced by notes, instruments or other evidences of indebtedness which are true, genuine and what they purport to be; and (iv) to the extent that Peoples Bank has a

security interest in collateral or a mortgage securing such loans, are secured by perfected security interests or mortgages naming Peoples Bank as the secured party or mortgagee, except for such unperfected security interests or mortgages naming Peoples Bank as secured party or mortgagee which, on an individual loan basis, would not materially adversely affect the value of any such loan and the recovery of payment on any such loan if Peoples Bank is not able to enforce any such security interest or mortgage.

- 3.9 Absence of Certain Changes. Except for events and conditions relating to the business and interest rate environment in general, the accrual or payment of Merger-related expenses, or as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, since June 30, 2021, no events have occurred which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, between the period from June 30, 2021 to the date of this Agreement, PPSF and Peoples Bank have carried on their businesses in the ordinary and usual course consistent with past practices (excluding the incurrence of fees and expenses of professional advisors related to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby) and there has not been any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) with respect to PPSF's Common Stock (other than normal quarterly cash dividends or distributions consistent with past practice) or any split, combination or reclassification of PPSF Common Stock or, with the exception of the issuance of shares in connection with the exercise of stock options or the vesting of any performance stock units, any issuance or the authorization of any issuance of any securities in respect of, or in lieu of, or in substitution for PPSF Common Stock.
- 3.10 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has any liabilities, whether accrued, absolute, contingent, or otherwise, existing or arising out of any transaction or state of facts existing on or prior to the date hereof, except (a) as and to the extent disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the Financial Information, (b) any agreement, contract, obligation, commitment, arrangement, liability, lease or license which individually is less than \$20,000.00 per year or which may be terminated within 90 days from the date of this Agreement, (c) liabilities incurred since June 30, 2021 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that either alone or when considered with all similar liabilities, have not had or would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on PPSF, (d) liabilities incurred for reasonable legal, accounting, financial advising fees and out-of-pocket expenses or fees in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (e) unfunded loan commitments and standby letters of credit made in the ordinary course of Peoples Bank's business consistent with past practices.

3.11 Title to Assets.

- (a) Except as set forth on the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF and Peoples Bank have good and marketable title to all personal property reflected in the June 30, 2021 Financial Information, good and marketable title to all other properties and assets which PPSF or Peoples Bank purports to own, good and marketable title to or right to use by terms of any lease or contract all other property used in PPSF's or Peoples Bank's business, and good and marketable title to all property and assets acquired since June 30, 2021, free and clear of all mortgages, liens, pledges, restrictions, security interests, charges, claims or encumbrances of any nature, except such minor imperfections of title, if any, as do not materially detract from the value of or interfere with the use of the property and which would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) The operation by PPSF and Peoples Bank of such properties and assets is in material compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of any governmental authority or third party having jurisdiction over such use except for such noncompliance that would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.12 Loans and Investments.

(a) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, there is no loan of Peoples Bank in excess of \$25,000.00 that, as of March 31, 2022, with respect to classified loans and special mention loans and marginally pass loans, that (i) has been classified by Peoples Bank, applying applicable regulatory examination standards, as

"Other Loans Specially Mentioned," "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss;" (ii) has been identified by accountants or auditors (internal or external) as having a significant risk of uncollectibility, or (iii) has been identified by PPSF Management to be 90 days or more past due with respect to principal or interest or has placed on nonaccrual status.

- (b) The reserves for loan and lease losses and the carrying value for other real estate owned which are shown on each of the balance sheets contained in the Financial Information were adequate in the judgment of PPSF's Management and consistent with applicable bank regulatory standards and under GAAP to provide for losses, net of recoveries relating to loans and leases previously charged off, on loans and leases outstanding and other real estate owned (including accrued interest receivable) as of the applicable date of such balance sheet.
- (c) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, none of the investments reflected in the Financial Information and none of the investments made by PPSF since June 30, 2021 are subject to any restrictions, whether contractual or statutory, which materially impairs the ability of PPSF to dispose freely of such investment at any time. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF is not a party to any repurchase agreements with respect to securities.

3.13 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) The PPSF Disclosure Letter contains a list identifying each "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), which (i) is subject to any provision of ERISA, and (ii) is currently maintained, administered or contributed to by PPSF or any other entity, trade or business that, together with PPSF, would be treated as a single employer under the provisions of Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code ("PPSF ERISA Affiliate"), and covers any employee, director or former employee or director of PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate under which PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate has any liability. Copies of such plans (and, if applicable, related trust agreements or insurance contracts) and all amendments thereto and written interpretations thereof have been furnished to F&M together with the three most recent annual reports (Form 5500) prepared in connection with any such plan and the current summary plan descriptions (and any summary of material modifications thereto). Such plans are hereinafter referred to individually as an "Employee Plan" and collectively as the "Employee Plans." The Employee Plans which individually or collectively would constitute an "employee pension benefit plan" as defined in Section 3(2)(A) of ERISA are identified as such in the list referred to above. The PPSF Disclosure Letter also contains a list of all "employee benefit plans," as defined under ERISA which have been terminated by PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate since January 1, 2019.
- (b) To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, the Employee Plans have been operated in material compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, rulings and other requirements, as well as pursuant to the terms of their governing documents (to the extent consistent with ERISA).
- (c) Except as disclosed in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no "prohibited transaction," as defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, for which no statutory or administrative exemption exists, and no "reportable event," as defined in Section 4043(c) of ERISA, for which a notice is required to be filed, has occurred with respect to any Employee Plan that could subject PPSF to material taxes or penalties.
- (d) To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, neither PPSF nor any PPSF ERISA Affiliate has any material liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation ("**PBGC**"), to the Internal Revenue Service ("**IRS**"), to the Department of Labor ("**DOL**"), or to the Employee Benefits Security Administration, with respect to any Employee Plan, except for routine premium payments to the PBGC.
- (e) No purchase of shares of PPSF Common Stock or other securities issued by PPSF by any Employee Plan holding shares of PPSF Common Stock or other securities of PPSF has adversely affected the tax qualification of

such Employee Plan or failed to satisfy all of the requirements for the prohibited transaction exemption provided by Section 408(e) of ERISA. Each loan to any Employee Plan acquiring shares of PPSF Common Stock or other employer securities which has been made by or guaranteed by PPSF or any other disqualified person in connection with any purchase of such shares, satisfied each of the requirements of the prohibited transaction exemption provided in Section 408(b)(3) of ERISA, Section 4975(d)(3) of the Code and Treasury Regulation Section 54-4975-7(b), and, in particular, all shares of PPSF Common Stock purchased by any Employee Plan were purchased for no more than "adequate consideration" within the meaning Section 3(18) of ERISA, as determined on the basis of a stock valuation prepared by an "independent appraiser" (as this term is defined in Section 401(a)(28)(C) of the Code) satisfying all requirements of Sections 3(18) and 408(e) of ERISA and applicable DOL regulations.

- (f) Except as disclosed in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, no "fiduciary," as defined in Section 3(21) of ERISA, of an Employee Plan has failed to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of ERISA in such a way as to cause material liability to PPSF, Peoples Bank or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate.
- (g) Each of the Employee Plans which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has been timely amended to comply in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Code. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF and/or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate, as applicable, sought and received favorable determination letters from the IRS (or are otherwise relying on an opinion letter issued to a pre-approved plan sponsor) and has furnished to F&M copies of the most recent IRS determination letters with respect to any such Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code.
- (h) Except as disclosed in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, no Employee Plan maintained or contributed to by PPSF or any ERISA Affiliate is a defined benefit pension plan subject to Title IV of ERISA or the minimum funding standards under Sections 412 and 430 of the Code and Section 302 of ERISA. No facts or circumstances exist that may subject PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate, to any liability under Sections 4062, 4063 or 4064 of ERISA. Except as disclosed in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, there exist no facts or circumstances that could subject PPSF, or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate thereof, to withdrawal liability within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA or to contingent withdrawal liability under Section 4204 of ERISA. Neither PPSF nor any PPSF ERISA Affiliate ever has been a party to a transaction within the meaning of Section 4212(c) of ERISA.
- (i) No claims involving an Employee Plan (other than normal benefit claims) have been filed in a court of law or, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, have been threatened to be filed in a court of law.
- (j) For all calendar months since January 1, 2019, in which PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate was an "applicable large employer" subject to Section 4980H of the Code, PPSF or such PPSF ERISA Affiliate has offered to substantially all of its full-time employees (and their dependents) the opportunity to enroll in minimum essential coverage under an eligible employer-sponsored group plan which complies in all material respects with the requirements of the Affordable Care Act. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no event has occurred that would cause the imposition of the tax described in Section 4980B of the Code on PPSF. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, PPSF has materially complied with all requirements of Section 601 of ERISA, as applicable, with respect to any Employee Plan. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter or as required by applicable law, neither PPSF nor any PPSF ERISA Affiliate has any present or future liability in respect of post-retirement health and medical benefits for former employees or directors of PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate.
- (k) The PPSF Disclosure Letter contains a list of each employment, severance or other similar contract, arrangement or policy and each plan or arrangement (written or oral) providing for insurance coverage (including any self-insured arrangements), workers' compensation, disability benefits, supplemental unemployment benefits, vacation benefits, retirement benefits or deferred compensation, profit sharing, bonuses, stock options, stock appreciation or other forms of incentive compensation or post-retirement insurance, compensation or benefits which (i) is not an Employee Plan, (ii) is established, maintained or contributed to by PPSF or Peoples

Bank and (iii) covers any employee, director or former employee or director of PPSF or Peoples Bank. Such contracts, plans and arrangements as are described above, copies or descriptions of all of which have been furnished previously to F&M, are hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Benefit Arrangements." To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, each of the Benefit Arrangements has been maintained in compliance in all material respects with its terms and with the requirements prescribed by any and all statutes, orders, rules and regulations which are applicable to such Benefit Arrangements.

- (l) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, there has been no amendment to, written interpretation or announcement (whether or not written) by PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate relating to, or change in employee participation or coverage under, any Employee Plan or Benefit Arrangement administered by PPSF or any PPSF ERISA Affiliate which would increase materially the expense of maintaining such Employee Plans or Benefit Arrangements above the level of the expense incurred in respect thereof for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
- (m) Except as otherwise provided in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, the transactions contemplated by the Agreement will not cause acceleration of vesting in, or payment of, any material benefits under any Employee Plan or Benefit Arrangement and will not otherwise materially accelerate or increase any obligation under any Employee Plan or Benefit Arrangement.
- (n) With respect to any Employee Plan which is a deferred compensation plan that is subject to Section 409A of the Code, such plan has been identified on the PPSF Disclosure Letter and, except as otherwise set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, has been operated in accordance with, and is in documentary compliance with Section 409A of the Code and the guidance issued thereunder.

3.14 Obligations to Employees.

- (a) PPSF and Peoples Bank are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws respecting employment including discrimination in employment, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification (including the proper classification of workers as independent contractors and consultants and of employees as exempt or non-exempt, in each case, under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended (the "Fair Labor Standards Act"), and any similar applicable law), wages, hours and occupational safety and health and employment practices, including the Immigration Reform and Control Act, and is not engaged in any unfair labor practice.
- (b) Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank is and has not been a party to, bound by or subject to, or is currently negotiating, any collective bargaining agreement or understanding with a labor union or organization. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, all employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank are employed on an "at will" basis, and PPSF and Peoples Bank have no contractual or legal obligations that would prevent PPSF or Peoples Bank from termination the employment of any employee of PPSF or Peoples Bank without liability for severance pay.
- (c) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, all accrued obligations and liabilities of PPSF, including Peoples Bank, whether arising by operation of law, by contract or by past custom, for payments to trust or other funds, to any government agency or body or to any individual director, officer, employee or agent (or their heirs, legatees or legal representative) with respect to unemployment compensation or social security benefits and all pension, retirement, savings, stock purchase, stock bonus, stock ownership, stock option, stock appreciation rights or profit sharing plan, any employment, deferred compensation, consultant, bonus or collective bargaining agreement or group insurance contract or other incentive, welfare or employee benefit plan or agreement maintained by PPSF or Peoples Bank for its current or former directors, officers, employees and agents have been and are being paid to the extent required by law or by the plan or contract, and adequate actuarial accruals and/or reserves for such payments have been and are being made by PPSF or Peoples Bank in accordance with generally accepted accounting and actuarial principles, except where the failure to pay any such

accrued obligations or liabilities or to maintain adequate accruals and/or reserves for payment thereof would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, all obligations and liabilities of PPSF, including Peoples Bank, whether arising by operation of law, by contract, or by past custom, for all forms of compensation which are or may be payable to their current or former directors, officers, employees or agents have been and are being paid, and adequate accruals and/or reserves for payment therefore have been and are being made in accordance with GAAP, except where the failure to pay any such obligations and liabilities or to maintain adequate accruals and/or reserves for payment thereof would not have a Material Adverse Effect. All accruals and reserves referred to in this Section 3.14 are correctly and accurately reflected and accounted for in the books, statements and records of PPSF and Peoples Bank, except where the failure to correctly and accurately reflect and account for such accruals and reserves would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.15 Taxes, Returns and Reports.

- (a) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF and Peoples Bank have (a) duly and timely filed all material Tax Returns required to be filed by them as of the date hereof, and each such Tax Return is true, complete and accurate in all material respects; (b) paid all material Taxes due and payable by PPSF or Peoples Bank upon its income, properties or assets; and (c) not requested an extension of time for any such payments (which extension is still in force). No deficiency with respect to a material amount of Taxes has been proposed, asserted or assessed (in each case in writing) against PPSF or Peoples Bank, which amount has not been paid or such matter otherwise resolved. Except for Taxes not yet due and payable, the reserve for Taxes on the Financial Information is adequate to cover all of PPSF's and Peoples Bank's Tax liabilities (including, without limitation, income Taxes and franchise fees) that may become payable in future years with respect to any transactions consummated prior to June 30, 2021. Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has nor will they have, any liability for Taxes of any nature for or with respect to the operation of its business from June 30, 2021, up to and including the Effective Time, except to the extent (i) reflected on the Financial Information or on financial statements of PPSF subsequent to the date of the Financial Information or (ii) as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter. PPSF has not received written notice that it is currently under audit by any state or federal Governmental Entity with respect to Taxes. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, none of the federal, state, or local Tax Returns of PPSF or Peoples Bank has been audited by any Governmental Entity during the past five years.
- (b) As used in this Agreement, the term "Tax" or "Taxes" means all federal, state, local, and foreign income, excise, gross receipts, ad valorem, profits, gains, property, capital, sales, transfer, use, license, payroll, employment, social security, severance, unemployment, withholding, duties, excise, windfall profits, intangibles, franchise, backup withholding, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated and other taxes, and similar charges, fees, levies or like assessments imposed by a Governmental Entity, together with all penalties and additions to tax and interest thereon.
- (c) As used in this Agreement, the term "**Tax Return**" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, estimate, or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof, supplied or required to be supplied to a Governmental Entity.
- 3.16 <u>Deposit Insurance</u>. The deposits of Peoples Bank are insured by the FDIC in accordance with the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, and Peoples Bank has paid all premiums and assessments with respect to such deposit insurance.
- 3.17 Reports. Since January 1, 2019, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, PPSF and Peoples Bank have timely filed all reports, registrations and statements, together with any required amendments thereto, that they were required to file with (i) the OCC, (ii) the FRB, and (iii) any federal, state, municipal or local government, securities, banking, environmental, insurance and other governmental or regulatory authority, and the agencies and staffs thereof (collectively, the "Regulatory Authorities"), having jurisdiction over the affairs of PPSF or Peoples Bank, except where such failure would not have a Material Adverse Effect. All such reports filed by PPSF or Peoples Bank complied in all material respects with all applicable rules and regulations

promulgated by the applicable Regulatory Authorities and were true, accurate and complete in all material respects and, to the extent required, were prepared in conformity with regulatory accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.

- 3.18 Absence of Defaults. PPSF is not in violation of its Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws and Peoples Bank is not in violation of its Charter or Bylaws or, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, in default under any material agreement, commitment, arrangement, loan, lease, insurance policy or other instrument, whether entered into in the ordinary course of business or otherwise and whether written or oral, and there has not occurred any event known to PPSF's or Peoples Bank's Management that, with the lapse of time or giving of notice or both, would constitute such a default, except for such defaults which would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 3.19 <u>Tax and Regulatory Matters</u>. PPSF has not taken or agreed to take any action or has any knowledge of any fact or circumstance that would (a) prevent the transactions contemplated hereby from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code or (b) materially impede or delay receipt of any regulatory approval required for consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3.20 Real Property.

- (a) A list of the locations of each parcel of real property owned by PPSF or Peoples Bank (other than real property acquired in foreclosure or in lieu of foreclosure in the course of the collection of loans and being held by Peoples Bank for disposition as required by law) is set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter under the heading of "PPSF Owned Real Property" (such real property being herein referred to as the "PPSF Owned Real Property"). A list of the location of each parcel of real property leased by PPSF or Peoples Bank is also set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter under the heading of "PPSF Leased Real Property" (such real property being herein referred to as the "PPSF Leased Real Property"). PPSF shall update the PPSF Disclosure Letter within 10 days after acquiring or leasing any real property after the date hereof. Collectively, the PPSF Owned Real Property and the PPSF Leased Real Property are herein referred to as the "PPSF Real Property."
- (b) To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, there is no pending action involving PPSF as to the title of or the right to use any of the PPSF Real Property.
- (c) Other than the PPSF Owned Real Property, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank has any interest in any other real property except interests as a mortgagee, and except for any real property acquired in foreclosure or in lieu of foreclosure and being held for disposition as required by law.
- (d) None of the buildings, structures or other improvements located on the PPSF Real Property encroaches upon or over any adjoining parcel of real estate or any easement or right-of-way or "setback" line and all such buildings, structures and improvements are located and constructed in conformity with all applicable zoning ordinances and building codes.
- (e) To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, none of the buildings, structures or improvements located on the PPSF Real Property are the subject of any official complaint or notice by any governmental authority of violation of any applicable zoning ordinance or building code, and there is no zoning ordinance, building code, use or occupancy restriction or condemnation action or proceeding pending, or, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, threatened, with respect to any such building, structure or improvement. The PPSF Real Property is suitable for its intended purpose, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and has been maintained (as to the PPSF Leased Real Property, to the extent required to be maintained by PPSF) in accordance with reasonable and prudent business practices applicable to like facilities. The PPSF Real Property has been used and operated in all material respects in compliance with all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances applicable thereto during PPSF's ownership or tenancy of said property.

- (f) Except as set forth on the PPSF Disclosure Letter, and as may be reflected in the Financial Information, and except for liens for taxes not yet due and payable or with respect to such easements, liens, defects or encumbrances, real estate taxes and assessments or other monetary obligations such as contributions to an owners' association, as do not individually or in the aggregate materially adversely affect the use or value of the PPSF Owned Real Property and which would not have a Material Adverse Effect, PPSF has, and at the Effective Time will have, good and marketable title to the PPSF Owned Real Property, free and clear of all liens, mortgages, security interests, encumbrances and restrictions of any kind or character.
- (g) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter and to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, PPSF has not generated, treated, stored, disposed or released at any PPSF Real Property, any Toxic Substance, except in material compliance with all applicable federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations and except where such noncompliance would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. "Toxic Substance" means any hazardous or toxic substance, pollutant, waste, gas or material, including, without limitation, petroleum and petroleum products, metals, liquids, semi-solids or solids, that are regulated under any federal, state or local statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or other law pertaining to environmental protection, contamination, quality, waste management or cleanup.
- (h) Except as disclosed in the PPSF Disclosure Letter and to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, there are no underground storage tanks located on, in or under any PPSF Owned Real Property and no such PPSF Owned Real Property has previously contained an underground storage tank. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, PPSF does not own or operate any underground storage tank at any PPSF Leased Real Property and to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no such PPSF Leased Real Property has previously contained an underground storage tank. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no PPSF Real Property is or has been listed on the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Information System.
- (i) Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter and to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, no Toxic Substance has been released, spilled, discharged or disposed at, in, on or under any PPSF Real Property nor, to the knowledge of PPSF's Management, are there any other conditions or circumstances affecting any PPSF Real Property, in each case, which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (j) To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, there are no mechanic's or materialman's liens against the PPSF Leased Real Property, and no unpaid claims for labor performed, materials furnished or services rendered in connection with constructing, improving or repairing the PPSF Leased Real Property in respect of which liens may or could be filed against the PPSF Leased Real Property.
- 3.21 <u>Securities Law Compliance</u>. The PPSF Common Stock is not listed on any stock exchange and is traded on the OTC Markets Pink Market. To the knowledge of PPSF's Management, PPSF has complied in all material respects with all applicable federal and state securities laws, statutes, rules and regulations in regard to the issuance of all share of the PPSF Common Stock.
- 3.22 <u>Broker's or Finder's Fees</u>. Except for Boenning & Scattergood, no agent, broker or other person acting on behalf of PPSF or under any authority of PPSF is or shall be entitled to any commission, broker's or finder's fee or any other form of compensation or payment from any of the parties hereto, other than attorneys' or accountants' fees, in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 3.23 <u>Shareholder Rights Plan</u>. PPSF does not have a shareholder rights plan or any other plan, program or agreement involving, restricting, prohibiting or discouraging a change in control or merger of PPSF or which may be considered an anti-takeover mechanism except to the extent that the provisions of the PPSF Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws may have the effect or provide opportunities to do so.
- 3.24 <u>Indemnification Agreements</u>. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank is a party to any indemnification, indemnity or reimbursement agreement, contract, commitment or

understanding to indemnify any present or former director, officer, employee, shareholder or agent against any liability or hold the same harmless from liability other than as expressly provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (or other organizational documents, as applicable) of PPSF, the Charter and Bylaws of Peoples Bank and applicable law.

- 3.25 Agreements with Regulatory Agencies. Except as set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter in a manner permitted by applicable law, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank is subject to any cease-and-desist, consent order, or other order or enforcement action issued by, or is a party to any written agreement, consent agreement, or memorandum of understanding with, or is a party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to, or is subject to any order or directive by, or has been ordered to pay any civil money penalty by, the Regulatory Authorities or other governmental or regulatory authority, agency, court, commission, or other administrative entity ("Governmental Entity").
- 3.26 <u>Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties contained in this Section 3 shall expire on the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement, and thereafter PPSF and all directors and officers of PPSF and Peoples Bank shall have no further liability with respect thereto.
- 3.27 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Section 3, neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank makes any other express or implied representation or warranty to F&M.

SECTION 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF F&M AND F&M BANK

F&M hereby makes the following representations and warranties set forth below to PPSF with respect to F&M and the F&M Subsidiaries. For the purposes of this Agreement, "**F&M Disclosure Letter**" is defined as a letter referencing Section 4 of this Agreement which shall be prepared by F&M and F&M Bank and delivered to PPSF contemporaneous with the execution of this Agreement.

4.1 <u>Organization and Authority</u>. F&M is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Ohio and F&M Bank is a commercial bank duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Ohio. F&M and F&M Bank have the power and authority (corporate or otherwise) to conduct their respective businesses in the manner and by the means utilized as of the date hereof. F&M's only subsidiaries are F&M Bank and Farmers & Merchants Risk Management, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "F&M Subsidiaries"). None of the F&M Subsidiaries has subsidiaries. F&M Bank is subject to primary federal regulatory supervision and regulation by the FDIC.

4.2 Authorization.

- (a) F&M has the corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder subject to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 7. The Agreement, when executed and delivered, will have been duly authorized and will constitute a valid and binding obligation of F&M, subject to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 7 hereof, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent limited by insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, readjustment of debt, or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditor's rights. The Board of Directors of F&M has approved the Merger pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- (b) Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, neither the execution of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, subject to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 7 hereof does or will (i) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under either F&M's or F&M

Bank's Articles of Incorporation or Code of Regulations; (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under any federal, foreign, state, or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or court or administrative order or decree, or any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement, or commitment, to which either F&M or F&M Bank is subject or bound, the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect; (iii) result in the creation of, or give any person, corporation or entity the right to create, any lien, charge, claim, encumbrance, security interest, or any other rights of others or other adverse interest upon any right, property or asset of either F&M or F&M Bank; (iv) terminate, or give any person, corporation or entity the right to terminate, amend, abandon, or refuse to perform, any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement, or commitment to which F&M or F&M Bank is a party or by which either F&M or F&M Bank is subject or bound, the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect on F&M; or (v) accelerate or modify, or give any party thereto the right to accelerate or modify, the time within which, or the terms according to which, either F&M or F&M Bank is to perform any duties or obligations or receive any rights or benefits under any note, bond, indenture, loan, mortgage, security agreement, contract, arrangement, or commitment.

- (c) Other than in connection or in compliance with the provisions of the Home Owners' Loan Act, Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, the Bank Merger Act, federal and state securities laws, and applicable federal and Ohio banking statutes and corporate statutes, all as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, no notice to, filing with, authorization of, exemption by, or consent or approval of, any public body or authority is necessary for the consummation by F&M and F&M Bank of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, other than those filings, authorizations, consents and approvals referenced in Section 4.2(c) above and filings and approvals relating to the listing of the shares of F&M Shares to be issued in the Merger on the NASDAQ Capital Market and certain other filings and approvals with NASDAQ relating to the change in the number of shares of F&M outstanding as a result of the Merger, no notice to, filing with, authorization of, exemption by, or consent or approval of, any third party is necessary for the consummation by F&M or F&M Bank of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for such authorizations, exemptions, consents or approvals, the failure of which to obtain, would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

4.3 Capitalization.

- (a) As of March 31, 2022, there were 20,000,000 F&M Shares authorized, without par value, of which 13,066,083 shares were issued and outstanding. Such issued and outstanding F&M Shares have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of F&M, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and have not been issued in violation of any preemptive rights of any shareholders. Other than the F&M Shares, F&M has no other class of stock authorized.
- (b) F&M owns all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each of the F&M Subsidiaries. Such issued and outstanding capital stock has been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action, are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and have not been issued in violation of any preemptive rights of any shareholder. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the F&M Subsidiaries are owned by F&M free and clear of all liens, pledges, charges, claims, encumbrances, restrictions, security interests, options and preemptive rights and of all other rights of any other person, corporation or entity with respect thereto.
- (c) The F&M Shares to be issued pursuant to the Merger will be duly authorized, fully paid, validly issued and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights.
- 4.4 <u>Organizational Documents</u>. The Articles of Incorporation and Code of Regulations of F&M and F&M Bank in force as of the date hereof have been delivered to PPSF. The documents delivered by it represent true, accurate and complete copies of the corporate documents of F&M and F&M Bank in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

- 4.5 Compliance with Law. To the knowledge of "F&M Management" (as defined in Section 10.11), except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, neither F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary has engaged in any activity nor taken or omitted to take any action which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result, in the violation of any local, state, federal or foreign law, statute, rule, regulation or ordinance or of any order, injunction, judgment or decree of any court or government agency or body, the violation of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, F&M and each F&M Subsidiary possess all licenses, franchises, permits and other authorizations necessary for the continued conduct of their respective businesses without material interference or interruption. Neither F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary are subject to any agreement, commitment or understanding with, or order and directive of, any regulatory agency or government authority with respect to the business or operations of F&M or any F&M Subsidiary. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, F&M Bank has not received any notice of enforcement actions since January 1, 2019 from any regulatory agency or government authority relating to its compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act, the Truth-in-Lending Act, the Community Reinvestment Act, the Gramm-Leach-Biley Act of 1999, the USA Patriot Act, the International Money Laundering Abatement and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or any laws with respect to the protection of the environment or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, F&M has not received any notice of enforcement actions since January 1, 2019 from any regulatory agency or government authority relating to its compliance with any securities, tax or employment laws applicable to F&M. F&M Bank received a rating of "satisfact
- 4.6 <u>Accuracy of Statements</u>. No information which has been or shall be supplied by F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary with respect to its respective businesses, operations and financial condition for inclusion in the Proxy Statement, Registration Statement, and regulatory applications relating to the Merger contains or shall contain (in the case of information relating to the Proxy Statement at the time it is mailed and for the regulatory applications and Registration Statement, and each amendment or supplement thereto, if any, at the time it becomes effective) any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or shall omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading.
- 4.7 <u>Litigation and Pending Proceedings</u>. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, there are no claims of any kind, nor any action, suits, proceedings, arbitrations or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of F&M's Management, threatened in any court or before any government agency or body, arbitration panel or otherwise (nor does F&M's Management have any knowledge of a basis for any claim, action, suit, proceeding, arbitration or investigation) which could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the knowledge of F&M's Management, there are no material uncured violations, criticisms or exceptions, or violations with respect to which material refunds or restitutions may be required, cited in any report, correspondence or other communication to F&M or any F&M Subsidiary as a result of an examination by any regulatory agency or body.

4.8 Financial Statements.

- (a) F&M's consolidated audited balance sheets as of the end of the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the unaudited consolidated balance sheet for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years or period then ended (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "F&M Financial Information") present fairly the consolidated financial condition or position of F&M as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations of F&M for the respective periods covered thereby and have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.
- (b) All loans reflected in the F&M Financial Information and which have been made, extended or acquired since December 31, 2021: (i) have been made for good, valuable and adequate consideration in the ordinary

course of business; (ii) constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the obligor and any guarantor named therein; (iii) are evidenced by notes, instruments or other evidences of indebtedness which are true, genuine and what they purport to be; and (iv) to the extent that F&M Bank has a security interest in collateral or a mortgage securing such loans, are secured by perfected security interests or mortgages naming F&M Bank as the secured party or mortgagee, except for such unperfected security interests or mortgages naming F&M Bank as secured party or mortgagee which, on an individual loan basis, would not materially adversely affect the value of any such loan and the recovery of payment on any such loan if F&M Bank is not able to enforce any such security interest or mortgage.

- 4.9 <u>Absence of Certain Changes</u>. Except for events and conditions relating to the business and interest rate environment in general, the accrual or payment of Merger-related expenses, or as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, since December 31, 2021, no events have occurred which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, between the period from December 31, 2021 to the date of this Agreement, F&M and each F&M Subsidiary have carried on their respective businesses in the ordinary and usual course consistent with their past practices (excluding the incurrence of reasonable fees and expenses of professional advisors related to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby). Since December 31, 2021, there has not been any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) with respect to F&M Shares (other than normal quarterly cash dividends) or any split, combination or reclassification of any stock of F&M or any F&M Subsidiary or any issuance or the authorization of any issuance of any securities in respect of, or in lieu of, or in substitution for F&M Shares.
- 4.10 Taxes, Returns and Reports. F&M and the F&M Subsidiaries have (a) duly and timely filed all material Tax Returns required to be filed by them as of the date hereof, and each Return is true, complete and accurate in all material respects; (b) paid all material Taxes due and payable by any of them upon their income, properties or assets; and (c) not requested an extension of time for any such payments (which extension is still in force). No deficiency with respect to a material amount of Taxes has been proposed, asserted or assessed (in each case in writing) against F&M or any F&M Subsidiary, which amount has not been paid or such matter otherwise resolved. Except for Taxes not yet due and payable, the reserve for Taxes on the F&M Financial Information is adequate to cover all of F&M's and the F&M Subsidiaries' Tax liabilities (including, without limitation, income Taxes and franchise fees) that may become payable in future years with respect to any transactions consummated prior to December 31, 2021. Neither F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary has or will have, any liability for Taxes of any nature for or with respect to the operation of their business, including the assets of any subsidiary, from December 31, 2021, up to and including the Effective Time, except to the extent (i) reflected on the F&M Financial Information or on financial statements of F&M or any subsidiary subsequent to and the date of the F&M Financial Information or (ii) as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter. Neither F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary has received written notice that it is currently under audit by any state or federal Governmental Entity with respect to Taxes. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, none of the federal, state, or local Tax Returns of F&M or any F&M Subsidiary has been audited by any Governmental Entity during the past five years.
- 4.11 <u>Deposit Insurance</u>. The deposits of F&M Bank are insured by the FDIC in accordance with the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, and F&M Bank has paid all premiums and assessments with respect to such deposit insurance.
- 4.12 Reports. Since January 1, 2019, F&M and F&M Bank have timely filed all reports, registrations and statements, together with any required amendments thereto, that they were required to file with (i) the FRB, (ii) the FDIC, (iii) the ODFI, and (iv) any federal, state, municipal or local government, securities, banking, environmental, insurance and other governmental or regulatory authority, and the agencies and staffs thereof (collectively, the "F&M Regulatory Authorities"), except where such failure would not have a Material Adverse Effect. All such reports filed by F&M and F&M Bank complied in all material respects with all applicable rules and regulations promulgated by the applicable F&M Regulatory Authorities and were true,

accurate and complete in all material respects and, to the extent required, were prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis. There is no unresolved violation with respect to any report or statement filed by, or any examination of F&M or F&M Bank.

- 4.13 <u>Absence of Defaults</u>. Neither F&M nor F&M Bank is in violation of its Articles of Incorporation or Code of Regulations or, to the knowledge of F&M's Management, in default under any material agreement, commitment, arrangement, loan, lease, insurance policy or other instrument, whether entered into in the ordinary course of business or otherwise and whether written or oral, and there has not occurred any event known to F&M's Management that, with the lapse of time or giving of notice or both, would constitute such a default, except for defaults which would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 4.14 <u>Tax and Regulatory Matters</u>. Neither F&M nor any F&M Subsidiary has taken or agreed to take any action or has any knowledge of any fact or circumstance that would (a) prevent the transactions contemplated hereby from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code or (b) materially impede or delay receipt of any regulatory approval required for consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 4.15 Securities Law Compliance. F&M Shares are traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol of "FMAO." F&M has complied in all material respects with all applicable state, federal or foreign securities laws, statutes, rules, regulations or orders, injunctions or decrees of any applicable government agency relating or applicable to F&M Shares. F&M has complied in all material respects with all applicable rules, regulations, or orders of any applicable self-regulatory organization (including, but not limited to, NASDAQ) relating or applicable to F&M Shares. Since January 1, 2019, F&M has filed all reports and other documents required to be filed by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and under any rules and regulations of any applicable self-regulatory organization (including, but not limited to, NASDAQ), including F&M's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, copies of which have previously been delivered to PPSF. All such filings were true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of the dates of the filings (except for information included therein as of a certain date, which shall have been true and correct as of such date), and no such filings, at the time they were filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, at the time and in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not false or misleading.
- 4.16 <u>Broker's or Finder's Fees</u>. Except for Piper Sandler & Co., no agent, broker or other person acting on behalf of F&M or under any authority of F&M is or shall be entitled to any commission, broker's or finder's fee or any other form of compensation or payment from any of the parties hereto, other than attorneys' or accountants' fees, in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 4.17 <u>Agreements with Regulatory Agencies</u>. Except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter in a manner permitted by applicable law, neither F&M nor the F&M Subsidiaries are subject to any cease-and-desist, consent order, or other order or enforcement action issued by, or is a party to any written agreement, consent agreement, or memorandum of understanding with, or is a party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to, or is subject to any order or directive by, or has been ordered to pay any civil money penalty by, the F&M Regulatory Authorities or other governmental entity.
- 4.18 <u>Sufficient Funds</u>. F&M has, as of the date hereof, sufficient cash on hand, other sources of available funds and a loan commitment, to enable F&M to timely pay the cash portion of the Merger Consideration and to satisfy its obligations under and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 4.19 No Shareholder Approval. No vote or consent of any of the holders of F&M Shares is required by law, contract, or NASDAQ listing requirements for F&M to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the Merger.

- 4.20 Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties contained in this Section 4 shall expire on the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement, and thereafter F&M and F&M Bank and all directors and officers of F&M and F&M Bank shall have no further liability with respect thereto.
- 4.21 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Section 4, F&M and F&M Bank make no other express or implied representation or warranty to PPSF.

SECTION 5 COVENANTS OF PPSF

PPSF covenants and agrees with F&M and F&M Bank to act, as follows:

5.1 Shareholder Approval.

- (a) Following the execution of this Agreement, PPSF shall take, in accordance with applicable law and its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, all action necessary to convene a meeting of its shareholders as promptly as practicable (and in any event within 45 days following the time when the Registration Statement becomes effective, subject to extension with the consent of F&M, which shall not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed) to consider and vote upon the adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger and any other matter required to be approved by the shareholders of PPSF in order to consummate the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby (including any adjournment or postponement thereof, the "Shareholder Meeting").
- (b) Subject to Section 5.5 hereof, PPSF shall cooperate with F&M in the preparation of an appropriate proxy statement and other proxy solicitation materials (the "**Proxy Statement**") and use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the requisite vote of PPSF's shareholders to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, and shall ensure that the Shareholder Meeting is called, noticed, convened, held and conducted, and that all proxies solicited by PPSF in connection with the Shareholder Meeting are solicited in compliance with the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of PPSF, and all other applicable legal requirements. PPSF shall keep F&M updated with respect to the proxy solicitation results in connection with the Shareholder Meeting as reasonably requested by F&M.
- (c) Subject to Section 5.5 hereof, PPSF's Board of Directors shall recommend that PPSF's shareholders vote to adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger and any other matters required to be approved by PPSF's shareholders for consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby.
- 5.2 Other Approvals. As soon as reasonably practicable following the date hereof, PPSF shall use its best efforts to procure upon reasonable terms and conditions any consents, authorizations, approvals, registrations, and certificates from any applicable Regulatory Authorities as may be required by applicable law, and to satisfy all other requirements prescribed by law which are necessary for consummation of the Merger on the terms and conditions provided in this Agreement.

5.3 Conduct of Business.

(a) Except as otherwise set forth in the PPSF Disclosure Letter or as provided for in this Agreement, on and after the date of this Agreement and until the Effective Time or until this Agreement shall be terminated as herein provided, PPSF shall not and shall cause Peoples Bank not to, without the prior written consent (which may include consent via electronic mail) of F&M, (i) make any changes in its capital structure, including, but not limited to the redemption of PPSF Shares; (ii) authorize an additional class of stock or issue, or authorize the issuance of any capital stock or any options or other instruments convertible into shares of capital stock, except

pursuant to the exercise of stock options outstanding as of the date of this Agreement; (iii) declare, distribute or pay any dividends on its common shares, or authorize a stock split, or make any other distribution to its shareholders, except for PPSF's regular, quarterly cash dividend in an amount not greater than \$0.08 per common share; provided, however, PPSF and F&M shall coordinate PPSF's dividend schedule for the quarter in which Closing occurs so that holders of PPSF Common Stock do not receive dividends on both F&M and PPSF Common Stock attributable to the same calendar quarter; (iv) merge, combine or consolidate with or, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (including the sale, transfer or disposal of other real estate owned), sell its assets or any of its securities to any other person, corporation or entity, effect a share exchange or enter into any other transaction not in the ordinary course of business; (v) incur any new liability or obligation, make any new commitment, payment or disbursement, enter into any new contract, agreement, understanding or arrangement or engage in any new transaction, or acquire or dispose of any property (other than other real estate owned) or asset the fair market value of which exceeds \$20,000.00, in the aggregate; except for payments or disbursements, the acquisition or disposition of personal or real property in connection with either foreclosures on mortgages or enforcement of security interests, the origination or sale of loans by Peoples Bank and the creation of deposit liabilities and advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank, in each case, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (vi) subject any of its properties or assets to a mortgage, lien, claim, charge, option, restriction, security interest or encumbrance, except for such mortgages, liens or other encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (vii) promote or increase or decrease the rate of compensation (except for promotions and non-material increases in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with past practices, and except for stay bonuses, that receive the prior approval of F&M, and that are paid to PPSF or Peoples Bank employees that PPSF identifies as important to ensure their retention through Closing for the operations of PPSF) or enter into any agreement to promote or increase or decrease the rate of compensation of any director, officer or employee of PPSF or Peoples Bank; (viii) except as required by applicable law, execute, create, institute, modify or amend any pension, retirement, savings, stock purchase, stock bonus, stock ownership, stock option, stock appreciation or depreciation right or profit sharing plans, any employment, deferred compensation, consultant, bonus or collective bargaining agreement, group insurance contract or other incentive, welfare or employee benefit plan or agreement for current or former directors, officers or employees of PPSF or Peoples Bank, change the level of benefits or payments under any of the foregoing or increase or decrease any severance or termination pay benefits or any other fringe or employee benefits or pay any bonuses other than as required by law or regulatory authorities; (ix) amend PPSF's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or Peoples Bank's Charter or Bylaws from those in effect on the date of this Agreement; (x) modify, amend or institute new employment policies or practices, or enter into, renew, modify, amend or extend any employment or severance agreements with respect to any present or former directors, officers or employees of PPSF or Peoples Bank; (xi) fail to make additions to its reserve for loan losses, or any other reserve account, in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with sound banking practices; (xii) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise as an accommodation become responsible or liable for the obligations of any other individual, corporation or other entity; (xiii) make any loans or establish or expand any deposit or trust relationship not consistent with prior practice, the policies and procedures of PPSF, Peoples Bank or applicable law; and (xiv) agree in writing or otherwise to take any of the foregoing actions.

(b) PPSF and Peoples Bank shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, in full force and effect, insurance on its properties and operations and fidelity coverage on its directors, officers and employees in such amounts and with regard to such liabilities and hazards as currently in effect on the date of this Agreement.

(c) PPSF and Peoples Bank shall provide F&M and its representatives reasonable access, during normal business hours and on reasonable advance notice to PPSF, to further information (to the extent permissible under applicable law) and PPSF's and Peoples Bank's premises for purposes of observing PPSF's and Peoples Bank's business activities and operations and to consult with PPSF's and Peoples Bank's officers and employees so as to make all necessary preparations for the Merger. F&M may hire, at its expense, a mutually-agreeable third party consultant to perform cybersecurity system testing and monitoring (based on a mutually-agreeable project scope) in order to confirm that PPSF's and Peoples Bank's technology systems are free of security breaches and, if

necessary, provide remediation and notices related thereto. PPSF and F&M shall each receive the results of the testing and reasonably coordinate their efforts on any potential remediation and notices. None of the foregoing actions will cause undue disruption or interference with PPSF's and Peoples Bank's normal operations nor shall such actions be permitted if such access relates to, (i) pending or threatened litigation or investigations if, in the opinion of counsel to PPSF, such access would or might adversely affect the confidential nature of, or any privilege relating to, the matters being discussed, (ii) materials that relate to the negotiation or approval of this Agreement, or (iii) matters involving an Acquisition Proposal. No investigation pursuant to this Section 5.3 shall affect or be deemed to modify any representation or warranty made in this Agreement by PPSF or Peoples Bank. F&M will use such information as is provided to it by PPSF or Peoples Bank, or representatives thereof, solely for the purpose of conducting business, legal and financial reviews of PPSF and Peoples Bank and for such other purposes as may be related to this Agreement, and F&M and F&M Bank will, and will direct all of its agents, employees and advisors to, maintain the confidentiality of all such information in accordance with the terms of Section 6.4 below. Neither PPSF nor Peoples Bank shall be required to provide access to or to disclose information where such access or disclosure would violate or prejudice the rights of its customers, jeopardize the attorney-client privilege of the entity in possession or control of such information or contravene any law, rule, regulation, order, judgment, decree, fiduciary duty or binding agreement. The parties will make appropriate and reasonable substitute disclosure arrangements under circumstances in which the restrictions of the preceding sentence apply.

5.4 <u>Preservation of Business</u>. On and after the date of this Agreement and until the Effective Time or until this Agreement is terminated as herein provided, each of PPSF and Peoples Bank shall (a) carry on its business diligently, substantially in the same manner as heretofore conducted, and in the ordinary course of business; (b) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve its business organization intact, to keep its present officers and employees and to preserve its present relationship with customers and others having business dealings with them; and (c) not do or fail to do anything which will cause a material breach of, or material default in, any contract, agreement, commitment, obligation, understanding, arrangement, lease or license to which it is a party or by which it is or may be subject or bound. All of the foregoing shall be subject to the effects, if any, of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the obligations contained herein.

5.5 Other Negotiations.

- (a) PPSF shall not, during the term of this Agreement, directly or indirectly through agents, directors, officers or otherwise, solicit, encourage or facilitate inquiries or proposals or enter into any agreement with respect to, or initiate or participate in any negotiations or discussions with any person or entity concerning, any proposed transaction or series of transactions involving or affecting PPSF (or its securities or assets) that, if effected, would constitute an acquisition of control of PPSF within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. §1817(j) (disregarding the exceptions set forth in 12 U.S.C. §1817(j)(17)) and the regulations of the FRB thereunder (each, an "Acquisition Proposal"), or furnish any information to any person or entity proposing or seeking an Acquisition Proposal.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that PPSF's Board of Directors determines in good faith and after consultation with legal counsel, that, in light of an Acquisition Proposal, it is necessary to provide such information or engage in such negotiations or discussions in order to act in a manner consistent with such Board's fiduciary duties, PPSF's Board of Directors may, in response to an Acquisition Proposal which was not solicited by or on behalf of PPSF or which did not otherwise result from a breach of Section 5.5(a), subject to its compliance with Section 5.5(c), (i) furnish information with respect to PPSF to such person or entity making such Acquisition Proposal pursuant to a customary confidentiality agreement that is no less restrictive than the Mutual Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement entered into between PPSF and F&M in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) participate in discussions or negotiations regarding such Acquisition Proposal. In the event that PPSF's Board of Directors determines in good faith and after consultation with legal counsel, that the Acquisition Proposal is a Superior Acquisition Proposal (as defined below) and that it is necessary to pursue such Superior Acquisition Proposal in order to act in a manner

consistent with such Board's fiduciary duties, PPSF may (A) withdraw, modify or otherwise change in a manner adverse to F&M, the recommendation of PPSF's Board of Directors to its shareholders with respect to this Agreement and the Merger, and/or (B) terminate this Agreement in order to concurrently enter into an agreement with respect to such Superior Acquisition Proposal; provided, however, that PPSF's Board of Directors may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 5.5(b) unless and until (x) 10 business days have elapsed following the delivery to F&M of a written notice of such determination by PPSF's Board of Directors and during such 10 business-day period, PPSF otherwise cooperates with F&M with the intent of enabling the parties to engage in good faith negotiations so that the Merger and other transactions contemplated hereby may be effected and (y) at the end of such 10 business-day period, PPSF's Board of Directors continues reasonably to believe the Acquisition Proposal at issue constitutes a Superior Acquisition Proposal. A "Superior Acquisition Proposal" shall mean any Acquisition Proposal containing terms which PPSF's Board of Directors determines in its good faith judgment (based on the advice of an independent financial advisor) to be more favorable to PPSF's shareholders than the Merger and for which financing, to the extent required, is then committed or which, in the good faith judgment of PPSF's Board of Directors, is reasonably capable of being obtained by such third party, but shall exclude any Acquisition Proposal the terms of which were made known to PPSF's Board of Directors prior to the date of this Agreement.

- (c) In addition to the obligations of PPSF set forth in Section 5.5(a) and (b), PPSF shall advise F&M orally and in writing as soon as reasonably practicable of any request (whether oral or in writing) for information or of any inquiries, proposals, discussions or indications of interest (whether oral or in writing) with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, the material terms and conditions of such request or Acquisition Proposal and the identity of the person or entity making such request or Acquisition Proposal. PPSF shall keep F&M reasonably informed of the status and details (including amendments or proposed amendments) of any such request or Acquisition Proposal, including the status of any discussions or negotiations with respect to any Superior Acquisition Proposal. F&M will keep all such information in confidence.
- 5.6 Announcement; Press Releases. In connection with the execution of this Agreement, PPSF and F&M intend to jointly issue a press release mutually acceptable to the parties. Except as otherwise required by law, PPSF shall not issue any additional press releases or make any other announcements or disclosures to the public generally relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby without the prior approval of F&M, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, provided, however, that nothing in this Section 5.6 shall be deemed to prohibit any party from making any disclosure that its legal counsel deems necessary in order to satisfy such party's disclosure obligation imposed by law.
- 5.7 PPSF Disclosure Letter. PPSF shall supplement, amend and update as of the Effective Time the PPSF Disclosure Letter with respect to any matters hereafter arising which, if in existence or having occurred as of the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set forth or described in the PPSF Disclosure Letter. If, at any time prior to the Effective Time, PPSF becomes aware of a fact or matter that might indicate that any of the representations and warranties of PPSF herein may be untrue, incorrect or misleading in any material respect, PPSF shall promptly disclose such fact or matter to F&M in writing.
- 5.8 <u>Confidentiality.</u> PPSF shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its respective officers, employees, and authorized representatives to hold in strict confidence all confidential data and information obtained by them from F&M, unless such information (a) was already known to PPSF, (b) becomes available to PPSF from other sources, (c) is independently developed by PPSF, (d) is disclosed by PPSF in accordance with the terms of prior written approval of F&M, or (e) is or becomes readily ascertainable from public or published information or trade sources or public disclosure of such information is required by law or requested by a court or other governmental agency, commission, or regulatory body. PPSF further agrees that, in the event this Agreement is terminated, it will return to F&M, or destroy, all information obtained by PPSF from F&M or F&M Bank, including all copies made of such information by PPSF except to the extent that PPSF is advised by legal counsel of the need to retain such information or documentation. This provision shall survive the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement.

- 5.9 <u>Cooperation</u>. PPSF shall cooperate with F&M and its officers, employees, attorneys, accountants and other agents and do such other acts and things in good faith as may be reasonable, necessary or appropriate to timely effectuate the intents and purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, (a) PPSF shall cooperate and assist F&M in the preparation of and/or filing of all regulatory applications, the Registration Statement, and all other documentation required to be prepared for consummation of the Merger and obtaining all necessary approvals, and (b) PPSF shall furnish F&M with all information concerning itself that F&M may request in connection with the preparation of the documentation referenced above.
- 5.10 PPSF Fairness Opinion. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, the PPSF Board of Directors has received the opinion of Boenning & Scattergood (which, if initially rendered verbally has been or will be confirmed by a written opinion, dated the same date) to the effect that as of the date thereof and based upon and subject to the terms, conditions and qualifications set forth therein, the Merger Consideration in the Merger is fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of PPSF Common Stock. As of the date of this Agreement, such opinion has not been amended or rescinded.
- 5.11 <u>Financial Statements and Other Reports</u>. Promptly upon its becoming available, PPSF shall furnish to F&M one copy of each financial statement, report, notice, or proxy statement sent by PPSF to its shareholders generally or filed with any Regulatory Authorities except as limited or prohibited by applicable law or regulation.
- 5.12 Adverse Actions. PPSF shall not (a) take any action while knowing that such action would, or is reasonably likely to, prevent or impede the Merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code; or (b) knowingly take any action that is intended or is reasonably likely to result in (i) any of its representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement being or becoming untrue in any material respect at any time at or prior to the Effective Time, (ii) any of the conditions to the Merger set forth in Section 7 not being satisfied, (iii) a material violation of any provision of this Agreement, or (iv) a material delay in the consummation of the Merger except, in each case, as may be required by applicable law or regulation.
- 5.13 Employment Agreements. PPSF will cause the termination of each of the Debra A. Geuy, Donna M. Williams, Joshua A. Buehler and Steven R. Goins employment agreements as more fully described in the PPSF Disclosure Letter (the "Employment Agreements") and pay the lump sum change in control amounts specified in the Employment Agreements immediately prior to the Effective Time, as if such employee had been terminated in connection with a change of control. In exchange for such payment each payment recipient will provide an appropriate release, which, if not attached to the applicable Employment Agreement will be in such form as reasonably approved by F&M. In addition, F&M shall assume the obligation to pay for the continuation of COBRA coverage, and disability and life insurance, as provided for, and subject to the same requirements and limitations as are set forth in, the Employment Agreements. F&M Bank shall have the right to continue to discuss potential future employment relationships with the officers of PPSF from the date hereof through and after the Effective Time.

5.14 401(k) Plan and ESOP.

- (a) PPSF shall cause the Peoples Federal Savings & Loan Association of Sidney 401(k) Retirement Plan (the "PPSF 401(k) Plan") to be terminated effective as of the day immediately preceding the Effective Time.
- (b) As soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement, PPSF will request that the trustee (the "ESOP Trustee") of the Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the "Peoples ESOP") take all necessary action required by the Peoples ESOP and applicable law to conduct a pass-through voting procedure requesting the Peoples ESOP participants to provide the ESOP Trustee with confidential written directions on whether to vote the shares of PPSF Common Stock owned by the Peoples ESOP either in favor of or against the Merger (the "ESOP Vote"). PPSF will, or will request that the ESOP Trustee, provide to F&M for review and comment, reasonably in advance of the ESOP Vote, but in any event within 10 business days of the

initial filing of the Registration Statement, all materials (including the information statement and any similar disclosure materials, frequently asked questions, and meeting slides or handouts, as applicable) proposed to be disclosed to the Peoples ESOP participants in connection with the ESOP Vote. F&M shall have five business days to review and provide comments with respect to the materials proposed to be disclosed to the Peoples ESOP participants in connection with the ESOP Vote.

(c) Prior to the Effective Time, but after the receipt of approval of the Merger by PPSF's shareholders and the receipt of regulatory approvals required by Section 7.01(b) of this Agreement, the PPSF Board of Directors shall adopt a resolution approving the termination of the Peoples ESOP effective as of the day immediately preceding the Effective Time. In addition, the Boards of Directors of PPSF and Peoples Bank shall approve the adoption of any amendments to the Peoples ESOP sufficient to (i) terminate the Peoples ESOP effective as of the day immediately preceding the Effective Time, (ii) eliminate all future benefit accruals under the Peoples ESOP and to amend the Peoples ESOP into a profit sharing plan not calling for investment of plan assets primarily in employer securities effective as of the day immediately preceding the Effective Time, and (iii) otherwise give effect to the provisions of this Section 5.14(c). The accounts of all participants in the Peoples ESOP shall become fully vested upon termination of the Peoples ESOP. At the Effective Time, any shares of PPSF Common Stock held in the Peoples ESOP as of the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive, without interest, the Merger Consideration. Following the Effective Time, F&M will apply for an IRS determination letter ruling that the termination of the Peoples ESOP is in compliance with the Code (the "ESOP Determination Letter") and will cause the assets under the Peoples ESOP to be distributed to the Peoples ESOP participants after the receipt of the ESOP Determination Letter.

SECTION 6

COVENANTS OF F&M AND F&M BANK

F&M and F&M Bank covenant and agree with PPSF as follows:

6.1 Approvals. As soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event within 30 days following execution and delivery of this Agreement, F&M will file an application with the FRB (or seek a waiver of such filing obligation), the ODFI and the FDIC for approval of the Merger, and take all other appropriate actions necessary to obtain the regulatory approvals referred to herein, and PPSF will use all reasonable and diligent efforts to assist in obtaining all such approvals. In advance of filing any applications for such regulatory approvals, F&M shall provide PPSF and its counsel with a copy of such applications (but excluding any information contained therein regarding F&M and its business or operations for which confidential treatment will be requested) and provide an opportunity to comment thereon, and thereafter shall promptly advise PPSF and its counsel of any material communication received by F&M or its counsel from any regulatory authorities with respect to such applications. In addition, F&M agrees to prepare, in cooperation with and subject to the review and comment of PPSF and its counsel, a registration statement on Form S-4, including a prospectus of F&M (the "Registration Statement"), to be filed no later than 60 days after the date hereof by F&M with the SEC in connection with the issuance of F&M Shares in the Merger (including the proxy statements and prospectus and other proxy solicitation materials of, and to be filed by, PPSF and F&M constituting a part thereof (the "Proxy Statement") and all related documents). F&M agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to have the Registration Statement declared effective by the SEC and to keep the Registration Statement effective so long as is necessary to consummate the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby. F&M agrees to advise PPSF, promptly after F&M receives notice thereof, of the time when the Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement or amendment has been filed, of the issuance of any stop order or the suspension of the qualification of F&M Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, of the initiation or threat of any proceeding for any such purpose, or of the receipt of any comment letters from the SEC regarding, or of any request by the SEC for the amendment or supplement of, the Registration Statement, or for additional information. F&M agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to list, prior to the Effective Time, on the NASDAQ Capital Market (subject to official notice of issuance), the F&M Shares to be issued to the holders of PPSF Shares in the Merger.

6.2 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) F&M shall take such action as may be necessary so that, as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Time, employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank who become employees of F&M Bank shall be entitled to participate in the employee benefit plans of F&M and F&M Bank. Until such time as such employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank become covered by the F&M Bank group health, life and disability insurance benefit plans, they shall remain covered by the corresponding PPSF and Peoples Bank welfare benefit plans, which F&M and F&M Bank shall assume and maintain as successor employers to the extent such plans are not terminated as of the Effective Time.
- (b) With respect to each employee benefit plan or benefit arrangement maintained by F&M or F&M Bank in which employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank subsequently participate, for purposes of determining eligibility, vesting, vacation and severance entitlement, F&M or F&M Bank will ensure that service with PPSF and Peoples Bank will be treated as service with F&M or F&M Bank; provided, however, that service with PPSF and Peoples Bank shall not be treated as service with F&M and F&M Bank for purposes of benefit accrual, except with respect to vacation and severance benefits. F&M and F&M Bank shall honor all benefits vested and earned by employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank through the Effective Time. Upon merger or termination of the Employee Plans or other employee benefit plans of PPSF and Peoples Bank, F&M and F&M Bank shall honor any acceleration provision therein.
- (c) F&M and F&M Bank agree that the employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank will be permitted to elect to make direct rollover contributions (including participant loans) to the 401(k) plan maintained by F&M and/or F&M Bank as direct rollovers from the terminated PPSF 401(k) Plan and Peoples ESOP, if permitted under the applicable F&M or F&M Bank plan without unreasonable requirements or expense on the part of F&M or F&M Bank; provided that (i) F&M may, in its discretion, make such direct rollovers subject to and conditioned upon the receipt of an IRS determination letter on the termination of the PPSF 401(k) Plan and Peoples ESOP, and (ii) such rollover contributions will be completed within the period of 90 days following receipt of such IRS determination letter.
- (d) Except for employees receiving a separate change in control, severance or similar payment in connection with the Closing of the Merger, those employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank as of the Effective Time (i) who are still employed by PPSF and Peoples Bank and who F&M or F&M Bank elect not to employ after the Effective Time or do not accept employment with F&M or F&M Bank because F&M or F&M Bank's offer of employment was for less favorable compensation or at a location that is more than 25 miles from such employee's location of employment immediately prior to the Effective Time or who are terminated other than for cause within six (6) months after the Effective Time; and (ii) who sign and deliver a termination and release agreement in a form acceptable to F&M, shall be entitled to severance pay equal to two (2) weeks of pay, at their base rate of pay in effect at the time of termination, for each full year of continuous service with PPSF and Peoples Bank with a minimum of four (4) weeks and a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks.
- (e) Except for employees receiving payments for COBRA under the Employment Agreements, F&M shall make available COBRA continuation coverage to any qualified employee or former employee of PPSF or Peoples Bank and to their respective qualified beneficiaries, at such person's sole cost, on and after the Effective Time, regardless of when the qualifying event occurred.
- (f) Neither the terms of this Section 6.2 nor the provision of any employee benefits provided by F&M or F&M Bank to employees of PPSF or Peoples Bank shall: (i) limit or modify F&M's or F&M Bank's at-will employment policy or any employee's at will employment status; (ii) create any employment contract, agreement or understanding with or employment rights for, or constitute a commitment or obligation of employment to, any of the officers or employees of PPSF or Peoples Bank; or (iii) prohibit or restrict F&M or F&M Bank, whether before or after the Effective Time, from changing, amending or terminating any employee benefits provided to its employees from time to time.

- 6.3 <u>Announcement; Press Releases</u>. In connection with the execution of this Agreement, PPSF and F&M intend to jointly issue a press release mutually acceptable to the parties. Except as otherwise required by law, neither F&M nor F&M Bank shall issue any additional press releases or make any other public announcements or disclosures relating to the Merger without the prior approval of PPSF, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, provided, however, that nothing in this Section 6.3 shall be deemed to prohibit any party from making any disclosure that its counsel deems necessary in order to satisfy such party's disclosure obligation imposed by law.
- 6.4 <u>Confidentiality.</u> F&M shall, and shall use its best efforts to cause F&M Bank and its officers, employees, and authorized representatives to, hold in strict confidence all confidential data and information obtained by them from PPSF, unless such information (i) was already known to F&M prior to entering into merger discussions with PPSF, (ii) becomes available to F&M from other sources, (iii) is independently developed by F&M, (iv) is disclosed by F&M with and in accordance with the terms of prior written approval of PPSF, or (v) is or becomes readily ascertainable from public or published information or trade sources or public disclosure of such information is required by law or requested by a court or other governmental agency, commission, or regulatory body. F&M further agrees that in the event this Agreement is terminated, it will return to PPSF, or will destroy, all information obtained by it regarding PPSF, including all copies made of such information by F&M except to the extent that F&M is advised by legal counsel of the need to retain such information or documentation. This provision shall survive the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement.

6.5 Directors and Officers Insurance.

- (a) For a period of at least six years from the Effective Time (the "Tail Coverage Period"), F&M shall obtain an endorsement to its director's and officer's liability insurance policy to cover the present and former officers and directors of PPSF and Peoples Bank and Peoples Bank (determined as of the Effective Time) with respect to claims against such directors and officers arising from facts or events which occurred before the Effective Time, which insurance shall contain at least the same coverage and amounts, and contain terms and conditions no less advantageous, as that coverage currently provided by PPSF or Peoples Bank; provided, however, that if F&M is unable to obtain such endorsement, then F&M may purchase tail coverage under PPSF's or Peoples Bank's existing director and officer liability insurance policy for such claims; provided further that in no event shall F&M be required to expend in the aggregate during each year of the Tail Coverage Period more than 2 times the annual amount paid by PPSF or Peoples Bank for its director and officer liability insurance coverage immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "Insurance Amount"); provided further, that if F&M is unable to maintain or obtain the insurance called for by this Section 8.5, F&M shall obtain as much comparable insurance as is available for the Insurance Amount; provided, further, that officers and directors of PPSF and Peoples Bank may be required to make application and provide customary representations and warranties to F&M's insurance carrier for the purpose of obtaining such insurance.
- (b) Following the Effective Time, F&M will provide any PPSF and Peoples Bank officers, directors and employees who become officers, directors and employees of F&M or F&M Bank or their subsidiaries with the same directors and officers liability insurance coverage and indemnification protections that F&M provides to other officers, directors and employees of F&M or its subsidiaries. In addition, F&M further agrees to indemnify and advance expenses to the current and former directors, officers and employees of PPSF and Peoples Bank after the Effective Time, for all actions taken by them prior to the Effective Time in their respective capacities as directors, officers and employees to the same extent (and subject to the same limitations) as the indemnification provided by PPSF under its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws or Peoples Bank's Charter and Bylaws (as applicable) to such directors, officers and employees immediately prior to the Effective Time and as permitted under applicable law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnity obligations contained herein shall be limited as may be required by applicable federal banking laws and regulations.
- (c) All rights to indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Effective Time now existing in favor of the current or former directors, officers or employees of PPSF and

Peoples Bank as provided in its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Peoples Bank as provided in its Charter and Bylaws and any existing indemnification agreements or arrangements of PPSF and Peoples Bank described in the PPSF Disclosure Letter, shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms to the extent permitted by law, and shall be honored by F&M following the Effective Time with respect to acts or omissions of such individuals occurring or alleged to occur on or prior to the Effective Time.

- (d) In the event of any threatened or actual claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal or administrative, including, without limitation, any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation in which any individual who is now, or has been at any time prior to the date of this Agreement, or who becomes prior to the Effective Time, a director or officer of PPSF and Peoples Bank, is, or is threatened to be, made a party based in whole or in part on, or arising in whole or in part out of, or pertaining to (i) the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer or employee of PPSF and Peoples Bank or Peoples Bank, or any of their respective predecessors or (ii) this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, whether in any case asserted or arising before or on or after the Effective Time, the parties hereto agree to cooperate and use their best reasonable efforts to defend against and respond thereto.
- (e) If F&M shall consolidate with or merge into any other entity and shall not be the continuing or surviving entity of such consolidation or merger or shall transfer all or substantially all of its assets to any entity, then and in each case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of F&M shall assume the obligations set forth in this Section 6.5.
- 6.6 <u>SEC and Other Reports</u>. Promptly upon its becoming available, F&M shall furnish to PPSF one copy of each financial statement, report, notice, or proxy statement sent by F&M to its shareholders generally and of each regular or periodic report, registration statement or prospectus filed by F&M with the SEC or any successor agency, and of any notice or communication received by F&M from the SEC, which is not available on the SEC's EDGAR internet database.
- 6.7 <u>F&M Disclosure Letter</u>. F&M shall supplement, amend and update as of the Effective Time the F&M Disclosure Letter with respect to any matters hereafter arising which, if in existence or having occurred as of the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set forth or described in the F&M Disclosure Letter. If, at any time prior to the Effective Time, F&M becomes aware of a fact or matter that might indicate that any of the representations and warranties of F&M herein may be untrue, incorrect or misleading in any material respect, F&M shall promptly disclose such fact or matter to PPSF in writing.
- 6.8 <u>Adverse Actions</u>. Neither F&M nor F&M Bank shall (a) take any action while knowing that such action would, or is reasonably likely to, prevent or impede the Merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code; or (b) knowingly take any action that is intended or is reasonably likely to result in (i) any of its representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement being or becoming untrue in any respect at any time at or prior to the Effective Time, (ii) any of the conditions to the Merger set forth in Section 7 not being satisfied, (iii) a material violation of any provision of this Agreement, or (iv) a material delay in the consummation of the Merger except, in each case, as may be required by applicable law or regulation.
- 6.9 <u>Cooperation</u>. F&M and F&M Bank shall cooperate with PPSF and Peoples Bank and its officers, employees, attorneys, accountants and other agents, and do such other acts and things in good faith as may be reasonable, necessary or appropriate to timely effectuate the intents and purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
- 6.10 <u>Preservation of Business</u>. On and after the date of this Agreement and until the Effective Time or until this Agreement is terminated as herein provided, F&M and F&M Bank shall (a) except as set forth in the F&M Disclosure Letter, carry on their business diligently, substantially in the same manner as heretofore conducted, and in the ordinary course of business; (b) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve their business

organizations intact, to keep their present officers and employees and to preserve their present relationship with customers and others having business dealings with them; (c) maintain, or cause to be maintained, in full force and effect insurance on its properties and operations with regard to such liabilities and hazards as customarily are maintained by other companies operating similar businesses; and (d) not do or fail to do anything which will cause a material breach of, or material default in, any contract, agreement, commitment, obligation, understanding, arrangement, lease or license to which they are a party or by which they are or may be subject or bound.

SECTION 7

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE MERGER

The obligation of each of the parties hereto to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction and fulfillment of each of the following conditions on or prior to the Effective Time:

- 7.1 Shareholder Approval. The shareholders of PPSF shall have approved the Merger as required by applicable law.
- 7.2 <u>Registration Statement Effective</u>. F&M shall have registered its F&M Shares to be issued to shareholders of PPSF in accordance with this Agreement with the SEC pursuant to the 1933 Act, and all state securities and "blue sky" approvals and authorizations required to offer and sell such shares, if any, shall have been received by F&M. The Registration Statement shall have been declared effective by the SEC and no stop order shall have been issued or threatened. The F&M Shares to be issued to shareholders of PPSF in accordance with this Agreement shall have been listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (subject to official notice of issuance).

7.3 Tax Opinions.

- (a) F&M shall have obtained an opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the parties, dated on or about the Effective Time, to the effect that the Merger effected pursuant to this Agreement will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Such opinion shall be based upon factual representations received by counsel from PPSF and F&M, which representations may take the form of written certifications.
- (b) PPSF shall have received a letter from Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP addressed to the shareholders of PPSF, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the parties, dated on or about the Effective Time, to the effect that the Merger effected pursuant to this Agreement will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Such opinion shall be based upon factual representations received by counsel from PPSF and F&M, which representations may take the form of written certifications.
- 7.4 <u>Regulatory Approvals</u>. The ODFI and the FDIC shall have authorized and approved the Bank Merger and the transactions related thereto and the FRB shall either have authorized and approved the Merger and the transactions related thereto, or issued a waiver of its approval for the Merger. In addition, all appropriate orders, consents, approvals and clearances from all other regulatory agencies and governmental authorities whose orders, consents, approvals or clearances are required by law for consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been obtained. All regulatory approvals remain in full force and effect and all statutory waiting periods shall have expired or been terminated. Copies of all such regulatory approvals shall have been delivered to PPSF.
- 7.5 Officer's Certificate. F&M and PPSF shall have delivered to each other a certificate signed by their respective Chairman or President and their Secretary, dated the Effective Time, certifying that (a) all of the

representations and warranties of their respective corporations are true, accurate and correct in all material respects on and as of the Effective Time, except that representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or a Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in all respects, and provided that for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of an earlier date, then they shall be tested as of such earlier date; (b) all the covenants of their respective corporations have been complied with in all material respects from the date of this Agreement through and as of the Effective Time; and (c) their respective corporations have satisfied and fully complied with in all material respects all conditions necessary to make this Agreement effective as to them. Additionally, PPSF shall certify as to the number of shares of its capital stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time.

- 7.6 <u>Secretary's Certificate</u>. F&M and PPSF shall have delivered to each other copies of the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of F&M and PPSF, certified by each entity's Secretary as of the Effective Time, relative to the approval of this Agreement and the Merger.
- 7.7 No Judicial Prohibition. None of PPSF, Peoples Bank, F&M or F&M Bank shall be subject to any order, decree or injunction of a court or agency of competent jurisdiction which enjoins or prohibits the consummation of the Merger.
- 7.8 <u>PPSF Fairness Opinion</u>. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, the PPSF Board of Directors has received the opinion of Boenning & Scattergood (which, if initially rendered verbally has been or will be confirmed by a written opinion, dated the same date) to the effect that as of the date thereof and based upon and subject to the terms, conditions and qualifications set forth therein, the Merger Consideration in the Merger is fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of PPSF Common Stock. As of the date of this Agreement, such opinion has not been amended or rescinded.
- 7.9 <u>Termination of Employment Agreements</u>. Effective as of the Effective Time, PPSF shall have terminated the Employment Agreements and paid the change in control payments due thereunder.
- 7.10 Exchange Fund. F&M shall have (i) authorized the issuance of and shall have made available to the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of the registered shareholders of PPSF Common Stock for exchange in accordance with Section 1, the New Certificates to be issued pursuant to Section 1.5, or confirmation regarding issuance of the interest in the F&M Shares in book entry form, and (ii) deposited with the Exchange Agent sufficient cash for payment of the cash portion of the Merger Consideration and cash in lieu of any fractional F&M Shares in accordance with Section 1.5.
- 7.11 <u>D&O Tail Insurance</u>. F&M shall have delivered to PPSF evidence of the endorsement to its director and officer liability insurance policy or purchase of a director and officer liability insurance in accordance with Section 6.5, as applicable.
- 7.12 Financial Test. As of the last day of the month preceding the Closing Date PPSF shall have total stockholders' equity of at least \$16,000,000.00, excluding (i) any accumulated other comprehensive income, as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and less (ii) Transaction Expenses. For purposes of this Section 7.12 "Transaction Expenses" shall mean legal, accounting and investment banking fees incurred in connection with the Merger, expenses incurred in connection with the termination of data processing contracts in connection with the Merger, expenses incurred in connection with the purchase of tail insurance coverage under Section 6.5(a) and expenses incurred in connection with the payments made pursuant to Section 5.13.
- 7.13 <u>Miscellaneous</u>. F&M and PPSF shall have delivered to each other such other documents and information, in a form reasonable satisfactory to the receiving party, as the other party or its legal counsel may have reasonably requested.

SECTION 8

TERMINATION OF MERGER

- 8.1 <u>Manner of Termination</u>. This Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time by written notice delivered by F&M to PPSF or by PPSF to F&M only for the following reasons:
- (a) By the mutual consent of F&M and PPSF, if the Board of Directors of each so determines by vote of a majority of the members of its entire Board:
- (b) By F&M or by PPSF, if its respective Board of Directors so determines by vote of a majority of the members of its entire Board, in the event of either: (i) a material breach by the other party of any representation or warranty contained herein which breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to the breaching party of such breach; (ii) a material breach by the other party of any of the covenants or agreements contained herein, which breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to the breaching party of such breach; or (iii) any event, fact or circumstance shall have occurred with respect to the other party that has had or could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on such party;
- (c) By F&M or PPSF, in the event of the failure of PPSF's shareholders to approve the Agreement at the Shareholder Meeting; provided, however, that PPSF shall only be entitled to terminate the Agreement pursuant to this clause if it has complied in all material respects with its obligations under Section 5.1;
- (d) By F&M or PPSF, if either (i) any approval, consent or waiver of any Governmental Entity required to permit consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been denied and such denial has become final and non-appealable or (ii) any court or other Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have issued a final, unappealable order enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
- (e) By PPSF, F&M or F&M Bank, if the transaction contemplated herein has not been consummated by March 31, 2023; provided that the terminating party is not then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained herein;
 - (f) By PPSF, in accordance with the terms of Section 5.5(b) of this Agreement;
- (g) By F&M or F&M Bank, if PPSF's Board of Directors fails to make, withdraws or modifies its recommendation for PPSF's shareholders to vote in favor of the Merger following receipt of a written proposal for an Acquisition Proposal;
- (h) By F&M or F&M Bank, (i) if PPSF breaches in any material respect its notice obligations under Section 5.5(c) or (ii) if within 60 days after giving F&M written notice pursuant to Section 5.5(c) of an Acquisition Proposal, PPSF does not terminate all discussions, negotiations and information exchanges related to such Acquisition Proposal and provide F&M with written notice of such termination; or
- (i) By F&M if greater than 10% of the outstanding shares of PPSF Common Stock have become and remain Dissenting Shares as described in Section 1.6.
- 8.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. Except as provided below, in the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to the provisions of Section 8.1 hereof, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and, no party shall have any liability to any other party for costs, expenses, damages or otherwise; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(i) and (ii) hereof on

account of a willful breach of any of the representations and warranties set forth herein or any willful breach of any of the agreements set forth herein, then the non-breaching party shall be entitled to recover appropriate damages from the breaching party, including, without limitation, reimbursement to the non-breaching party of its costs, fees and expenses (including attorneys', accountants' and advisors' fees and expenses) incident to the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and related documentation; provided further, however, that nothing in the foregoing proviso shall be deemed to constitute liquidated damages for the breach by a party of the terms of this Agreement or otherwise limit the rights of the non-breaching party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by PPSF in accordance with Section 8.1(f) or by F&M in accordance with Section 8.1(g) or 8.1(h), then PPSF shall pay F&M the sum of \$1,000,000.00 as a termination fee. Such payment shall be made within 10 days of the date of notice of termination. F&M shall also be entitled to recover from PPSF its reasonable attorneys' fees, if any, incurred in the enforcement of the two immediately preceding sentences. The termination fee payable by PPSF constitutes liquidated damages and not a penalty and shall be the sole remedy of F&M in the event of termination of this Agreement based on Sections 8.1(f), 8.1(g) or 8.1(h).

SECTION 9

EFFECTIVE TIME OF THE MERGER

Subject to the terms and upon satisfaction of all requirements of law and the conditions specified in this Agreement, the Merger shall become effective on the date and at the time specified in the Certificate of Merger providing for the Merger of PPSF with and into F&M Bank. Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the Effective Time shall be no later than the last business day of the month in which both (a) any waiting period following the last approval of the Merger by a state or federal regulatory agency or governmental authority expires and (b) the conditions precedent to the Merger outlined in Section 7 have been satisfied.

SECTION 10

MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Effective Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, but none of the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of any other person, firm, or corporation whomsoever; except that (a) the terms and provisions of Sections 6.2(c) and 6.5 of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the current and former employees, officers and directors of PPSF and Peoples Bank, as applicable, as specified in such sections and shall be enforceable by such individuals against F&M, and (b) the terms and provisions of Section 1.5 shall inure to the benefit of the former shareholders of PPSF. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests, or obligations hereunder shall be assigned or transferred by either party hereto without the prior written consent of the other party.

10.2 Waiver; Amendment.

(a) F&M and PPSF may, by an instrument in writing executed in the same manner as this Agreement: (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the covenants or agreements of the other party under this Agreement; (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations or warranties of the other party contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant hereto or thereto; (iii) waive the performance by the other party of any of the covenants or agreements to be performed by it or them under this Agreement; or (iv) waive the satisfaction or fulfillment of any condition the nonsatisfaction or nonfulfillment of which is a condition to the right of the party so waiving to terminate this Agreement. The waiver by any party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach hereunder.

- (b) Notwithstanding the prior approval by the shareholders of PPSF, this Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented by the written agreement of PPSF and F&M without further approval of such shareholders, except that no such amendment, modification or supplement shall decrease the consideration specified in Section 1.5 hereof, or shall otherwise materially adversely affect the rights of the shareholders of PPSF or the tax consequences of the Merger to the shareholders of PPSF without the further approval of such shareholders.
- 10.3 Notices. Any and all notices or other communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be given (i) when delivered in person, (ii) on the next business day, if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier for overnight delivery (receipt requested), (iii) on the day of transmission if sent via facsimile transmission or electronic mail during normal business hours to the facsimile numbers or email addresses given below, provided telephonic confirmation of receipt is obtained promptly after completion of transmission, or (iv) on the fifth day after sent by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

If to F&M:

307 N. Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 43502 Attn: Lars B. Eller President & CEO FAX: (419) 446-2982 Email: LEller@fm.bank

If to PPSF:

101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 45365 Attn: Debra A. Geuy President &CEO FAX: (937) 492-6129 Email:

Deb.Geuy@peoplesfederalsandl.com

With a copy to:

Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP 1000 Jackson Street Toledo, Ohio 43604-5573 Attn: Thomas C. Blank Martin D. Werner FAX: (419) 241-6894 Email: tblank@shumaker.com mwerner@shumaker.com

With a copy to:

Vorys, Sater, Seymour & Pease 301 East Fourth Street Suite 3500 Great American Tower Cincinnati, OH 45202 Attn: Kimberly J. Schaefer FAX: (513) 852-7892

FAX: (513) 852-7892 Email: kjschaefer@vorys.com

or to such substituted address as any of them have given to the other in writing.

- 10.4 <u>Headings</u>. The headings in this Agreement have been inserted solely for the ease of reference and should not be considered in the interpretation or construction of this Agreement.
- 10.5 <u>Severability</u>. In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, but this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision or provisions had never been contained herein.
- 10.6 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. In addition, this Agreement and the documents to be delivered hereunder may be executed by the parties hereto either manually or by electronic or facsimile signatures, each of which shall constitute an original signature.
- 10.7 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement is executed in and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio, without regard to choice of law principles.

- 10.8 Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any other agreement, whether oral or written, between F&M and PPSF relating to the matters contemplated hereby, and constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto.
- 10.9 Expenses. F&M and PPSF shall each pay their own expenses incidental to the transactions contemplated hereby. It is understood that the fees of the investment banker for the fairness opinion desired hereunder shall be borne by the engaging party whether or not the Merger is consummated. This provision shall survive the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement.
- 10.10 <u>Securityholder Litigation</u>. Each party shall notify the other party hereto in writing of any litigation related to this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement that is brought, or, to the knowledge of either party, threatened in writing, against it and/or the executive officers or members of its Board of Directors (a "**Transaction Litigation**"), and shall keep the other party reasonably informed with respect to the status thereof. Each party shall give the other party the opportunity to participate in the defense or settlement of any Transaction Litigation, and, except to the extent required by applicable law, neither party shall settle, agree to any undertakings or approve or otherwise agree to any waiver that may be sought in connection with such Transaction Litigation, without the prior written consent of the other party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
- 10.11 <u>Certain Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, "**PPSF's Management**" means either of Debra A. Geuy or Donna M Williams; and "**F&M's Management**" means either of Lars B. Eller or Barbara J. Britenriker. The phrases "to the knowledge of", "known to" and similar formulations with respect to PPSF's Management or F&M's Management means matters that are within the actual conscious knowledge of such persons after due inquiry. For purposes of this Agreement, "**business day**" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day that a federal savings bank or a national banking association is authorized or required by applicable law to be closed.
- 10.12 <u>Survival of Contents</u>. Only the provisions of Sections 5.8, 6.4, 8.2, 10.9 and this Section 10.12 shall survive beyond the termination of this Agreement. The provisions of Sections 5.8, 6.2, 6.4, 6.5, 10.9 and this Section 10.12 shall survive beyond the Effective Time.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

A-41

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, F&M and PPSF have made and entered into this Agreement as of the day and year first above written and have caused this Agreement to be executed and attested by their duly authorized officers.

Ву:	
	Lars B. Eller, President
	and Chief Executive Officer
PE(Bv:	OPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION
Бу.	71 1 0 7 11
	Debra A. Geuy, President
	and Chief Executive Officer

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

EXHIBIT A

BANK MERGER AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Merging

PEOPLES FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION

a federal stock savings and loan association,

with and into

THE FARMERS & MERCHANTS STATE BANK

an Ohio commercial bank

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "Agreement and Plan"), made and entered into as of the [____] day of [____], 2022, by and between THE FARMERS & MERCHANTS STATE BANK, an Ohio commercial bank ("F&M Bank"), and PEOPLES FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION, a federal stock savings and loan association (the "Bank") (F&M Bank and the Bank are sometimes referred to collectively as the "Constituent Companies").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Constituent Companies desire to consummate the business combination transaction outlined in this Agreement and Plan pursuant to which the Bank will merge with and into F&M Bank in accordance with 12 U.S.C. §1828(c), Chapter 11 of the Ohio Revised Code and the Home Owners' Loan Act (collectively, the "Law");

WHEREAS, this Agreement and Plan is being executed in connection with, and the consummation of this Agreement and Plan is expressly contingent upon the closing of, that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc., an Ohio corporation ("F&M") and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("PPSF") dated as of even date herewith (the "Holding Company Merger");

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of both F&M Bank and the Bank have approved the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

WHEREAS, F&M, as the sole shareholder of F&M Bank, and PPSF, as the sole shareholder of the Bank, have also approved the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual provisions, agreements, covenants, conditions and grants contained in this Agreement and Plan, and in accordance with the provisions of the Law, the parties mutually covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

1.1 <u>The Merger</u>. At the "Effective Time" (as defined below), the Bank shall be merged with and into F&M Bank in accordance with applicable provisions of the Law (the "Merger"). The separate existence and company organization of the Bank shall cease, and the company existence of F&M Bank, including all its purposes, powers and objectives, shall continue unaffected and unimpaired by the Merger. F&M Bank shall continue to be

governed by the laws applicable to state-chartered nonmember commercial banks under the laws of the State of Ohio and the regulations promulgated thereunder and shall succeed to all the rights, privileges, immunities, powers, duties and liabilities of the Bank as set forth in the Law.

- 1.2 Further Assurances. If, after the Effective Time, F&M Bank shall consider or be advised that any further deeds, assignments or assurances in the Law or any other things are necessary or desirable to (a) vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in F&M Bank, its right, title or interest in, to or under any rights, properties or assets of the Bank, or (b) otherwise carry out the purposes of this Agreement and Plan, the Bank and its officers and directors shall be deemed to have granted to F&M Bank an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments or assurances in law and to do all acts necessary or proper to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such rights, properties or assets in F&M Bank and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and Plan, and the officers and directors of F&M Bank are authorized in the name of the Bank or otherwise to take any and all such action.
- 1.3 Offices. Immediately following the Merger, F&M Bank's principal office shall be located at 307 N. Defiance Street, Archbold, Ohio 43502 and the Bank's offices shall become branch offices of F&M Bank.

ARTICLE II

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, CODE OF REGULATIONS, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

- 2.1 Name. The name of the surviving bank shall be "The Farmers & Merchants State Bank."
- 2.2 Articles of Incorporation. The Articles of Incorporation of F&M Bank shall be the Articles of Incorporation of the surviving bank.
- 2.3 <u>Code of Regulations</u>. The Code of Regulations of F&M Bank (the "Code of Regulations") shall be the Code of Regulations of the surviving bank.
- 2.4 Officers and Directors. The directors of F&M Bank shall all remain directors of the surviving bank and shall hold such offices from the Effective Time until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified in the manner provided in the Code of Regulations. The officers of F&M Bank shall all remain officers of the surviving bank and shall hold such offices from the Effective Time until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified in the manner provided in the Code of Regulations.

ARTICLE III

CAPITAL STOCK OF THE SURVIVING BANK

- 3.1 <u>Shares of the Bank</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of F&M Bank or the Bank, all issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of the Bank, whose separate existence shall cease, shall automatically and by operation of law be canceled, void and of no further effect.
- 3.2 Shares of F&M Bank. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of F&M Bank or the Bank, all two thousand six hundred (2,600) issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of F&M Bank, shall represent all of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of the surviving bank.

ARTICLE IV

SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

F&M, as the sole shareholder of F&M Bank, and PPSF, as the sole shareholder of the Bank, have approved and consented to this Merger.

ARTICLE V

GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 5.1 Condition Precedent to Closing. The following conditions must be satisfied prior to the closing of the Merger:
- (a) appropriate approvals must be obtained from or notices filed with the Ohio Division of Financial Institutions, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; and
 - (b) the Holding Company Merger must occur.
- 5.2 <u>Effective Time</u>. The Merger shall become effective immediately following the Holding Company Merger, or at such later time as designated by F&M and otherwise approved by the Ohio Division of Financial Institutions and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, on the date and at the time specified in the Certificate of Merger as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio providing for the merger of the Bank with and into F&M Bank (the "Effective Time").
- 5.3 Manner of Termination. This Agreement and Plan and the transactions contemplated hereby may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time:
 - (a) by the mutual consent of F&M Bank and the Bank; or
 - (b) automatically and without further action by either F&M Bank or the Bank if the Merger Agreement is terminated for any reason.
- 5.4 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. Upon termination as provided in Section 5.3, this Agreement and Plan shall be void and of no further force or effect, and there shall be no obligation on the part of F&M Bank or their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, or shareholders, except for payment of their respective expenses in connection with this Agreement and Plan.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

A-45

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement and Plan by their respective officers duly authorized as of the date and year first above written.

"F&M BANK"	THE FARMERS & MERCHANTS STATE BANK, an Ohio State commercial bank,				
	Ву:				
	Printed: Lars B. Eller				
	Its: President and Chief Executive Officer				
ATTEST:					
Secretary/Cashier					
"BANK"	PEOPLES FEDERAL SAVINGS AND				
	LOAN ASSOCIATION,				
	a Federal Savings and Loan Association,				
	By:				
	Printed: Debra A. Geuy				
	Its: President and Chief Executive Officer				
ATTEST:					
Secretary/Cashier					

EXHIBIT B

VOTING AGREEMENT

THIS VOTING AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into this _____ day of _______, 2022, by and among **FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.**, an Ohio corporation ("**F&M**"), and the undersigned directors (each, a "Director", and collectively, the "Directors") of PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation ("**PPSF**").

WITNESETH:

In consideration of the execution by F&M of the Agreement and Plan of Merger between F&M and PPSF of even date herewith (the "Merger Agreement"), the undersigned Directors of PPSF hereby agree that each of them shall cause all PPSF common shares owned by him/her of record and beneficially, including, without limitation, all shares owned by him/her individually, all shares owned jointly by him/her and his/her spouse, all shares owned by any minor children (or any trust for their benefit), all shares owned by any business of which any of the Directors are directors or are the principal shareholders (but in each such case only to the extent the Director has the right to vote or direct the voting of such shares), and specifically including all shares shown as owned directly or beneficially by each of them on Schedule 1 attached hereto or acquired subsequently hereto (collectively, the "Shares"), to be voted in favor of the merger of PPSF with and into F&M in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement at the special meeting of shareholders of PPSF called for that purpose. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, each Director shall be permitted to vote such Shares in favor of another Acquisition Proposal (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement) that is submitted for approval by the shareholders of PPSF if both of the following shall have occurred: (a) PPSF's Board of Directors has approved such Acquisition Proposal and recommended such Acquisition Proposal to PPSF's shareholders in accordance with Section 5.5 of the Merger Agreement and (b) the Merger Agreement has been terminated in accordance with Section 8.1(f) thereof.

Each of the Directors further agrees and covenants that he/she shall not sell, assign, transfer, dispose or otherwise convey, nor shall he/she cause, permit, authorize or approve the sale, assignment, transfer, disposition or other conveyance of, any of the Shares or any interest in the Shares to any other person, trust or entity prior to the annual or special meeting of shareholders of PPSF called for the purpose of voting on the Merger Agreement without the prior written consent of F&M, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld in the case of a gift or similar estate planning transaction (it being understood that F&M may decline to consent to any such transfer if the person acquiring such Shares does not agree to take such Shares subject to the terms of this Agreement).

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio, without regard to conflict of laws provisions thereof. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which (including any facsimile or Adobe PDF copy thereof) shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement. It is understood and agreed that Directors who execute this Agreement shall be bound hereby, irrespective of whether all Directors execute this Agreement. The obligations of each of the Directors under the terms of this Agreement shall terminate contemporaneously with the termination of the Merger Agreement.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prohibit a Director from taking any action solely in his or her capacity as a member of PPSF's Board of Directors or from exercising his or her fiduciary duties as a member of PPSF's Board of Directors to the extent specifically permitted by the Merger Agreement.

[Signatures appear on following pages.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, F&M and each of the undersigned Directors of PPSF have made and executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

INC.			
By:			

By:

Lars B. Eller, President and Chief Executive Officer

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP,

Table of Contents DIRECTO	DRS
A-49	

SCHEDULE 1

LISTING OF SHARES

<u>NAME</u> <u>AMOUNT</u>

A-50

ANNEX B

DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW SECTION 262 (DISSENTERS' RIGHTS)

§ 262. Appraisal rights

- (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to § 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder's shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word "stockholder" means a holder of record of stock in a corporation; the words "stock" and "share" mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words; and the words "depository receipt" mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in 1 or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
- (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to § 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to § 251(g) of this title), § 252, § 254, § 255, § 256, § 257, § 258, § 263 or § 264 of this title:
 - (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of the meeting of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation (or, in the case of a merger pursuant to § 251(h), as of immediately prior to the execution of the agreement of merger), were either: (i) listed on a national securities exchange or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in § 251(f) of this title.
 - (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (b)(1) of this section, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to §§ 251, 252, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:
 - a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof:
 - b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or held of record by more than 2,000 holders;
 - c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing paragraphs (b)(2)a. and b. of this section; or
 - d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing paragraphs (b)(2)a., b. and c. of this section.
 - (3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under § 253 or § 267 of this title is not owned by the parent immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.
 - (4) [Repealed.]

- (c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the provisions of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d),(e), and (g) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.
- (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:
 - (1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for notice of such meeting (or such members who received notice in accordance with § 255(c) of this title) with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) of this section that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is a nonstock corporation, a copy of § 114 of this title. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder's shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder's shares; provided that a demand may be delivered to the corporation by electronic transmission if directed to an information processing system (if any) expressly designated for that purpose in such notice. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder's shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective; or
 - (2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to § 228, § 251(h), § 253, or § 267 of this title, then either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is a nonstock corporation, a copy of § 114 of this title. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of giving such notice or, in the case of a merger approved pursuant to § 251(h) of this title, within the later of the consummation of the offer contemplated by § 251(h) of this title and 20 days after the date of giving such notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder's shares; provided that a demand may be delivered to the corporation by electronic transmission if directed to an information processing system (if any) expressly designated for that purpose in such notice. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder's shares. If such notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constituent corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice or, in the case of a merger approved pursuant to § 251(h) of this title, later than the later

of the consummation of the offer contemplated by § 251(h) of this title and 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder's shares in accordance with this subsection. An affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.

- (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may commence an appraisal proceeding by filing a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined that proceeding as a named party shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof, upon request given in writing (or by electronic transmission directed to an information processing system (if any) expressly designated for that purpose in the notice of appraisal), shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation (or, in the case of a merger approved pursuant to § 251(h) of this title, the aggregate number of shares (other than any excluded stock (as defined in § 251(h)(6)d. of this title)) that were the subject of, and were not tendered into, and accepted for purchase or exchange in, the offer referred to in § 251(h)(2)), and, in either case, with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such statement shall be given to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder's request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) of this section hereof, whichever is later. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, a person who is the beneficial owner of shares of such stock held either in a voting trust or by a nominee on behalf of such person may, in such person's own name, file a petition or request from the corporation the statement described in this subsection.
- (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.
- (g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their

certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder. If immediately before the merger or consolidation the shares of the class or series of stock of the constituent corporation as to which appraisal rights are available were listed on a national securities exchange, the Court shall dismiss the proceedings as to all holders of such shares who are otherwise entitled to appraisal rights unless (1) the total number of shares entitled to appraisal exceeds 1% of the outstanding shares of the class or series eligible for appraisal, (2) the value of the consideration provided in the merger or consolidation for such total number of shares exceeds \$1 million, or (3) the merger was approved pursuant to § 253 or § 267 of this title.

- (h) After the Court determines the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the appraisal proceeding shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the Court of Chancery, including any rules specifically governing appraisal proceedings. Through such proceeding the Court shall determine the fair value of the shares exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into account all relevant factors. Unless the Court in its discretion determines otherwise for good cause shown, and except as provided in this subsection, interest from the effective date of the merger through the date of payment of the judgment shall be compounded quarterly and shall accrue at 5% over the Federal Reserve discount rate (including any surcharge) as established from time to time during the period between the effective date of the merger and the date of payment of the judgment. At any time before the entry of judgment in the proceedings, the surviving corporation may pay to each stockholder entitled to appraisal an amount in cash, in which case interest shall accrue thereafter as provided herein only upon the sum of (1) the difference, if any, between the amount so paid and the fair value of the shares as determined by the Court, and (2) interest theretofore accrued, unless paid at that time. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholders entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted such stockholder's certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate
- (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court's decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.
- (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney's fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.
- (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder's demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such

stockholder to an appraisal shall cease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just; provided, however that this provision shall not affect the right of any stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined that proceeding as a named party to withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, as set forth in subsection (e) of this section.

(1) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.

ANNEX C

OPINION OF BOENNING AND SCATTERGOOD



ESTABLISHED 1914

June 14, 2022

Board of Directors Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation 101 East Court Street Sidney, OH 45365

Dear Members of the Board:

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration (as defined below) to be received by the holders of shares of issued and outstanding common stock, \$0.01 par value ("Company Common Shares"), of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, an Delaware corporation ("Peoples"), in connection with the proposed merger (the "Proposed Merger") of Peoples with and into Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc., an Ohio corporation ("Farmers"), with Farmers surviving the Proposed Merger, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 14, 2022 (the "Merger Agreement"). As detailed in the Merger Agreement, each Company Common Share, issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Proposed Merger, will be converted into, at the election of the holder thereof (subject to the cash/stock allocation provisions of the Merger Agreement), the right to receive \$24.00 in cash or 0.6597 shares of Farmers common stock, no par value (the "Merger Consideration").

In arriving at our opinion, we have, among other things: (i) reviewed the historical financial performance, current financial position and general prospects of each of Peoples and Farmers and reviewed certain internal financial analyses prepared by the respective management teams of Peoples and Farmers and used and relied upon by us at the direction of Peoples management and with the consent of Peoples' Board of Directors, (ii) reviewed the Merger Agreement, (iii) reviewed and analyzed the stock performance and trading history of Peoples and Farmers, (iv) studied and analyzed the consolidated financial and operating data of Peoples and Farmers, (v) considered the financial terms of the Proposed Merger as compared with the financial terms of comparable bank and bank holding company mergers and acquisitions, (vi) met and communicated with certain members of each of Peoples' and Farmers' senior management to discuss their respective operations, historical financial statements, future prospects, and expectations for transaction expenses, purchase accounting adjustments, cost savings and other synergies, and (vii) conducted such other analyses and considered such other factors as we deemed appropriate.

Our opinion is given in reliance on information and representations made or given by Peoples and Farmers, and their respective officers, directors, auditors, counsel and other agents, and on filings, releases and other information issued by each of Peoples and Farmers, including, without limitation, financial statements, financial projections and stock price data, as well as certain other information from recognized independent sources. We have not independently verified the information or data concerning Peoples or Farmers nor any other data we considered in our review and, for purposes of the opinion set forth below, we have assumed and relied upon the

4 Tower Bridge ◆ 200 Barr Harbor Drive ◆ West Conshohocken ◆ PA 19428-2979 phone (610) 832-1212 ◆ fax (610) 832-5301 ◆ www.boenninginc.com ◆ Member FINRA/SIPC

accuracy and completeness of all such information and data. We have assumed that all forecasts and projections provided to us have been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the respective management teams of Peoples and Farmers as to their most likely future financial performance. We express no opinion as to any financial projections or the assumptions on which they are based. We have not conducted any valuation or appraisal of any assets or liabilities of Farmers or Peoples, nor have any such valuations or appraisals been provided to us. Additionally, we assume that, upon receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals, the Proposed Merger will, in all respects, be lawful under applicable law.

It is understood that the forecasts and projections provided to us and used and relied upon by us were not prepared with the expectation of public disclosure and that such information is based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain (including, without limitation, factors related to general economic and competitive conditions and, in particular, assumptions regarding the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic) and, accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from those set forth in such forecasts and projections. We have assumed, based on discussions with Peoples management and with the consent of Peoples' Board of Directors, that the forecasts and projections of Peoples that were prepared and provided to us by Peoples management provide a reasonable basis upon which we could form our opinion and we express no view as to any such information or the assumptions or bases therefor. Among other things, such information was prepared with the understanding that the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic could have a significant adverse impact on Peoples. We have relied on all such information without independent verification or analysis and do not in any respect assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

With respect to anticipated transaction costs, purchase accounting adjustments, expected cost savings and other synergies and financial and other information relating to the general prospects of Peoples and Farmers, we have assumed that such information has been reasonably prepared and reflects the best currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the respective management teams of Peoples and Farmers as to their most likely future performance. We have further relied on the assurances of the respective management teams of Peoples and Farmers that they are not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make any of such information inaccurate or misleading. We have not been asked to and have not undertaken an independent verification of any of such information, and we do not assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof. We have assumed that the allowance for loan losses indicated on the balance sheet of each of Peoples and Farmers is adequate to cover such losses; we have not reviewed loans or credit files of Peoples or Farmers. We have assumed that all of the representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement and all related agreements are true and correct, that each party under the agreements will perform all of the covenants required to be performed by such party under the agreements, and that the conditions precedent in the agreements will not be waived. Also, in rendering our opinion, we have assumed that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals for the consummation of the Proposed Merger, no conditions will be imposed that will have a material adverse effect on the combined entity or contemplated benefits of the Proposed Merger, including, without limitation, the cost savings and related expenses expected to result from the Proposed Merger.

Our opinion is based upon information provided to us by the respective management teams of Peoples and Farmers, as well as market, economic, financial and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated only as of the date hereof and accordingly, it speaks to no other period. As you are aware, there is currently widespread disruption, extraordinary uncertainty and unusual volatility arising from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the effect of evolving governmental interventions and non-interventions. We have not undertaken to reaffirm or revise this opinion or otherwise comment on events occurring after the date hereof and do not have an obligation to update, revise or reaffirm our opinion. Our opinion does not address the relative merits of the Proposed Merger or the other business strategies or transactions that Peoples' Board of Directors has considered or may be considering, nor does it address the underlying business decision of Peoples' Board of Directors to proceed with the Proposed Merger. Nothing in our opinion is to be construed as constituting tax advice or a recommendation to take any particular tax position, nor does our opinion address any legal, tax, regulatory or accounting matters, as to which we understand that Peoples and Farmers have obtained such advice as they deemed necessary from qualified professionals. Our opinion is for the information of Peoples' Board of Directors

in connection with its evaluation of the Proposed Merger and does not constitute a recommendation to the Board of Directors of Peoples in connection with the Proposed Merger or a recommendation to any shareholder of Peoples as to how such shareholder should vote or act with respect to the Proposed Merger. This opinion should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on Boenning & Scattergood, Inc.'s part to any party or person. This opinion is directed solely to Peoples' Board of Directors and is not to be quoted or referred to, in whole or in part, in a registration statement, prospectus, proxy statement or in any other document, nor shall this opinion be used for any other purpose, without our prior written consent. We shall have no responsibility for the form or content of any such disclosure, other than the opinion itself.

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc., as part of its investment banking business, regularly is engaged in the valuation of assets, securities and companies in connection with various types of transactions, including, without limitation, mergers, acquisitions, private placements, public offerings and valuations for various other purposes, and in the determination of adequate consideration in such transactions. In the ordinary course of our business as a broker-dealer, we may, from time to time, purchase securities from, and sell securities to, Peoples, Farmers, and/or their respective affiliates. In the ordinary course of business, we may also actively trade the securities of Peoples or Farmers for our own account and for the accounts of customers and accordingly may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

We are acting as Peoples' financial advisor in connection with the Proposed Merger and will receive a fee for our services, a significant portion of which is contingent upon consummation of the Proposed Merger. We will also receive a fee for rendering this opinion. Our fee for rendering this opinion is not contingent upon any conclusion that we may reach or upon completion of the Proposed Merger. Peoples has also agreed to indemnify us against certain liabilities that may arise out of our engagement.

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. was engaged in June 2021 by Farmers to serve as placement agent for a private placement of subordinated debt. The offering ultimately closed on July 30, 2021, and Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. was paid a commission for its role.

Except for the arrangements between Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. and Farmers described in the preceding paragraph, Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. has not had any other material relationship with either Peoples or Farmers during the past two years in which compensation was received or was intended to be received. Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. may provide services to Farmers in the future (and to Peoples if the Proposed Merger is not consummated), although as of the date of this opinion, there is no agreement to do so nor any mutual understanding that such services are contemplated.

This opinion has been approved by Boenning & Scattergood, Inc.'s fairness opinion committee in conformity with our policies and procedures established under the requirements of Rule 5150 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. We do not express any opinion as to the fairness of the amount or nature of the compensation to be received in the Proposed Merger by any of the officers, directors, or employees of any party to the Merger Agreement, or any class of such persons, relative to the compensation to be received by the holders of Company Common Shares in the Proposed Merger.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Company Common Shares pursuant to the Merger Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Sincerely.

Boening & Scattergood, fre.
Boening & Scattergood, Inc.

PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.

F&M Amended and Restated Code of Regulations

Consistent with the authority granted to Ohio corporations under section 1701.13 of the OGCL, Article VII of F&M's Amended and Restated Code of Regulations provides the following with respect to the indemnification of its directors and officers:

- (a) The Corporation shall indemnify each present and future Director and Officer, his heirs, executors and administrators, and may indemnify any employee or agent, and his heirs, executors and administrators, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation, by reason of the fact that he is or was such director, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, domestic or foreign, non-profit or for profit, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit, or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, he had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.
- (b) The Corporation shall indemnify each present and future Director and Officer, his heirs, executors and administrators, and may indemnify any employee or agent, and his heirs, executors and administrators, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was such director, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, domestic or foreign, non-profit or for profit, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses, including attorneys' fees, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Common Pleas or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses as the Court of Common Pleas or such other court shall deem proper.
- (c) To the extent that a Director, Officer, employee or agent of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit, or proceeding referred to in divisions (a) and (b) above, or in defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, he shall be indemnified by the Corporation against expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.
- (d) Any indemnification under divisions (a) and (b) above, unless ordered by the court, shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon the determination that indemnification of the Director, Officer, employee, or agent is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in divisions (a) and (b) above. Such determination shall be made
 - (i) by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors of the Corporation who were not and are not parties to or threatened with any such action, suit, or proceeding or

- (ii) if such a quorum is not obtainable or if a majority vote of a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, in a written opinion by independent legal counsel other than an attorney, or a firm having associated with it an attorney, who has been retained by or who has performed services for the Corporation or any person to be indemnified within the past five years, or
- (iii) by the shareholders, or
- (iv) by the Court of Common Pleas or the court in which such action, suit, or proceeding was brought. If any determination is made hereunder by the directors of the Corporation or by independent legal counsel in connection with a threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation, such determination shall be promptly communicated to the person who threatened or brought such action or suit after it is made.
- (e) Expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred with respect to any legal matter may be paid by the Corporation prior to the final disposition thereof, as authorized by the directors, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the recipient to repay such amount, unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is entitled to indemnification.
- (f) Such indemnification shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which such Director, Officer, employee or agent may be entitled under the Articles of Incorporation, these Regulations, any agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to, or be available to, a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee, or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, and administrators of such a person.
- (g) The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, domestic or foreign, non-profit or for profit, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under this section.

Insurance

F&M has purchased insurance coverage under polices that insure directors and officers against certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacities as such.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following Exhibits are being filed as part of this Registration Statement except those which are incorporated by reference:

Exhibit No.	Description of Exhibit
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 14, 2022 by and between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation (attached as Annex A to the proxy statement and prospectus contained in this Registration Statement)
3.1	Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of F&M's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on October 25, 2017)
3.2	Code of Regulations of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc., as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of F&M's Form 10-Q filed on July 26, 2017)
5.1	Opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP (legality)
8.1*	Opinion of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP (tax matters)
8.2*	Opinion of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP (tax matters)
10.1	Voting Agreement (attached as Annex A to the proxy statement and prospectus contained in this Registration Statement)
21.1	Subsidiaries of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 of registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 22, 2022)
23.1	Consent of FORIS, LLP
23.2	Consent of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP (legality) (included in Exhibit 5.1)
23.3	Consent of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP (tax matters) (included in Exhibit 8.1)
23.4	Consent of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP (tax matters) (included in Exhibit 8.2)
24.1	Power of Attorney included on "Signature" page of Form S-4
99.1	Consent of Boenning & Scattergood
99.2	Form of Proxy for Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation Shareholder Meeting
107	Filing fee table

^{*} To be filed by amendment

Item 22. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement: (i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933; (ii) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement (notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement); and (iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.
- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (5) That prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c), the registrant undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable form.
- (6) That every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (5) above, or (ii) that purports to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part of an amendment to this registration statement and will not be used until such amendment has become effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (7) To respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Items 4, 10(b), 11 or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of this registration statement through the date of responding to the request.
- (8) To supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in this registration statement when it became effective.

(9) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Archbold, State of Ohio, as of the 25th day of July, 2022.

FARMERS & MERCHANTS BANCORP, INC.

By: /s/ Lars B. Eller

Lars B. Eller, Chief Executive Officer and President

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Lars B. Eller and Barbara J. Britenriker and each of them his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement and any subsequent registration statement filed by Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agents full power and authority to perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed as of the 25th day of July, 2022 by the following persons in the capacities indicated.

/s/ Lars B. Eller	Chief Executive Officer, President and
Lars B. Eller	Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barbara J. Britenriker	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Barbara J. Britenriker	(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Jack C. Johnson	Chairman of the Board and Director
Jack C. Johnson	
/s/ Andrew J. Briggs	Director
Andrew J. Briggs	
/s/ Eugene N. Burkholder	Director
Eugene N. Burkholder	
/s/ Jo Ellen Hornish	Director
Jo Ellen Hornish	
/s/ Lori A. Johnson	Director
Lori A. Johnson	
/s/ Marcia S. Latta	Director
Marcia S. Latta	

/s/ Steven J. Planson	Director
Steven J. Planson	
/s/ Kevin J. Sauder	Director
Kevin J. Sauder	
/s/ Frank R. Simon	Director
Frank R. Simon	
/s/ K. Brad Stamm	Director
K. Brad Stamm	

EXHIBIT 5.1



1000 Jackson Street Toledo, Ohio 43604-5573 419.241.9000 419.241.6894 fax

www.shumaker.com

July 25, 2022

Board of Directors Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. 307 North Defiance Street Archbold, Ohio 34502

Re: Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.

Members of the Board of Directors:

We have acted as counsel to Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. (the "Company"), in connection with the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on the date hereof (the "Registration Statement") relating to the proposed issuance of up to 769,886 common shares, each with no par value (the "Shares"), of the Company in connection with the consummation of the merger transaction contemplated by, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions of, the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 14, 2022 (the "Merger Agreement") by and between the Company, The Farmers & Merchants State Bank and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("PPSF").

In connection with rendering this opinion, we have examined, to the extent deemed necessary, originals or copies, the authenticity of which has been established to our satisfaction, of: (a) the Registration Statement; (b) the Merger Agreement; (c) the articles of incorporation of the Company, as currently in effect (the "Articles"); (d) the code of regulations of the Company, as currently in effect (the "Regulations"); and (e) the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company relating to the issuance of the Shares and approving the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. In addition, we have examined such authorities of law and other documents and matters as we have deemed necessary or appropriate for purposes of this opinion. We have also relied upon such oral or written statements and representations of officers and other representatives of the Company and examined such certificates of public officials and authorities of law as we have deemed relevant as a basis for this opinion.

In our examinations of the aforesaid documents and in rendering the opinion set forth below, we have assumed, without independent investigation or examination, (a) the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of all individuals who have executed and delivered any of the aforesaid documents, the authenticity and completeness of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as copies and the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents; (b) that the final, executed copy of each document submitted to us in draft form will not differ in any material respect from the draft form of such document submitted to us; and (c) subject to approval by the PPSF shareholders and all applicable federal and state banking authorities, that PPSF had and has the power, corporate and otherwise, to enter into and perform all of its obligations under the Merger Agreement, and that the Merger Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by PPSF and constitutes the valid and binding obligation of PPSF, enforceable against PPSF in accordance with its terms.

We have relied solely upon the examinations and inquiries recited herein, and, except for the examinations and inquiries recited herein, we have not undertaken any independent investigation to determine the existence or absence of any facts, and no inference as to our knowledge concerning such facts should be drawn.

As used herein, the phrase "validly issued" means that the particular action has been authorized by all necessary corporate action of the Company and that the Company has the corporate authority to take such action under Chapter 1701 of the Ohio Revised Code and the Company's Articles and Regulations.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the further qualifications and limitations set forth below, as of the date hereof, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when the Registrant Statement has become effective under the Act and the Shares proposed to be issued pursuant to the Registration Statement have been issued and delivered as contemplated under the terms of such effective Registration Statement and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, such Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

Members of our firm are admitted to the Bar of the State of Ohio and we express no opinion as to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the laws of the State of Ohio, including the applicable provisions of the Ohio Constitution and the reported judicial decisions interpreting those laws, and of the United States of America. This opinion is based upon the laws and legal interpretations in effect, and the facts and circumstances existing, on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this opinion should any such law or legal interpretation be changed by legislative action, judicial interpretation or otherwise or should there be any change in such facts or circumstances.

This opinion is furnished by us solely for the benefit of the Company in connection with the Registration Statement and may not be relied upon or used by any other person or for any other purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we hereby consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and to the reference to us under the caption "Legal Matters" in the Registration Statement and the prospectus/proxy statement included in the Registration Statement. By giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we come within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

Except in connection with the Registration Statement as aforesaid, no portion of this opinion may be quoted or otherwise used by any person without our prior written consent.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP

EXHIBIT 23.1

FORV/S

111 E. Wayne Street, Suite 600 / Fort Wayne, IN 46802 P 260.460.4000 / F 260.426.2235

forvis.com

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement on Form S-4 of our report dated February 22, 2022, on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and for the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, which report is included in Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

FORVIS, LLP

Fort Wayne, Indiana July 25, 2022

EXHIBIT 99.1



CONSENT OF BOENNING & SCATTERGOOD, INC.

We hereby consent to the inclusion of our opinion letter to the Board of Directors of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("PPSF"), as Annex C to the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus which forms a part of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on the date hereof (the "Registration Statement") relating to the proposed merger of PPSF with and into Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. and to the references to such opinion and our firm's name contained therein under the captions "Summary—Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor," "Risk Factors—The opinion of PPSF's financial advisor delivered to PPSF's Board of Directors before the execution of the Merger Agreement does not reflect any changes in circumstances subsequent to the date of the opinion," "The Merger—Background of the Merger," "The Merger—PPSF's Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation," "The Merger—Opinion of PPSF's Financial Advisor," and "Annex A—Agreement and Plan of Merger by and Between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation."

In giving such consent, we do not admit that we come within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder, nor do we hereby admit that we are experts with respect to any part of the Registration Statement within the meaning of the term "experts" as used in the Securities Act or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder.

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc.

Beening & Scattergood, fre.

West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania

July 25, 2022

EXHIBIT 99.2

PEOPLES-SIDNEY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 101 E. Court Street Sidney, Ohio 45365

REVOCABLE PROXY

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

undersign ("PPSF")	ed, each with full power of substitution, to represent that the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Special	and to vote all of the sha I Meeting of Shareholders be held at the offices of P	d each of them individually, as attorneys and proxies of the res of common stock of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation ("Special Meeting"), with all powers which the undersigned PPSF, located at, 101 E. Court Street, Sidney, Ohio 45365 on at thereof.
The	Board of Directors of PPSF recommends that you v	vote "FOR" Proposals 1 a	and 2.
1.		rporation ("PPSF"), and t	Merger Agreement"), between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, o approve the transactions contemplated thereby (the "Merger into F&M (the "Merger").
	\Box FOR	☐ AGAINST	□ ABSTAIN
2.	To approve one or more adjournments of the PPS Merger Proposal (the "Adjournment Proposal").	SF special meeting, if nec	essary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the
	\Box FOR	☐ AGAINST	□ ABSTAIN
3.	Such other matters which may properly be prese	nted at the Special Meetin	ng or any adjournment or postponement of the Special Meeting.
POSTPO RECOMI OTHER I ITS EXE.	BUSINESS TO BE PRESENTED AT THE SPEC RCISE. undersigned hereby revokes any and all proxies with	S PROXY WILL BE VO RS OF PPSF. AT THIS TO CIAL MEETING. THIS th respect to such shares h	
Plea sign. Whe	ase sign your name exactly as it appears on the label in signing as attorney, executor, administrator, trusted	affixed. When shares are e, guardian, or in another	held by two or more persons as co-owners, both or all should fiduciary capacity or representative capacity, please give full title reporate, company, or partnership name by authorized officer.
PLE	ASE PROMPTLY COMPLETE, SIGN, AND DA	ATE, AND RETURN TH ENVELOPE.	IIS PROXY IN THE ENCLOSED POSTAGE-PREPAID
Dated:	, 2022		Signature
			Signature, if held jointly
			Printed name(s)

EXHIBIT 107

Calculation of Filing Fee Tables

Form S-4 (Form Type)

Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward Securities

	Security Type	Security Class Title	Fee Calculation or Carry Forward Rule	Amount Registered	Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Unit	Maximum Aggregate Offering Price egistered Securiti	Fee Rate	Amount of Registration Fee	Carry Forward Form Type	Carry Forward File Number	Carry Forward Initial effective date	Filing Fee Previously Paid In Connection with Unsold Securities to be Carried Forward
		Common		-								
		stock, no										
Fees to Be		par value										
Paid	Equity	per share	Other	769,886(1)	N/A	\$24,519,195(2)	0.0000927	\$2,272.93(3)				
Fees												
Previously Paid												
Palu	_	_	_					_				
	1				Carry F	Forward Securities	5		T	1		ı
Carry												
Forward Securities												
Securities			- 1.0°C :			_		— ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••				
	Total Offering Amounts						\$24,519,195					
	Total Fees Previously Paid						\$					
	Total Fee Offsets							\$				
	Net Fee Due							\$2,272.93				

- (1) This represents the maximum number of shares of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. common stock to be issuable upon completion of the merger described herein. This number is based on the 1,167,025 shares of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation common stock expected to be outstanding when the transaction is consummated, and the exchange of each such share for 0.6597 shares of Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, Inc. common stock and assumes no shareholder of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation elects to receive the cash consideration offered pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 14, 2022 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and between Farmers & Merchants Bancorp, In. and Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation which is attached to the proxy statement and prospectus as Annex A.
- (2) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee required by Section 6(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and computed pursuant to Rules 457(f)(1) and (f)(3) thereunder, on the basis of the market value of the common stock of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation, to be exchanged in the transaction, computed, in accordance with Rule 457(f), as: (i) the product of (a) \$21.01 (the average of the bid and asked price on the OTC Pink®Open Market of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation common stock as of July 20, 2022 a date within five business days of the filing of this registration statement,); and (b) 1,167,025 (the aggregate number of shares of Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation common stock expected to be outstanding when the transaction is consummated).
- (3) The registration fee of \$2,272.93 for the securities registered hereby has been calculated, pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as \$24,519,195 (the proposed maximum aggregate offering price) multiplied by 0.0000927.